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THE COMPANY

Productive Technologies Company Limited (the “Company”)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

LIU Erzhuang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

TAN Jue (President and Chief Financial Officer)
LIU Zhihai

Non-executive Directors
CAO Xiaohui
LIN Yukai
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GE Aljji
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WANG Guoping
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CHAU Shing Yim David (Chairman)
CAO Xiaohui

WANG Guoping
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CHAU Shing Yim David (Chairman)

GE Aiji

TAN Jue

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
GE Aiji (Chairman)

LIU Erzhuang

WANG Guoping

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES
QIN Yifeng
NG Sau Mei

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
China CITIC Bank, Shanghai Branch
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BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS
S

OUR SEMICONDUCTOR EQUIPMENT BUSINESS:

During the financial year ended 31 March 2025 (“FY2024"), the
Company achieved significant milestones in the industrialization of its
semiconductor equipment. Our semiconductor cleaning equipment
has successfully served over ten wafer fab customers, with multiple
equipment deliveries and validations completed, demonstrating
consistent progress in mass production capabilities. The Company has
continued to enhance its single-wafer cleaning equipment platforms
through iterative upgrades, establishing differentiated technological
advantages while advancing research and development (“R&D")
in critical processes and innovative equipment to further promote
domestic substitution in segments conventionally dominated by
foreign suppliers. For Low-Pressure Chemical Vapor Deposition
(LPCVD) equipment, the Company has successfully developed multiple
models for key thin-film deposition processes including LP-SiN, with
equipment already delivered to customers.

CUBE/QUADRA Single Wafer Cleaning Equipment: Applicable
to 6-12 inch silicon wafers and SiC wafers, featuring capabilities for
handling ultra-thin wafers, as well as industry-leading Bernoulli transfer
and wafer edge control technologies. During the reporting period,
multiple sets of equipment were shipped to customers in the power
and SiC sectors. Demonstration contracts with new customers have
been converted into formal orders and have successfully passed
acceptance testing. As of the date of this annual report, the equipment
has served eight different customers, with multiple equipment having
completed formal acceptance. Additionally, repeat orders have been
received following customer acceptance, and these have already been
successfully delivered.

OCTOPUS Single Wafer Cleaning Equipment: Designed for 12-inch
wafer mass production lines, the equipment platform benchmarks
against leading international equipment suppliers, covering the main
processes of single-wafer cleaning. It offers higher throughput,
more flexible process configurations, and lower costs. In terms of
industrialization, the equipment has passed testing and validation
by a key customer, which has been converted into a formal order,
and has successfully passed acceptance. For high-end process
development, the OCTOPUS-HTSPM equipment, targeting the critical
high-temperature sulfuric acid cleaning process, has passed multiple
process performance and marathon tests by customers, achieving
results that meet mainstream international standards. It currently has
interested customers and has entered the prototype assembly and
testing phase, further promoting domestic substitution in segments
conventionally dominated by foreign suppliers.
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BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS
S

Parallelo Batch Cleaning Equipment: Engineered for 12-inch wafer
cleaning processes, the equipment achieves advanced surface metal
contamination control while offering flexible configurations and
higher throughput. The first unit currently in the development and
testing phase , positioning it as a valuable addition to the Company's
comprehensive cleaning equipment portfolio.

Additionally, the Company continued leveraging the technical team’s
unique expertise in semiconductor wet processes and equipment
to develop innovative and cost-effective wet processing solutions to
address industry challenges and enhance customer productivity in line
with emerging semiconductor trends.

LPCVD Equipment Platform: The LPCVD equipment platform is
designed for critical thin-filmm deposition processes on 12-inch wafers.
The Company has completed the development of multiple equipment
models targeting various key processes. Among these, the LP-SiN
equipment has been successfully delivered to a customer, featuring
undoped/in-situ doped polysilicon processes, thick-film deposition
capability, and higher batch productivity. The ALD-SIN equipment is
scheduled for imminent delivery, having achieved mainstream industry
standards in preliminary process testing. This equipment demonstrates
superior filling aspect ratios, uniformity, and step coverage while
achieving lower contamination levels, with support for both Thermal
and Plasma modes. Additionally, the equipment designed for LP-
POLY and ALD-SIOCN thin-film deposition processes has successfully
completed major development phases and is preparing to enter the
industrialization stage.

While deepening the R&D of proprietary equipment products and
expanding market reach, the Company is also actively enhancing its
strategic presence in the semiconductor equipment sector through
strategic investments. In 2022, the Company made a strategic
investment in Britech Semiconductor Equipment (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.
(“Britech”) at a valuation of RMB50 million as one of its founding
shareholders. Britech, through obtaining licensing rights, directly
introduced advanced semiconductor equipment technologies from
overseas before upgrade and adaption of the same in China. This
has further improved process capabilities and production efficiency,
strengthening the market competitiveness of the equipment. The
successful implementation of such model has not only shortened the
R&D cycle but also helped maintain and expand market share. As of
the end of the reporting period, following a recent RMB160 million
financing round from third-party investors, Britech’s valuation has
surged to RMB510 million.
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BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS
S

OUR SOLAR CELL EQUIPMENT BUSINESS:

Batch cleaning equipment and inline cleaning equipment of the
Company have rich experience of mass production in TOPCon and
Back Contact (BC) cell applications, serving customers covering
mainstream domestic solar cell manufacturers. During FY2024, the
Company comprehensively upgraded and iterated its solar cleaning
equipment in line with market demand. The newly designed batch
equipment Batch N600-2.0 is compatible with a wider range of silicon
wafer sizes and customer requirements, and can meet the needs of
half-wafer processes for BC and HJT cells with significant capacity
advantages. The newly designed inline equipment Niak4-Flattener can
meet the latest customer demands in BC and HJT processes, with
a capacity that can be fully matched to that of the batch equipment,
enabling the integration of the two types of equipment with the unique
design of fully independent left and right sides. Through innovation
and iteration of equipment as well as operational cost reduction and
efficiency enhancement measures, the Company will better serve
evolving customer needs and mitigate the impact of industry-wide
fluctuations on its business.

InCellPlate, the copper plating equipment, is applied in the metallization
process as an alternative of silver paste. The Company was one of
the earlier movers in terms of inline horizontal plating equipment. The
equipment has greater current density and higher deposition rates.
Through the development and testing in collaboration with customers,
the Company has accumulated more application experience, and
received a high degree of customer recognition. The equipment covers
BC, TOPCon, HJT and other processes, which helps to promote the
trend of silverless technology in the industry and help customers
reduce costs and increase efficiency.
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BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS
S

During FY2024, the Company successfully completed its major
R&D projects, with R&D and fixed expenditures expected to
continue optimizing. As of the end of FY2024, the Company had an
order backlog of HK$366 million, of which semiconductor cleaning
equipment worth HK$138 million had been successfully delivered to
customers and was in the acceptance process (with corresponding
revenue yet to be recognized), representing a 49% year-on-year
increase. Meanwhile, the Company is actively expanding its market
presence to secure more new orders and maintain positive business
momentum. Looking ahead, with a substantial order backlog, a pipeline
of equipment awaiting acceptance, and continuously optimized costs,
the Company is well-positioned to achieve improved profitability. The
Company continues to advance toward higher goals in technological
innovation and market expansion.
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The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) is engaged in the
business of productivity-driven equipment applied in semiconductor
and pan-semiconductor businesses. It also operates an oil and gas
production project in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

In FY2024, the Company continued businesses in development and
manufacturing of innovative Wafer Fabrication Equipment (“WFE") and
solar cell production equipment. WFE comprises high-end single wafer
cleaning and LPCVD equipment for front-end wafer processing. Solar
cell production equipment includes wet chemical cleaning equipment
and copper plating equipment. The Company has established and
acquired companies in China and abroad for the operation, R&D, and
manufacturing of the abovementioned businesses (among which
LPCVD equipment is currently under development), which mainly
include Productive Technologies (Shanghai) Limited* (/& E R+ E
aanﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁé ("PDT Shanghai”), Productive Technologies (Xuzhou)
Limited* (& *H FEBREE(RMNBRAA) ("PDT Xuzhou"),
Xinkai Semiconductor Equipment (Xuzhou) Co., Ltd.* (/{ii1s 4 & B8 0 15
(M) AR EE L F) (“Xinkai”), Britech Semiconductor Equipment
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (“Britech”), Productive Equipment Technologies
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd.* (EBZEZFRXEREBERAAF) (“PDT
Technologies”), and Rena Solar Technologies (Yiwu) Co., Ltd.* (Fm#X
KGR (ZE)BR2AR]) (“Rena Yiwu"). Xilin Gol League Hongbo
Mining Development Company Limited* (8330 #) B2 R iGEEFES
RAA])

in sales of crude oil. The principal business of the major subsidiaries

(“Hongbo Mining"”) is a subsidiary of the Company engaged

and investment portfolio companies are set out as below:

° PDT Shanghai, established on 14 January 2022, is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company. It is engaged in the sales,
R&D and engineering services of equipment for semiconductor.

° PDT Xuzhou, established on 22 February 2022, is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. It is engaged in the manufacturing
of equipment for semiconductor and solar cell as stated above
based on the business needs of PDT Shanghai and PDT
Technologies.
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Note:

Xinkai, established on 18 August 2022, is a subsidiary controlled
as to 69.2% by the Company. It is engaged in the sales, R&D
and manufacturing of LPCVD high-end processing equipment.

Britech, a company invested by the Group in 2022, is principally
engaged in the business of semiconductor ASHER equipment
and EPI equipment in China. The Company effectively holds
23.96% equity interest in Britech and classifies the investment
in Britech as interest in an associate in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

PDT Technologies and Rena Yiwu are wholly-owned subsidiaries
acquired by the Company on 18 August 2022. They are mainly
responsible for the sales, R&D and engineering services of
equipment for solar cell, including but not limited to cleaning
equipment and copper plating equipment. The Company holds
100% equity interest and has consolidated the financial results
of PDT Technologies and Rena Yiwu into its financial statements
upon completion of the acquisitions.

Hongbo Mining is a wholly-owned subsidiary acquired by the
Company in 2016. It is an operating company engaged in the
exploration, development, production and sales of crude oil
in China with its gross sales volume of 320,902 barrels, and
gross revenue from sales of approximately HK$194.0 million for
FY2024.

Terms used in this section have the same meanings as those defined in the
subsequent sections of this annual report.

*  For identification purposes only

HeE :

MER=ZZE=-_=_F/\A +J\El&ﬁ =
AKABIER69.2% B AR » Z A A

= LPCVD @ m L& 5% %Eﬁfﬁ’é it
RBUE -
BAEE —RAKEE_ZT__FKE

WAR - FEEFBREEFEBIEL
BRERINERBER - AR R BRI
BRAIEE2396% KR WHEAKE
MR A ISR P BRBABENIEE S
RN —HEE A r AR -

EERHMRMRAESEARFAR_-F
“TTHENATNBREBRNZENEBEAR
Al ZERREBABEAGREELRE
(BREENERBARMEMAERRE)
BVEHE - BB R TR RES - RURB TR
B ARREAEEERMEEIERNES
100% B9 B # - 3 A% 5% 7 6 2 =) 69 B 7%
EBERAFAMBERE -

AEBERARAR T —ANFRED
—REEMBAF - E%Aﬂm—%ﬁéqﬂ
BEHREHE AR £SEREERBN
BERNR RN E - HEHEE
320,902 1%  SHEBUALI1.94 8T °

AREF R AR F R M EAE
% -

HEELAHER

EERBRERQT / F£#,2025 9



FINANCIAL SUMMARY

52

Continuing Operations

Revenue from sales (Note 1)

— from sales of equipment (Note 1)

— from sales of crude oil (Note 1)

— from rendering of service

Gross profit (Note 2)

Investment loss (Note 3)

Loss before taxation

Loss for the year (Note 4)

EBITDA from continuing operations (Note b)

Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations
(Note 5)

Discontinued Operation
Profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued
operation (Note 5)
Loss for the year
— Attributable to equity shareholders of
the Company
— Attributable to non-controlling interests

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share
(HKS per share)
— Continuing and discontinued operation

— Continuing operations

— Discontinued operation

10 PRODUCTIVE TECHNOLOGIES COMPANY LIMITED / Annual Report 2025

HELERR

HEMA (F5E1)

— REHERHE (HEE1)
— REHERM (K1)
— REREEH

EM (F5E2)

REFR (WE3)
BHRAER

FEBR M)

RERBEEEH ZEBITDA

(ED)

RERBRERFLBER
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2025
ZBCEHE

HKS$'000
TR

278,829
105,510
155,205
18,114
63,959
(42,853)
(303,800)
(313,054)

(191,419)

(44,909)

(313,054)

(303,814)
(9,240)

(4.105 cent
Bl
(4.105 cent
Bl

Year ended 31 March
BE-A=t-HLEE
2024 2023 2022
—E_mF “E_=F —F-C
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T 7 7

543,638 567,511 138,326
368,646 357,593 -
157,663 188,345 138,326
17,329 21573 -
82203 115,871 41,170
(44,225) (13,981) (328,640)
(349,361) (218,874) (475,100)
(362,131) (229.193) (482,978)
(241,571) (127.782) (410,889)
(160,366) (26,308) (307,849)

- - 56,924
(362,131) (229.193) (426,054)
(347,484) (222,513) (403,761)
(14,647) (6,680) (22,293)
(4.689 cent (2.925 cent (5.830 cent
L) ) L)
(4.689 cent (2.925 cent (6.974 cent
7l) 1) L)

- - 1.144 cent

gl

2021
“E-—&
HK$'000
THL
(Restated)
(B=ih)

90,008

90,008
10,487
(297,577)
(359,156)
(369,361)

(300,112)

(292,778)

(77,105)
(436,376)

(386,701)
(49,675)

(5.849 cent
)
(5.435 cent
L)
(0.414 cent
1)
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2025
ZBCEHE

HKS$'000
TR

Year ended 31 March
HE=A=1t-HLEE

2024
12
HK$'000
FEL

2022 2021
“E-—&
HK$'000
THL
(Restated)
(B=ih)

HK$'000
7L

HK$'000
a7

Non-current assets FrBAE 1,069,191 1,193,392 1,296,886 981,125 2,417,054
Current assets MEEE 1,249,969 1,429,745 1,615,549 1,891,981 1,188,470
Total assets EEBE 2,319,160 2,623,137 2,912,435 2,873,106 3,605,524
Current liabilities nERE 770,536 761,840 594,682 178712 355,843
Non-current liabilities FERBEE 98,326 103,066 116,290 100,940 205,402
Total liabilities REEE 868,862 864,906 710,972 279,652 561,245
Net assets BERE 1,450,298 1,758,231 2,201,463 2,593,454 3,044,279
Total equity attributable to equity shareholders A Bl R R R FE(G %
of the Company ik 1,472,385 1,772,353 2,206,849 2,593 454 2,904,233
Note 1: The revenue represents: BEET : WASE -
(1) the revenue generated from the sales of semiconductor and solar cell (1) REFBEE R ARG R T MBS IA &
cleaning equipment and the spare parts related to the equipment. RERENEEEEEENRA -
(2) the revenue generated from the net sales of crude oil produced by Hongbo (2) RERBREEEEFRAAFHEBRA -
Mining.
Note 2: The decrease in the gross profit was mainly due to the decrease in gross profit  Hiz2: EF THREBEEHNRABGRESMELREEBLH

Note 3:

Note 4:

contribution from solar cell cleaning equipment sales business.

The investment loss stated here mainly includes (i) the net of investment income
and losses in the form of fair value change from investment projects; (ii) the gain
or loss shared from associates; and (iii) the impairment loss from an associate
amounting to approximately HK$73.0 million which was recorded by the Group
in FY2024. Please see the section headed “Financial Results Review" for more
detailed information.

The loss for the year was primarily attributable to (i) the R&D and administrative
expenses of approximately HK$224.0 million in relation to the rapid development
and expansion of the Company’s business in semiconductor and solar industry,
including (a) the non-cash share-based compensation to employees and (b)
the depreciation and amortisation expenses caused by the acquisition of solar
companies completed in the year ended 31 March 2023; (ii) the non-cash
impairment of goodwill of approximately HK$67.6 million which was primarily
attributable to the recent downturn in the photovoltaic (“PV") industry. The global
PV market experienced a slowdown since the end of 2023 due to reduced demand
and project delays, which have led to a corresponding decrease in the sales forecast
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of solar equipment, and (iii) the non-cash impairment from non-equipment business
investment of an associate (i.e. Weipin) of approximately HK$73.0 million, which
was mainly due to that the performance of the associate is still below management
expectation with the intensifying competition among leading traffic platforms,
where the market prioritizes partnerships with co-established platforms or their own
drivers and vehicles over third-party ride services providers like Weipin.

Non-HKFRs Adjusted EBITDA

In evaluating our business, we consider and use certain non-GAAP measures,
including adjusted EBITDA (Non-GAAP Financial Measure), as supplemental
measures to review and assess our operating performance.

Adjusted EBITDA is earnings before interest expenses, income taxes, depreciation
and amortisation, adjusted for share of profit or loss of associates, impairment
loss of associate, impairment loss of goodwill, equity settled share-based
payment expenses, and other one off expenses. This is not a HKFRs measure.
Adjusted EBITDA is presented exclusively as a supplemental disclosure because
the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) believe that it is widely used to
measure the performance, and as a basis for valuation. We present these Non-
HKFRs financial measures because they are used by our management to evaluate
our operating performance and formulate business plans. We also believe that the
use of these non-GAAP measures facilitates investors’ assessment of our operating
performance.

The following table sets forth a quantitative reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to its
most directly comparable HKFRs measurement and loss before taxation.

Loss before taxation FRELATES A
Add/(Less): G
Depreciation and amortisation HrEE Ky
Interest expenses F BRI
EBITDA EBITDA
Adjusted for: HHE

Share of (profit)/losses of associates

Impairment losses of associate BN R REEE
Impairment loss of goodwill EEREEE
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses G ERMNN KRR
One-off transaction costs — KR BREA

Non-HKFRs Adjusted EBITDA
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For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE

2025

—E-HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHAT
(303,800) (349,361)
107,300 101,430
5,081 6,360
(191,419) (241,571)
(7,512) 28,497
73,045 14,534
67,622 -
11,267 30,426
2,088 7,748
(44,909) (160,366)




OPERATING SUMMARY
2R

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=t+-HLFE

2025 2024
—E-RF —TmE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FET
Semiconductor and Semiconductor cleaning equipment (VAT included)
solar cell YERBRRE(SEER)
¥EERABEE Amount of unrecognized revenue from orders on hand
(VAT included)
WABRBRANEFITESRE (FRER) 158,347 220,989
Among which: orders for equipment for 12-inch wafers
Hep 120 G EIREBRE 109,042 179,436

Amount of unrecognized revenue from orders cumulatively
delivered (VAT included)

ZAEREEMABRRANTESHE (SHEER) 137,542 92,184
Among which: orders for equipment for 12-inch wafers
Hep 12 &EREETE 109,042 92,184

Solar cell cleaning equipment (VAT included)
AGREE B L RE (BEER)
Amount of unrecognized revenue from orders on hand (VAT
included)
WMABRBRANEFITESE (SRER) 208,047 325,274
Amount of unrecognized revenue from orders cumulatively
delivered (VAT included)
R ERREMABRARANTESHE (FEER) 34,849 112,437
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Oil and gas and others

R R HAt

Upstream oil and gas business from Hongbo Mining

RELEHEEN LAREY

Gross production volume (barrels) (Note 1)

mES (F) (M)

Gross sales volume (barrels) (Note 1)

BiHE (1) (1)

Net sales volume (barrels)

HIHE (18)

Average unit selling price (HK$ per barrel) (Note 1)

THENER(BRET) 1)

Average daily gross production volume (barrels)

THERRAEES (1)

Average unit production cost before depreciation and
amortisation (HK$ per barrel) (Note 2)

Rt EREHEN T B FEKRA (BRET) (MTE2)

Average unit production cost (HKS$ per barrel) (Note 1)

THEUEERA (BRET) (1)

Wells drilled during the financial year

BT MR A R

— Qil producers (unit) (Note 2)

— EmFH(A) (FEE2)

Fracturing workover during the financial year (unit)

FEREREE (D)
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For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=t+-HLFE

319,922

320,092

256,074

606

889

175

369

306,154

306,715

245,372

617

850

151

363



OPERATING SUMMARY
2R

Note 1: Hongbo Mining is a subsidiary of the Company engaged in exploration,
development, production and sales of crude oil in the PRC. Hongbo Mining's gross
production volume was used in the calculation of average unit production cost and
average unit production cost before depreciation and amortisation, which includes
20% of crude oil production volume as the entitlement for Shaanxi Yanchang
Petroleum (Group) Company Limited (Yanchang Oil Mineral Administrative Bureau*®
(BRPEER A (EE)BRETAE (ERMEEIES) (“Yanchang”). The average
unit selling price was calculated using the net sales amount and net sales volume
which exclude Yanchang's 20% entitlement. Gross sales volume equals to the net
sales volume plus Yanchang's 20% entitlement.

Note 2: In FY2024, Hongbo Mining had successfully drilled 8 wells.

For the purpose of this annual report, unless otherwise indicated,
exchange rates used are for the purpose of illustration only and do not
constitute a representation that any amount has been, could have been
or may be exchanged at such rate or any other rate or at all on the date
or dates in question or any other date. In respect of information of
exchange rates that have been previously disclosed in the Company's
announcements, the same exchange rates as disclosed in the
respective announcements have been used herein.

*  For identification purposes only

MiaET: RERE/ARARETHERERBHE  RE -
EERHENHBAR - REBWELES AN
HTY OB EERARARTE REHNTIHE
AEERAS  EheERALERAH (EE) AR
BEERAR (ERBBEEER) (ER]) BEDE
20% 2 RHEE - FHEMEBDERFHER
MFHE (TEELER20%NHE) HH - BIHE
FRFHEN LR 20% NHEE

MieE2: —T_PUMF  RE\WECKITHEE MM -

RAFHRME  FRIFXARA BRIMAE
RIEHHH A ABREMNSERNEGHBE S
FAEMEA BB IR - R TIRA B E X
AR E M IE R AT E R ETT IR 2 B -
RARARAERECKENEEENT S
RERFEMAWEX B RNEFREHERER -
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EREMmE

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)")
of the Company, | hereby report to you the annual results of the Group
for FY2024.

The Company believes that the global semiconductor markets will
continue to maintain growth momentum. Focusing on providing high-
productivity technological solutions for the industry, the Company
will continue to benefit from these long-term trends. Geopolitical
factors have already reshaped the semiconductor supply chain,
accelerating China’s pursuit of greater self-sufficiency in advanced
wafer manufacturing. Although the Chinese photovoltaic market
is experiencing short-term adjustments, the industry’'s long-term
growth trend remains unchanged. These factors are expected to
bring significant opportunities for the Company's development of its
semiconductor and solar cell equipment businesses.

In the semiconductor equipment segment, the global market is
projected to reach US$128 billion by 2025. Within this, the wafer
cleaning equipment and LPCVD equipment markets are expected
to reach US$7.6 billion and US$10 billion, respectively, collectively
accounting for 14% of the global semiconductor equipment market.
Our core product platforms (including the CUBE and OCTOPUS single-
wafer cleaning systems) have demonstrated competitive advantages
in process performance and flexibility. These platforms have been
successfully adopted by more than ten customers, including repeat
orders, and are currently expanding into high-end application fields
dominated by overseas equipment manufacturers, such as high-
temperature SPM cleaning. Simultaneously, our LPCVD platform
(covering process equipment like LP-SiN and ALD-SIiN) has secured an
order from one customer and successfully delivered the equipment,
steadily progressing towards commercialization.

In the solar sector, the Group maintained its emphasis on high-
efficiency and high-yield cleaning and plating equipment. TOPCon and
BC (back-contact) cell architectures have emerged as mainstream
technologies. Our upgraded Batch N600-2.0 and inline NIAK4
platforms are aligned with these trends and have been recognized
for their capacity advantages and process stability. Our InCellPlate
copper electroplating equipment is being validated by key customers,
supporting the industry’s transition toward silver-free metallization
solutions. These developments are expected to position the Company
favorably for long-term growth, despite short-term fluctuations in the
solar supply chain.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EREMmE

R&D expenditure was managed prudently during the year, totaling
HK$110 million, representing a 29% year-on-year decline. This reflects
the Company's transition from initial product development toward
industrialization and optimization. At the end of FY2024, the Group
had an order backlog of HK$366 million, including HK$138 million in
semiconductor cleaning systems pending final customer acceptance.
Our R&D and engineering team now comprises approximately 140
professionals, who have continued to drive innovation and enhance the
Group's product portfolio.

Looking ahead, the Group remains committed to establishing itself
as a key supplier in both the semiconductor and solar equipment
markets. In the semiconductor segment, we will focus on expanding
customer adoption of our 12-inch cleaning equipment across advanced
applications such as high-temperature SPM, while accelerating the
commercialization of our LPCVD platforms, including LP-SiN and ALD-
SiN. In the solar segment, we will continue to refine our product
lineup to support evolving technologies such as TOPCon, BC, and
copper plating solutions. The Group will also maintain its commitment
to disciplined capital allocation and cost control, in order to enhance
profitability and resilience amid a dynamic external environment.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to extend our appreciation
to all shareholders, customers, employees and partners for their
continued support and trust in the Company.

Liu Erzhuang
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong
27 June 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIEEN wm NI

BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activities of the Group

The Group is engaged in the business of productivity-driven equipment
applied in semiconductor and solar cell businesses. It also operates an
oil and gas production project in the PRC.

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios
1. Development in semiconductor and solar cell industry
1.1 Development in semiconductor and solar cell cleaning

equipment business
According to current reputable market projections,
the global semiconductor market is expected to reach
US$697.1 billion in 2025 and US$1 trillion by 2030,
with a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of 8%. In
the semiconductor equipment sector, global sales are
projected to grow by 9% in 2025, reaching US$128 billion.
Overall, the formal launch of generative Al services is
set to significantly boost global semiconductor demand,
serving as a key driver for industry growth. This presents
a promising opportunity for companies to invest in the
sector to meet rising demand. In light of this, the Company
plans to gradually expand its investments in semiconductor
equipment to capitalize on these positive trends.

The WFE market is projected to reach US$7.6 billion in
2025, accounting for approximately 6% of the global
WEFE market. China’s domestic semiconductor cleaning
equipment market holds around 32% of the global market,
valued at over US$2.4 billion, with a localization rate nearing
50%. As the trend toward domestic production intensifies
and technological breakthroughs in high-end applications
gradually materialize, Chinese enterprises are poised for
substantial growth.
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I\/IANACjE\I\/IENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios

(continued)

1. Development in semiconductor and solar cell industry

(continued)

1.1

Development in semiconductor and solar cell cleaning
equipment business (continued)

The solar cell cleaning equipment market is expected to
exceed US$680 million in 2025, representing 8% of the
total solar cell equipment market. While China’s PV market
is undergoing adjustments due to overcapacity, the long-
term growth potential remains robust. Accordingly, the
Company will continue to optimize its cleaning equipment
offerings, leveraging cost-effective advantages and
differentiated technological capabilities to serve solar cell
customers.

The management team for the Company’s semiconductor
and solar equipment businesses is focused on building
core competencies to drive new business growth. Core
team members bring extensive experience from top-
tier semiconductor companies, with an average industry
tenure of over 20 years. Most hold master’'s degrees or
higher and possess exceptional technical and management
expertise, hands-on experience in R&D, manufacturing,
and operations of semiconductor equipment, and a deep
understanding of the market and customer needs. The
team has rapidly assembled a strong talent pool, with
approximately 140 R&D and technical support personnel,
and has developed a differentiated product portfolio
targeting niche markets for semiconductor equipment
localization and critical applications.

EBOE ()

FEXBRREAESHE ()
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MANA@EMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios

(continued)

1.

20

Development in semiconductor and solar cell industry

(continued)

1.1

Development in semiconductor and solar cell cleaning
equipment business (continued)

During FY2024, the Company's semiconductor cleaning
equipment business progressed steadily, achieving
stable mass production for 6- to 12-inch production lines.
Specific developments include: (1) The Company’s CUBE
equipment for 6- to 12-inch single-wafer cleaning officially
entered mass production stage, with cumulative deliveries
to eight different customers, including formal acceptance
at multiple customer sites and repeat orders received
from automotive-grade SiC wafer fab customers; (2) The
Company’s OCTOPUS single-wafer cleaning equipment
for 12-inch mass production lines completed testing and
validation by a major customer, which was converted to
formal purchase orders with acceptance secured, while
actively expanding to new customers; (3) The Company’s
OCTOPUS-HTSPM equipment for critical high-temperature
sulfuric acid cleaning applications passed customer process
performance tests and marathon testing, achieving results
compliant with international mainstream standards, with
prospective customers currently evaluating prototype
assembly and testing; (4) Leveraging its technical team’s
unique advantages in semiconductor wet process
technology and equipment, the Company is developing
innovative and cost-effective wet process equipment
to address industry pain points and enhance customer
efficiency in line with new semiconductor industry trends.
During FY2024, the Company remained committed to
technological innovation, maintaining R&D expenses
at 40.3% as a percentage of our total revenue. As the
development phase concluded for some major equipment
products and focus shifted to testing validation and iterative
optimization, R&D expenses decreased by 26.6% year-
over-year from approximately HK$153 million to HK$112
million.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios

(continued)

1.

Development in semiconductor and solar cell industry
(continued)

1.1 Development in semiconductor and solar cell cleaning

equipment business (continued)

During FY2024, the Company served over ten
semiconductor industry customers and completed multiple
equipment deliveries and acceptances. Concurrently, the
Company continued iterative upgrades to its OCTOPUS
and CUBE single-wafer cleaning equipment platforms,
further enhancing process capabilities and stability. The
OCTOPUS platform, designed for 12-inch silicon wafer
cleaning, features 8-16 chamber configurations suitable
for customers requiring mass production capacity and
maximum wafer output per unit time. Benchmarking
against international leading cleaning equipment suppliers,
the platform can either boost throughput for single
applications through multiple chambers or group different
applications on the same platform to meet diverse R&D
needs, delivering higher productivity, greater flexibility
and lower costs for semiconductor customers. The CUBE
platform supports flexible applications for 6- to 12-inch
silicon wafers and SiC device wafers with 2—-4 chamber
configurations, offering higher throughput and smaller
footprint while featuring ultra-thin wafer handling capability,
industry-leading Bernoulli transport technology and wafer
edge control technology, providing high-productivity and
cost-effective wet process solutions for SiC and silicon
power device customers.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios

(continued)

1. Development in semiconductor and solar cell industry

(conti
1.2

nued)

Development in LPCVD equipment business

The LPCVD equipment market is expected to account for
8% of the global WFE market, or approximately US$10
billion in 2025. The Chinese domestic market dominates
about 32% of the global market, representing about
US$3.2 billion. LPCVD equipment plays a critical role in
key manufacturing processes for semiconductor memory
and logic chips, with high technical barriers to entry.
Currently, China’'s semiconductor LPCVD equipment
market is primarily dominated by overseas suppliers, with a
localization rate of only about 20%.

The Company’s LPCVD equipment product portfolio
includes several types of advanced LPCVD equipment for
manufacturing 12-inch wafers. Among them, the LP-SiN
equipment has been delivered to customers for installation
and process testing. This equipment can provide undoped/
in-situ doped polysilicon processes, thick film deposition
capability and higher batch productivity. The ALD-SIN
equipment is about to be delivered to customers, having
achieved mainstream industry standards in process
testing. This equipment features higher filling aspect
ratios, uniformity and step coverage while achieving lower
contamination levels, and supports both Thermal/Plasma
modes. In addition, equipment for LP-POLY and ALD-
SiOCN thin film deposition processes has successfully
completed major development phases and is about to enter
the industrialization stage.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREH MR AT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios
(continued)
1. Development in semiconductor and solar cell industry
(continued)
1.2 Development in LPCVD equipment business (continued)
The Company’s mission is to “provide high-productivity
solutions for the semiconductor and solar cell industries
through technological innovation”, and its vision is to
“achieve leading technical performance and optimal
productivity among comparable products, become a
multi-product company, operate globally, and achieve
appropriate financial returns”. Going forward, the Company
will continue to make its mark on this new business in an
expeditious manner with actions including, but not limited
to the following:

° Continuously conducting technological R&D and
product iteration to create highly-technical (e.g.
high-temperature sulfuric acid products) and high
productivity products. Iterating existing equipments
to achieve smooth delivery of new machines, while
actively promoting the mass production of equipment;

° Strengthening operational management to further
optimize business efficiency. Improving the
management of the entire chain from R&D to sales,
strengthening business operation systems and
execution, and optimizing financial structure;
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MANA@EMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIRE S DT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios

(continued)

1. Development in semiconductor and solar cell industry

(continued)

1.2

Development in LPCVD equipment business (continued)

o Continuously making market breakthroughs and
improving industry status. The semiconductor
cleaning equipment business focuses on increasing
market share in wafer thinning (BGBM) segment,
and expanding backside cleaning, high temperature
sulfuric acid cleaning, and front and backside cleaning
applications for 12-inch wafer production lines. The
semiconductor LPCVD business focuses on breaking
through markets by developing new customers and
customers' testing and acceptance of the equipment;
the solar cell business focuses on key customer
resources and expands overseas markets with
leading customers; and

° Integrating industry resources and expanding
business boundaries. Relying on the Company's
platform-based development model, actively
exploring potential quality resources, and jointly
promoting enterprise development through mergers,
acquisitions, and other models.

The Board considers that this diversification and expansion
plan will allow the Company to expand its business
portfolio, penetrating into the rapidly developing areas of
equipment manufacturing for semiconductor and solar
cells, turning opportunity into business, diversifying and
broadening its income stream and revenue base, which
will potentially lead to the enhancement of its financial
performance by cooperating and leveraging the expertise
and networks of its team members. The Board considers
that the new business development is in the best interests
of the Company and its shareholders (the “Shareholders”)
as a whole.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIEE S s Mo

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios

(continued)

1. Deve
(conti
1.2

lopment in semiconductor and solar cell industry

nued)

Development in LPCVD equipment business (continued)
The current business development in the semiconductor
and solar cell industry represents another milestone
initiative of the Company in developing this promising
line of investment. The Company is in the process of
identifying and evaluating good investment opportunities
in this industry segment. The Company will issue further
announcements as and when appropriate in accordance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”) for any significant investment and business
development. For details of development of solar cell
business for semiconductor and solar cell industry, please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 1
December 2021, 28 January 2022, 4 February 2022, 19
April 2022, 30 May 2022, 2 June 2022, 13 June 2022, 18
August 2022, 12 October 2022, 15 November 2022, 3
February 2023, 29 May 2023, 10 August 2023, 22 August
2023, 12 September 2023, 30 October 2023, 17 January
2024, 26 February 2024, 2 May 2024, 15 November
2024 and 13 May 2025 published on the websites of
the Company (www.pdt-techs.com) and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
(www.hkexnews.hk).
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios

(continued)

2.

26

Operations and business updates in oil and gas industry
2.1 Operations in the upstream crude oil assets

The Company made an acquisition of an upstream crude oil

asset in 2016.

In 2024, international oil prices remained volatile. In the first
quarter, prices rose due to renewed geopolitical tensions
and supply disruptions. The second quarter saw a decline
in prices, driven by a slowdown in global economic growth
and the accelerated adoption of alternative energy sources.
In the third quarter, oil prices stabilized as OPEC+ sustained
its production cut strategy to maintain market balance.
During the fourth quarter, prices remained relatively
stable, with minor fluctuations, underpinned by OPEC+'s
continued commitment to supply management amidst
persistent geopolitical uncertainties. Looking ahead to the
first quarter of 2025, oil prices remained supported by
ongoing OPEC+ production restraint measures. However,
market volatility may persist due to evolving geopolitical

developments and macroeconomic conditions.

Despite these fluctuations, the oil and gas industry
continues to demonstrate signs of gradual recovery. The
sector is undergoing structural transformation driven
by the global energy transition toward low-carbon and
renewable energy sources, which will have a lasting impact
on oil prices and overall market dynamics. The Company
will continue to closely monitor market developments,
strengthen risk management, and strive to enhance asset
value both financially and operationally amid ongoing

industry transformation.
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MANA@EMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EBIRE S DT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios
(continued)

2.

Operations and business updates in oil and gas industry

(continued)

2.1 Operations in the upstream crude oil assets (continued)

2.1.1

Hongbo Mining

Hongbo Mining, an upstream oil and gas portfolio
company, is the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary
and is engaged in the exploration, development,
production and sale of crude oil in the PRC. The
Company completed the acquisition of Hongbo
Mining in July 2016 at the consideration of
RMB558.88 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$652 million).

Under the exploration and production cooperation
contract entered into between Hongbo Mining and
Yanchang, Yanchang (as the mineral right owner) and
Hongbo Mining (as the operator) cooperate to explore
for crude oil in Block 212 and Block 378 which cover
a combined region of 377 km? in Inner Mongolia;
and Hongbo Mining and Yanchang are entitled to
80% and 20% of the sale proceeds (net of any sales
related taxes), respectively. Block 212 obtained from
the Ministry of Land and Resources of the People’s
Republic of China a 15-year valid production permit
covering Unit 2, Unit 19 and other areas in Block 212
in May 2017 and in July 2022. Each of Block 212
and Block 378 has been subject to an exploration
permit which is renewable for a term of five years
after expiration. The current exploration permit for
Block 212 will expire on 3 April 2027, and the current
exploration permit for Block 378 will expire on 20
February 2026.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEm A

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios
(continued)

2.

28

Operations and business updates in oil and gas industry

(continued)

2.1 Operations in the upstream crude oil assets (continued)

2.1.1

Hongbo Mining (continued)

During FY2024, Hongbo Mining has carried out
maintenance work on existing production wells to
ensure stable oil production, and has successfully
drilled and completed 8 new wells. As of the date of
this annual report, all the production wells, reserves
and resources estimated by Hongbo Mining were
located in Block 212.

As a result, Hongbo Mining’s oil production volume
slightly increased by approximately 4.5% to 319,922
barrels; its gross and net oil sales volume slightly
increased by approximately 4.4% to 320,092 barrels
and 256,074 barrels, respectively. As the average
crude oil price decreased, the gross revenue
(equivalent to the net revenue from sale of crude oil
plus the 20% crude oil entitlement for Yanchang)
and net revenue from sales of crude oil decreased
by approximately 1.6% to approximately HK$194.0
million and HK$155.2 million, respectively, compared
to those for the financial year ended 31 March 2024
("FY2023").
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EIRE i A&

AT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios
(continued)

2.

Operations and business updates in oil and gas industry

(continued)

2.1 Operations in the upstream crude oil assets (continued)

2.1.1

Hongbo Mining (continued)

Meanwhile, the drilling of new production wells
caused the increase of depletion and as a result,
the average unit production cost increased by HK$6
per barrel, or approximately 1.6%, from HK$363 per
barrel (equivalent to US$46.4 per barrel) for FY2023
to HK$369 per barrel (equivalent to US$47.3 per
barrel) for FY2024. Hongbo Mining increased the
maintenance work on existing production wells during
FY2024 and as a result, the average unit production
cost before depreciation and amortization increased
by HK$24 per barrel, or approximately 15.7%, from
HK$151 per barrel (equivalent to US$19.3 per barrel)
for FY2023 to HK$175 per barrel (equivalent to
US$22.4 per barrel) for FY2024 accordingly.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIEE S s Mo

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) EISEER (50)
Summary of major operations and investment portfolios FTEXEBRRELAESHE (B)
(continued)
2. Operations and business updates in oil and gas industry 2. CHRTTENEEREEEHN (H)
(continued)
2.1 Operations in the upstream crude oil assets (continued) 211 ELHEFEHBEENEE(E)
2.1.1 Hongbo Mining (continued) 2.1.1 RiEESE ()
The following table provides a recap of Hongbo TRV REEER R
Mining's key operational metrics and product prices MHEZLERENREME
for the periods indicated. LA o

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEFE

Average daily gross production T BRBES

volume (barrels) (1) 889 850
Average daily gross sales volume FHE RS

(barrels) (#8) 889 852
Average unit production cost before ARt E K& # 5 Y

depreciation and amortisation S 15 BE 6T A= EE AR N

(HK$ per barrel) (BB T) 175 151
Average unit production cost - 14 B8 {37 A EE K AR

(HKS$ per barrel) (FHETT) 369 363
Average unit selling price FHEMLEE

(HK$ per barrel) (BB T) 606 617
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BIEE R W AT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) R¥%OE (&)
Summary of major operations and investment portfolios FTEXEBRRELAESHE (B)
(continued)
2. Operations and business updates in oil and gas industry 2. CHRTTENEEREEEHN (H)
(continued)
2.1 Operations in the upstream crude oil assets (continued) 2.1 EFERBEENEE (&)
2.1.1 Hongbo Mining (continued) 2.1.1 RiEESE ()

The summary of Hongbo Mining’s exploration and
development expenditures incurred is as follows:

RIEREPTELS R HR MG
ERAXHMEHINMT

Summary of expenditures incurred
for the year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=+—HLFE
FTEEZRXME

2025

—E-RHE
Number Cost
HE A
(HK$'000)
(F#&T)

Wells drilled during FRERNEH

2024

Number
061
(HK$°000)
(F&T)

the year
Oil producers Bl 8 37,651 4 16,781
Fracturing workover B # {5 4 3,303 4 4,046
Geological and 25 % i BR Y B

geophysical costs 2% - 856 - 764

Based on the oil and gas reserves as at 31 March
2025 as estimated by independent technical
consultants, the net 1P reserves of Hongbo Mining
were 3.88 million barrels at stock tank conditions
("MMstb") and the net 2P reserves were 6.82
MMstb. Due to the challenges of the macro-economy
such as highly volatile prices of oil and gas, the net
1P and 2P reserves decreased by 7.5% and 17.0%,
respectively, as compared with those as at 31 March
2024.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) RO ()
Summary of major operations and investment portfolios FTEXEBRRELAESHE (B)
(continued)
2. Operations and business updates in oil and gas industry 2. CHRTTENEEREEEHN (H)
(continued)
2.1 Operations in the upstream crude oil assets (continued) 211 ELHEFEHBEENEE(E)
2.1.1 Hongbo Mining (continued) 2.1.1 RiEESE ()
The below are the summary and review of the TR BB M BT B M
reserves and resources of Hongbo Mining as at 31 Gaffney, Cline & Associates
March 2025 and 31 March 2024, as conducted by the (TGCA)) #ut R EFEH B &
independent technical consultants, Gaffney, Cline & BEER_ZE-_RAF=H
Associates (“GCA"): =+t—BR-_ZE_MFE=H

S+ AMEERERER
R

As at 31 March 2025 As at 31 March 2024

R-ZE-HF RZEZOF

=HA=+—H =A=+—8H
Gross Net Gross Net
Reserves Reserves Reserves Reserves
BIHE FRE nEEs FREE

(MMstb) (MMstb) (MMstb) (MMstb)
(B8 (B8 (B8 (B8
JHEAE) ) R TERE) A ETR)

Proved (1P) EEREEOP 4.85 3.88 5.24 4.19
Proved + Probable (2P)  EE + s {# £ (2P) 8.52 6.82 10.27 8.21
Proved + Probable + BE + RS+

Possible (3P) AJREfE 2 (3P) 11.67 9.33 13.72 10.98
Contingent resources (1C) &EEIRZ (10) 3.47 2.77 3.6 2.88
Contingent resources (2C) & &E&EIR=E (20) 8.74 6.99 8.11 6.49
Contingent resources (3C) & & R = (3C) 13.14 10.52 12.81 10.25
Prospective resources R=ER 9.7 7.76 9.7 7.76

32 PRODUCTIVE TECHNOLOGIES COMPANY LIMITED / Annual Report 2025



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIEE S s Mo

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios

(continued)

2. Operations and business updates in oil and gas industry

(conti
2.1

nued)
Operations in the upstream crude oil assets (continued)
2.1.1 Hongbo Mining (continued)

Note: The reserve estimates and the future net revenue have
been prepared in accordance with generally accepted
petroleum engineering and evaluation principles set forth
in the Standards Pertaining to the Estimating and Auditing
of Oil and Gas Reserves Information promulgated by the
Society of Petroleum Engineers. Independent technical
consultants used standard engineering and geosciences
methods or a combination of methods, including performance
analysis, volumetric analysis, and analogy, that it considered
to be appropriate and necessary to classify, categorize, and
estimate volumes in accordance with the 2007 PRMS (the
Petroleum Resources Management System published by
the Society of Petroleum Engineers, American Association of
Petroleum Geologists, World Petroleum Council and Society
of Petroleum Evaluation Engineers in March 2007) definitions
and guidelines. These reserve amounts are estimates only
and should not be construed as exact quantities.

3. Business updates in mobility services business

&L

Weipin

On 15 November 2019, Triple Talents Limited (“Triple
Talents”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a series of agreements with Weipin and its
affiliates, pursuant to which Triple Talents has agreed
to subscribe for 35,000,010 shares in Weipin. Upon
completion of this transaction with a total investment of
approximately RMB200 million, the Company effectively
holds 35.5% of the total share capital of Weipin. Weipin
is the holding company of the mobility services platform
business. For more details of the Company’s investment
in Weipin, please refer to the voluntary announcement of
the Company dated 25 November 2019 published on the
websites of the Company (www.pdt-techs.com) and the
Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios

(continued)

&,

34

Business updates in mobility services business (continued)

SL

Weipin (continued)

Prior to 21 June 2021, the Company controlled the majority
voting right of Weipin's board of directors, making Weipin
a subsidiary. On 21 June 2021, the shareholders of Weipin,
including the Company, agreed to enter into an amended
shareholders’ agreement (the “Agreement”) to, among
other things, make adjustments to the structure of the
board of Weipin in order to provide the management of
Weipin with more flexibility in terms of decision-making over
its operations. Pursuant to the Agreement, the Company
agrees to lower its number of designated directors from 3
to 2 directors in the board of Weipin (the “Adjustment”).
After the Adjustment, the total number of board members
in Weipin has decreased from a total of 5 members to 4
members. Thus, the Company no longer has the majority
voting right of the board of directors in Weipin and any
decision-making power over the management and business
activities of Weipin. The shareholding percentage held by
the Company in Weipin remains unchanged at 35.5%, and
Weipin was reclassified as an investment portfolio of the
Company. Under the relevant regulatory requirements and
accounting standards, the financial results of Weipin have
ceased to be consolidated into the Company’s financial
statements, and the investment of Weipin is accounted as
interest in an associate under the application of the equity
method accounting with effect from 21 June 2021. For
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 21 June 2021 published on the websites of the
Company (www.pdt-techs.com) and the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk).
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios

(continued)
3.

Business updates in mobility services business (continued)

3L

Weipin (continued)

Weipin, through its operation subsidiaries (the “Mobility
OPCOs"), is committed to creating a fast and standardized
mobility services system, connecting all participants in the
mobility market, tapping into the market flow through the
traffic platform in an aggregation mode, and generating
synergies by optimizing vehicle energy costs. The
aggregation mode has stabilized at 7 million orders per day,
representing 25% to 30% of total market.

The Mobility OPCOs have signed cooperation agreements
with “Didi”, “Huaxiaozhu”, “Baidu” and “Tencent”.
However, due to the intensifying competition among
leading traffic platforms, where the market prioritizes
partnerships with co-established platforms or their own
drivers and vehicles over third-party ride services providers
like Weipin, the performance of Weipin is still below
management expectation and it is struggling to achieve its
business plan.

As at 31 March 2025, the Company carried out an
impairment assessment for its investment in Weipin, with
the assistance of an independent external valuer appointed
by the management, to determine the recoverable amount
of Weipin, and the valuation approach was categorized as
Level 3. Based on the result of the impairment assessment
conducted by the Group, an impairment loss of HK$73.0
million was made by the Company against the investment
in Weipin for FY2024.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios

(continued)

4,

36

Use of proceeds from the Foxconn Subscription

On 22 January 2018, the Company received an aggregate
subscription price of HK$1,485 million from Foxconn Technology
Pte. Ltd., High Tempo International Limited, World Trade Trading
Limited, Q-Run Holdings Limited, and Q-Run Far East Corporation
(collectively known as the “Foxconn Subscribers”) and issued
to each of the Foxconn Subscribers 297,000,000 subscription
shares at the subscription price of HK$1.00 per subscription
share totalling 1,485,000,000 subscription shares in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the subscription agreement (the
“Foxconn Subscription”).

For details of the Foxconn Subscription, please refer to the
announcements of Company dated 13 December 2017 and
22 January 2018 and the circular of the Company dated 23
December 2017 published on the websites of the Company
(www.pdt-techs.com) and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

The gross proceeds from the Foxconn Subscription are HK$1,485
million. The net proceeds from the Foxconn Subscription (the
“Net Proceeds”) (after deducting the expenses incurred in the
Foxconn Subscription) are approximately HK$1,483 million.

On 24 June 2020, the Board resolved to change the intended
use of unutilized Net Proceeds by allocating the unutilized Net
Proceeds of HK$200 million from investment or acquisition of
targets in the natural gas industry in China and North America
to general working capital as the Company required funds for
general working capital purposes.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Summary of major operations and investment portfolios

(continued)

4. Use of proceeds from the Foxconn Subscription (continued)

The following table summarizes the intended use of proceeds

and the actual use of proceeds as at 31 March 2025.

Investment or acquisition of REFWEFERIE
targets in natural gas industry KARITEMEBE
in China and in North America

Investment in up-stream shale & & L BEAR R/
gas and/or shale oil assets BEMBEEIEINAE
Or projects overseas

Other investments for future AREROEMITE
development

General working capital —REEES

Intended

use of

Net Proceeds
set out in
the Circular

CEL
FERERE
2REAR
HK$'000
T

1,100,000

300,000

83,000

As at 31 March 2025, an aggregate amount of HK$863 million
had been utilized pursuant to the revised intended use, and

the unutilized Net Proceeds of HK$620 million are expected to

be utilized in accordance with the revised intended use by 31

December 2025. The expected timeline for the revised intended

use of unutilized Net Proceeds, which is subject to future

adjustments, if required, is based on the best estimation of the

Company taking into account, among others, the prevailing and

future market conditions and business developments and need.

on 24 June
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OUTLOOK

The Company has evaluated and considered that the application of
semiconductor and solar cell will be a major global development trend.
The business in cleaning equipment for semiconductor and solar cell
which focuses on technology and solutions providing high productivity
to customers is a key area where the Company now puts efforts and
resources.

Geopolitical factors are exerting an increasing influence on the
semiconductor industry, which can be primarily seen from the
weakened service capability of the international supply chain for
customers from the Chinese semiconductor industry. Such impact
may extend to more regions and raw materials. In the short term,
China’s advanced semiconductor wafer manufacturing capacity will
be directly impacted, but to a lesser extent for the Company in this
regard. From another perspective, such a situation is expected to
facilitate faster growth in China’s wafer manufacturing capacity from
2024 onwards and is expected to be highly prosperous for a long
time in the future. This strengthen greater autonomy and innovation
throughout the semiconductor industry chain in China, which will
provide the Company with more market space and better access to
sizable customers.

The solar cell industry has been a key strategic industry being
developed in China. 2024 marks a period of adjustment for the
industry, which is expected to grow in the long term. The development
of the solar cell industry is driven by the LCOE and the Incident Photon-
to-Electron Conversion Efficiency (IPCE). TOPCon technology with
higher conversion efficiency and better economic benefits is expected
to become the mainstream of the industry. In addition, the application
of copper plating is a promising cost-cutting measure, but the market
landscape has not yet been established. At the same time, equipment
vendors are required to focus on improving production efficiency and
capacity of the equipment and reducing usage and maintenance costs.
The opportunities for the Company in the solar cell equipment sector
lie in, on the one hand, continued market expansion and innovation
along with the expansion of capacity in existing technology process
routes such as TOPCon and BC, and on the other hand, technology
reserve in a prospective manner for new technology process routes in
the future.
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OUTLOOK (continued)

Our Company’s long-term vision is to become a leader in these
market segments and capture a significant global market share in
semiconductor cleaning equipment and LPCVD equipment within
the next decade. Our mid-to-short term objectives are as follows:
1. Focus on consolidating and developing our existing semiconductor
cleaning equipment market to establish steadily growing operations
as soon as possible; 2. Introduce high-performance semiconductor
LPCVD equipment and complete its industrialization verification
and mass production; 3. Successfully complete the development
of key processes and innovative technologies and achieve their
commercialization.

During 2024, global oil demand growth moderated, with the
International Energy Agency (IEA) projecting an annual increase of
approximately 900,000 barrels per day. This slowdown was primarily
driven by weaker economic growth in major economies and the
continued expansion of alternative energy adoption. On the supply
side, oil production in non-OPEC+ countries, notably the United States,
Brazil, and Guyana, continued to rise. In contrast, OPEC+, led by Saudi
Arabia, maintained its production cut policy to support market stability.
Geopolitical tensions, particularly in the Middle East, contributed to
intermittent supply disruptions and heightened market volatility. As
a result, Brent crude oil prices averaged approximately US$79 per
barrel over the year. In response to increased volatility and uncertainty,
the Company plans to enhance its risk management capabilities by
deploying hedging instruments for upstream assets. In addition,
the Company will focus on preserving asset liquidity and expanding
production volumes to better position itself for periods of favorable

pricing.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS REVIEW

Revenue
The revenue represents:

Sales of equipment and services rendered

The sales of equipment represented sales of cleaning equipment
applied in solar and semiconductor manufacturing and the spare
parts and services rendered related to the equipment. It decreased
by approximately HK$262.4 million, or approximately 68.0%, from
approximately HK$386.0 million for FY2023 to approximately HK$123.6
million for FY2024.

The decrease was primarily attributable to the recent downturn in the
PV industry. The global PV market has experienced a slowdown since
the end of 2023 due to the reduced demand and project delays, which
have led to a corresponding decrease in sales of solar equipment.

Sales of crude oil

The sales of crude oil represented the crude oil net sales from
Hongbo Mining. It decreased by approximately HK$2.5 million, or
approximately 1.6%, from approximately HK$157.7 million in FY2023
to approximately HK$155.2 million in FY2024.

The slight decrease was mainly due to the increase of sales volume
partially offset by the decrease of sales price during FY2024. Hongbo
Mining's crude oil is priced mainly with reference to Brent Crude
oil prices. The average Brent Crude oil price in FY2024 decreased
to approximately HK$615 per barrel as compared to approximately
HK$650 per barrel in FY2023. The average unit selling price of Hongbo
Mining's crude oil decreased to approximately HK$606 per barrel in
FY2024 from HK$617 per barrel in FY2023, which was consistent with
the trend of global oil prices. On the other hand, Hongbo Mining's net
sales volume slightly increased to 256,074 barrels in FY2024 from
245,732 barrels in FY2023, which was mainly due to new wells drilled
and fracturing work performed in FY2024. For further details on the
increase of the production volume, please refer to “Business Review
— Hongbo Mining”.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS REVIEW (continued)

Cost of sales and services
Cost of sales and services represents:

Cost of sales of equipment and services rendered

The cost of sales of equipment and services rendered decreased
by approximately HK$253.3 million, or approximately 72.3%, from
approximately HK$350.2 million for FY2023 to approximately HK$96.9
million for FY2024.

Cost of sales of crude oil

The cost of sales of crude oil from Hongbo Mining slightly increased
by approximately HK$6.8 million, or approximately 6.1%, from
approximately HK$111.2 million in FY2023 to approximately HK$118.0
million in FY2024. The increase was mainly due to the increase of
the depreciation and amortisation caused by the new wells drilled in
FY2024.

Gross profit

The gross profit decreased by approximately HK$18.2 million, or
approximately 22.2%, from approximately HK$82.2 million in FY2023
to approximately HK$64.0 million in FY2024. The decrease was mainly
due to the decrease of profit generated from sales of solar cell cleaning
equipment by HK$10.8 million and sales of crude oil by HK$9.2 million,
which was offset by the increase of profit from sales of semiconductor
cleaning equipment by HK$1.8 million.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS REVIEW (continued)

Investment loss
Investment loss mainly includes the following:

(1)

42

The loss from the non-cash impairment from non-equipment
business investment of an associate (i.e. Weipin) of
approximately HK$73.0 million. During FY2024, the Mobility
OPCOs were still struggling to achieve its business plan due
to the intensifying competition among leading traffic platforms,
where the market prioritizes partnerships with co-established
platforms or their own drivers and vehicles over third-party
ride services providers like Weipin. The Group performed the
impairment test for its investment to Weipin and an independent
qualified valuer was engaged by the Company to carry out such
assessment. Based on the assessment result, an impairment
loss was recognized by the Group during FY2024.

The gain from (i) the gain from the Fund investment of
approximately HK$22.7 million attributable to a rise in unrealized
gains on the underlying investment fund; and (i) the net share
of gain of an associate engaging in semiconductor ASHER
equipment and EPI equipment of approximately HK$18.9
million, which included an investment income of approximately
HK$27.3 million from the changes recognized as a result of
the rebound in the value of equity interest of the associate
of the Company, which was attributable to the completion of
fundraising of RMB160 million from third-party investors, where
the equity valuation of such associate of the Company increased
to RMB510 million compared with that of RMB50 million when
the Company made the investment as one of the founding
shareholders.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS REVIEW (continued)

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses showed a significant decrease in the
FY2024 compared to FY2023, which decreased by approximately
HK$74.1 million or approximately 39.7% from approximately HK$186.7
million in FY2023 to approximately HK$112.6 million in FY2024, the
decrease was mainly attributable to the (1) decrease of staff costs
including non-cash awarded shares to employees by HK$44.8 million
and decrease of professional fee by HK$15.6 million due to the
implementation of cost control measures in response to the downturn
in the market environment; and (2) the decrease of impairment on
inventories by HK$13.1 million.

Impairment loss on goodwill

The impairment of goodwill of approximately HK$67.6 million which
was valuated and assessed by the Company was primarily attributable
to the recent downturn in the PV industry. The global PV market has
experienced a slowdown since the end of 2023 due to the reduced
demand and project delays, which have led to a corresponding
decrease in sales of solar equipment.

R&D expenses

The R&D expenses decreased by approximately HK$40.8 million, or
approximately 26.6%, from approximately HK$153.3 million in FY2023
to approximately HK$112.5 million in FY2024. The decrease was
mainly attributable to the decrease in R&D material costs by HK$45.2
million following the completion of R&D on major products of the
Company.

Taxes other than income tax

Taxes other than income tax decreased by approximately HK$2.9
million, or approximately 13.0%), from approximately HK$22.2 million in
FY2023 to approximately HK$19.3 million in FY2024, which was mainly
due to the decrease in petroleum special profit levy and resources tax
levied on the sales of crude oil attributable to the decrease of average
crude oil sales price of Hongbo Mining.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS REVIEW (continued)

Exploration expenses, including dry holes

The exploration expenses increased by approximately HK$0.1 million,
or approximately 12.1%, from approximately HK$0.8 million in FY2023
to approximately HK$0.9 million in FY2024, which was mainly due to
the increase of exploration activities.

Impairment loss on trade and other receivables

The impairment loss on trade and other receivables increased
by approximately HK$1.7 million, or approximately 143.0%, from
approximately HK$1.2 million in FY2023 to approximately HK$3.0
million in FY2024, which was mainly due to the increase of revenue
recognized after the final acceptance of equipment from client and the
impairment loss based on expected credit losses due to slowdown in
third party receivables during FY2024.

Net finance income/cost

The net finance income/cost mainly consists of interest income from
deposits at banks and interest cost from bank borrowings, and the loss
from foreign exchange. It increased by approximately HK$12.2 million,
or approximately 256.4%, from a cost of approximately HK$4.8 million
in FY2023 to an income of approximately HK$7.5 million in FY2024
mainly due to the decrease of fluctuation of foreign exchange loss.

Loss before taxation

Loss before taxation decreased by approximately HK$45.6 million, or
approximately 13.0%, from a loss of approximately HK$349.4 million in
FY2023 to a loss of approximately HK$303.8 million in FY2024, which
was primarily due to the cumulative effects of factors as discussed
above in this section.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL RESULTS REVIEW (continued)

Income tax expense

Income tax expense decreased by approximately HK$3.5 million, or
approximately 27.5%, from approximately HK$12.8 million in FY2023
to approximately HK$9.3 million in FY2024. It mainly includes (1)
current tax expense of HK$15.0 million mainly due to the sales of
crude oil which led to Hongbo Mining making relevant tax payment to
the authority and tax filling differences in FY2024; and (2) deferred tax
credit of HK$6.8 million mainly due to other changes arising from the
temporary differences of the provision for depreciation of oil and gas
properties of Hongbo Mining.

Loss for the year

Loss for the year decreased by approximately HK$49.1 million, or
approximately 13.6%, from approximately HK$362.1 million in FY2023
to approximately HK$313.1 million in FY2024, which was primarily due
to the cumulative effects of factors as discussed above in this section.

EBITDA

The management of the Company prepared a reconciliation of
EBITDA to profit/loss before taxation, which is the most directly
comparable financial performance measures calculated and presented
in accordance with financial reporting standards and interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
EBITDA refers to earnings before interest expenses, income tax,
depreciation and amortisation.
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EBITDA

ARAREEEDHEEBITDA E B B Al i
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL RESULTS REVIEW (continued)

EBITDA (continued)

The management of the Company believes that EBITDA is a financial
measure commonly used as supplemental financial measures by the
management of the Company and by investors, research analysts,
bankers and others to assess the operating performance, cash flow,
return on capital and the ability to take on financing of the Company
and its subsidiaries as compared to those of other companies.
However, EBITDA should not be considered in isolation or construed
as alternatives to profit from operations or any other measure
of performance or as an indicator of the operating performance
or profitability of the Company and its subsidiaries. EBITDA fails
to account for income tax, interest expenses, depreciation and
amortisation.

The following table presents a reconciliation of EBITDA to loss before
taxation for the periods indicated.

BB Al B 18
e FEFX
o0 AT N

Loss before taxation
Add: Interest expenses
Add: Depreciation and amortisation

EBITDA EBITDA
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MANA@EMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL RESULTS REVIEW (continued)

EBITDA (continued)

The EBITDA increased from a loss of HK$241.6 million in FY2023 to
a loss of HK$191.4 million in FY2024. The increase of EBITDA was
primarily attributable to:

(1) the increase of profit compared to FY2023 as a result of:

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

a decrease in administrative and R&D expenses (excluding
depreciation and amortisation) of approximately HK$116.8
million, which was mainly due to the implementation of
cost control measures in response to the downturn in the
market environment including a decrease in share-based
compensation expenses;

an increase in investment income of approximately
HK$22.7 million from fair value changes of the Fund
investment;

an increase in investment income of approximately
HK$24.2 million from fair value changes recognized as
a result of the rebound in the value of equity interest of
one associate of the Company engaging in the business
of semiconductor ASHER equipment and EPI equipment,
which was attributable to the completion of fundraising of
RMB70 million from third-party investors, where the pre-
money equity valuation of such associate of the Company
increased to RMB510 million compared with that of RMB50
million when the Company made the investment as one of
the founding shareholders; and
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FINANCIAL RESULTS REVIEW (continued)

EBITDA (continued)
(2)  the above-mentioned items are offset by:

(i) an increase of losses from non-equipment business
primarily from an impairment of Weipin investment
of approximately HK$73.0 million mainly due to the
intensifying competition among leading traffic platforms,
where the market prioritizes partnerships with co-
established platforms or their own drivers and vehicles over
third party ride services providers like \Weipin; and

(i) the non-cash impairment of goodwill of approximately
HK$67.6 million which was primarily attributable to the
recent downturn in the PV industry. The global PV market
experienced a slowdown since the end of 2023 due to
reduced demand and project delays, which have led to
a corresponding decrease in the sales forecast of solar
equipment.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has presented the following two reportable segments.
Details of the Group's reportable segments are as follows:

° Semiconductor and solar cell: this segment operates in research
and development, manufacturing and sales of advanced
processing equipment for solar cell and semiconductor
industries.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) SEHEH (2

. Oil and gas and others: this segment invests in and operates an © SR M HE A4 kD EBIKRE WKL L EF
upstream oil and gas business, LNG business, and generates HMRER  INGER - WA MITHRKX
income from processing of oil and gas and LNG, as well as LNG A K3 &E R E R IR R A Ath 1T
investing and managing energy-related and other industries and ERDEEEWE -
businesses.

Semiconductor and solar cell 0il and gas and others Total
TEBRABHE) WRR A &zt
Year ended 31 March Year ended 31 March Year ended 31 March
BE=R=t-H BE=R=t-H BE=R=t-H
LEE 34 LEE

2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
“ECTLE ekl —E-TF el —E-0F [k
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TARL i) TAn TAL TAn TAL

Revenue from external customers (note) ~ MEFEPIA (fizE) 123,624 385,975 155,205 157,663 278,829 543,638
Investment gain/lloss) BEks/ (58 18,883 (5,305) (61,736) (38,920) (42,853) (44,225)
Reportable segment loss (EBITDA) 2872 HE4 (EBITDA) (187,083) (233,918) (4,336) (7,653) (191,419) (241,57)
Depreciation and amortisation HERESH (34,303) (32,318) (72,997) (69,112) (107,300) 101,430)
Interest income FEMA 11 33 17,607 18,151 17,618 18,484
Interest expense fER%Z (4,955) (6,020) (126) (340) (5,081) 6,360)
Impairment of non-current assets — goodwill  FEREAEFIE — HE (67,622) - - - 67,622) -
Impairment loss on trade and B SRR R A WG E

other receivables HEBE (2,958) (1,218) - - (2,958) (1,218)
Reportable segment assets 2RI HEE 997,367 1,139,406 1,791,231 1,980,276 2,788,598 3,119,682
fincluding interest in associates) (BERNEE R ARER) 32,661 13,946 108,082 193,347 140,743 207,293
Additions to non-current segment ERREERINDERE

assets during the year 19,761 8973 60,378 14,011 80,139 22,984
Reportable segment liabilities N2HANEE (933,908)  (1,011432) (404,199) (342,933 (1,338,107)  (1,354,365)
The measure used for reporting segment profit/(loss) is EBITDA. ARERDBHEF, (BB WtEHFX A

EBITDA -
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group finances their operations primarily through a combination
of bank and other borrowings and proceeds from the Foxconn
Subscription. For further details of use of proceeds from the Foxconn
Subscription, please refer to the section headed “Business Review —
Use of proceeds from the Foxconn Subscription” in this annual report.
The cash and cash equivalents are mostly denominated in US$, HK$
and RMB. As at 31 March 2025, the Group had unpledged cash and
bank deposits of HK$408.7 million (31 March 2024: HK$531.4 million).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had restricted cash of HK$211.8
million, which was time deposit that pledged on outstanding loans (31
March 2024: HK$199.2 million, which was time deposit that pledged
on outstanding loans).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had outstanding loans of HK$333.1
million (31 March 2024: HK$261.1 million).

Save as the information disclosed above or otherwise in this annual
report, the Group had no outstanding mortgage, pledge, debentures
or other loan capital issued or agreed to be issued, bank overdrafts,
borrowings, liabilities under acceptance or other similar liabilities, hire
purchase and finance lease commitments, or any guarantees or other
material contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2025.

The Group has not used any financial instrument to hedge potential
fluctuation in interest rates and exchange rates.

As at 31 March 2025, the gearing ratio (ratio of the sum of total bank

and other borrowings to the total assets) was approximately 14.4% (31
March 2024: 10.0%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MAJOR RISK MANAGEMENT

The market risk exposures of the Company in its operations primarily
consist of oil price risk, currency risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk,
credit risk, equity price risk and driver management risk.

Oil price risk

The principal activities of the Company's subsidiaries and invested
portfolios in the “oil and gas and others” segment consist of upstream
oil and gas business and LNG logistics services. Hongbo Mining, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, is engaged in petroleum
related activities in the PRC. Prices of crude oil are affected by a wide
range of global and domestic political, economic and military factors
which are beyond the control of the Company. A decrease in such
prices could adversely affect the financial results and financial position
of the Group.

In FY2024, the Company had not purchased any hedging instruments
for part of the production of Hongbo Mining. The Group maintains
continuous assessment of oil price risk and takes appropriate measures
as necessary to safeguard the interests of its Shareholders. As at 31
March 2025, the Company did not hold any hedging instruments for oil
production.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through overseas
investment which gives rise to other receivables and cash balances
that are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e., a currency other than
the functional currency of the operations to which the transactions
relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily HKS$, US$ and
RMB. For details, please refer to Note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group currently does not engage in hedging activities designed
or intended to manage foreign exchange rate risk. The Group will
continue to monitor foreign exchange changes to best preserve the
cash value.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MAJOR RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Company and its individual operating entities are responsible for
their own cash management, including the short-term investment
of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected cash
demands, subject to approval by the parent company’s board when
the borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of authority. The
policy of the Group is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements
and its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and readily realizable marketable securities
and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer
term.

Interest rate risk

The interest rate risk of the Group arises primarily from interest-bearing
borrowings. The Group regularly reviews and monitors the mix of fixed
and variable rate bank and other borrowings in order to manage the
interest rate risks.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group. The
Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to cash at bank and trade
and other receivables. Management has a credit policy in place and
the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis,
including reconsidering the appropriateness of the methods adopted
and using up-to-date inputs (e.g. debtors’ creditworthiness) at each
reporting date.

The Group’s credit risk arising from cash at bank is limited because
the counterparties are state-owned/controlled or listed bank and well-
known financial institutions which the Directors assessed the credit
risk to be insignificant.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would expose the
Group to credit risk.

The Group constantly evaluates credit risk for trade receivables by
taking into account their past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and the expected credit loss for trade
receivables amounting to HK$3.0 million (for the year ended 31 March
2024: HK$1.2 million) recognized was mainly from customers within
the semiconductor and solar cell segment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MAJOR RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Litigation risk

The Group is involved from time to time, and may in the future be
involved in, litigation, claims or other disputes in the ordinary course
of business regarding, among other things, contract disputes involving
our suppliers or customers. To this end, the Group establishes balance
sheet provisions relating to potential losses from litigation based on
estimates of the losses.

Driver management risk in the mobility services platform
Maintaining a team of competitive drivers is a key to the success of
the mobility services platform. If Weipin is unable to attract or maintain
a critical mass of drivers, its business will become less appealing to
business partners, and the financial results of the Company would be
adversely affected.

To continue to retain and attract drivers to Weipin's platform, Weipin
will increase the drivers' earnings by increasing the fixed fees payable
to drivers for a given trip and its incentives to drivers. Further, Weipin
has indicated that it will continue to provide more resources and
access to larger driver pools in the future.

In addition, Weipin will continue to invest in the development of new
driver service system that provides additional value for drivers, which
differentiates it from its competitors. Specific measures include: (1)
outstanding full-time drivers will be rewarded with the services of
exclusive service managers, as well as tea breaks and other services
at service stations; (2) Weipin will integrate the resources of the
automobile service industry, cooperate with other companies in
relevant industries, and provide core drivers with services such as
charging, vehicle insurance, vehicle maintenance, and traffic violation
handling; and (3) Weipin will select high-performance drivers on a
regular basis and reward them with a certificate or a medal, giving
them a strong sense of honor and enhancing their loyalty to Weipin's
platform.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group held the Fund investment as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss. Details are as follows:

Contribution
made during

Investment

gain/(loss)
BEkE/
(B1R)
HK$'000
THT

Name of the investment

RELH

Fund investment

the Reporting
Period

R ERE
ﬂfl'fl EIJ{/\‘F)\
HK$'000
TEL

EXEE

RZF-_AF=ZA=+—R0 X&EEFKEZX
EeREREBRZR AN EBEIKNSE
BE BT

As at 31 March
R=B=+-AH
2025
“EC-hHE
Approximate
percentage
to the

total assets
HEEEMN
BRED RAREE
HK$'000

THT

Fair value Fair value

RAEE
HK$'000
TERT

On 8 June 2020, Valuefort Investment Limited (“Valuefort”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and general partner of IDG
Capital Project Fund II, L.P. (the “Fund”) entered into a subscription
agreement for the admission of Valuefort as a subscriber holding
16.67% partnership interests into the Fund, the investment portfolio
of which includes new technologies and biomedicine. Pursuant to
the subscription agreement, Valuefort proposed to make capital
commitments of US$20 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$155.05 million). As at 31 March 2025, the total capital contributed
by Valuefort was US$14.3 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$111.9 million) and US$5.7 million was capital contribution not
yet paid which has received the capital call from the Fund and was
recognized as payables in the same amount. The fair value of the Fund
investment was HK$169.8 million.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS (continued)

Looking forward, the Company expects that the market will remain
challenging. The competitive and volatile operating environment
around the world will continue to exert pressure on the market.
Despite the foregoing, the Company will continue to pursue long-term
business and profitability growth in line with its corporate mission and
goals. The Board will continue to closely monitor the performance of
its investment portfolios and pursue long-term holding throughout the
Fund’s term. Except for Fund investment, as at 31 March 2025, there
was no investment held by the Group the value of which was more
than 5% of the total assets of the Group.

CHARGES ON ASSETS OF THE GROUP

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had outstanding pledge on time
deposit of HK$208.8 million, goods in transit equivalent to HK$24.16
million and charging rights (31 March 2024: restricted cash of
HK$199.2 million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

So far as known to the Directors, as at 31 March 2025, there had been
no litigation, arbitration or claim of material importance in which the
Group was engaged or pending or which as threatened against the
Group.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had the capital commitment of
HK$19.1 million (31 March 2024: HK$39.3 million) contracted but not
provided for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment.
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EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 339 (31 March 2024: 435)
employees in Hong Kong and the PRC. In FY2024, the total staff
costs (including the Directors’ emoluments and equity settled share-
based compensation amounted to approximately HK$12.2 million)
amounted to HK$199.7 million (FY2023: HK$268.1 million). Employees’
remuneration package was reviewed periodically and determined
with reference to the performance of the individual and the prevailing
market practices. Employees’ remuneration package includes basic
salary, year-end bonus, awarded shares, medical and contributory
provident fund.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have any other future plans for material investments
or capital assets as at 31 March 2025. The Company will continue to
seek new investment opportunities to broaden its revenue base and
profit potential and maximise Shareholders’ value in the long term.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF THE
RESULTS

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
was established with written terms of reference in compliance with
Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee comprises two
independent non-executive Directors and a non-executive Director who
possess the appropriate business and financial experience and skills to
understand financial statements. As at the date of this annual report,
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David is the chairman of the Audit Committee and
the other two members are Mr. Cao Xiaohui and Mr. Wang Guoping.
The Audit Committee has adopted terms of references which are in
line with those set out in Part 2 of Appendix C1 (Corporate Governance
Code) to the Listing Rules (the “CG Code").

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management of the Company
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Company and
discussed the risk management and internal controls and financial
reporting matters, including a review of the consolidated financial
statements and the final results of the Group for FY2024 with no
disagreement on the accounting treatment adopted by the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S BIOGRAPHIES
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. LIU Erzhuang — Chairman

Dr. Liu, aged 61, a Singapore national, was appointed as the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company on 13 May 2022 and an executive
Director on 19 August 2022. Dr. Liu, who joined the Company in June
2021 as Executive Vice President and was subsequently appointed
as the President on 1 December 2021, the legal representative for
each of PDT Shanghai and PDT Xuzhou (both being wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company) on 14 January 2022 and 22 February
2022, respectively, has extensive experience in the semiconductor
industry. From 1993 to 2002, Dr. Liu held different engineering
and operations management positions in Chartered Semiconductor
Manufacturing Ltd. (a major semiconductor foundry in the world). From
2002 to 2004, he served as the director of operations of Shanghai
Advanced Semiconductor Co., Ltd. From 2004 to 2012, he served as
the deputy general manager in China of Lam Research Corporation (a
leading semiconductor equipment company engaging in the design
and fabrication of semiconductor equipment, and listed on NASDAQ)
(“Lam Research”). From 2012 to 2014, he served as the general
manager of Cree (an innovative semiconductor group specializing in
LED and RF devices, the holding company of which is listed on the
New York Stock Exchange) in China, and was responsible for sales in
the Chinese Mainland and Hong Kong and the factory base in Huizhou,
leading the factory operations of 3,000 employees in the two factories.
From 2014 to 2020, he re-joined Lam Research and served as
corporate vice president and general manager of China. From 2020 to
2021, he served as the executive vice president of Tsinghua Unigroup (a
major semiconductor manufacturing, communication, and networking
group in China).

Dr. Liu graduated from Xi'an Jiaotong University, majoring in
semiconductor physics and devices, and received a Ph.D. from the
University of Dundee in the United Kingdom. He is also a postdoctoral
fellow at Harvard University in the United States and an MBA from the
National University of Singapore.

Dr. Liu was appointed as an independent director of Shenyang Fortune
(BEEEARERBROBRAF),
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 688409.SH),
with effect from 23 July 2025.

Precision Equipment Co., Ltd.*
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. TAN Jue

Mr. Tan, aged 42, was appointed as the chief financial officer of
the Company on 30 September 2016, and was appointed as an
executive Director on 19 August 2022 and the legal representative
for PDT Technologies on 29 June 2023. He is primarily responsible
for financing, financial reporting, budget planning, internal control,
compliance, and financial management operations. He also leads or
oversees the Company’s major investment transactions. Mr. Tan also
holds directorship in certain subsidiaries of the Company, namely,
Triple Talents Limited and IDG Energy Investment Corporation.

Mr. Tan has over 18 years of experience in financial management,
mergers & acquisitions, capital market and corporate governance
and has closed transactions amounting to multi-billion US dollars.
He joined IDG Capital in 2013 as a key member of the fund’'s
investment in companies in growth and mature stages and has
also gained extensive experiences in the management of portfolio
companies in areas of finance, operation, internal control and corporate
governance. From 2006 to 2013, he worked at the Beijing office of
PricewaterhouseCoopers Consultants Shenzhen Limited for 7 years.

Mr. Tan graduated with a bachelor’'s degree of Economics from

Renmin University of China. He is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. LIU Zhihai

Mr. Liu, aged 41, was appointed as an executive Director on 5
September 2019. He also holds directorship in certain subsidiaries of
the Company, including Hongbo Mining and Think Excel Investments
Limited.

Mr. Liu has over 15 years of experience with energy companies and
investments and broad knowledge of the oil and gas industry. He
was a co-founder of Titan Gas Technology Holdings Limited and has
worked for IDG Capital since 2011, where he headed the firm's oil and
natural gas business as a managing director and led and participated
in several investments in the oil and energy sector. Prior to 2011, he
worked as a business analyst at Accenture, covering strategy, mergers
and acquisitions and operation optimization projects and consulting
services for several major oil and gas companies and national oil
companies.

Mr. Liu graduated with a bachelor’'s degree of Science and a master’s
degree of Science from the Mathematical School of Peking University.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CAO Xiaohui

Mr. Cao, aged 40, was appointed as a non-executive Director and
a member of the Audit Committee on 21 October 2022. Currently
a partner at IDG Capital, Mr. Cao has more than 18 years’ working
experience in industrial field, and is responsible for investment and
mergers and acquisitions (“M&A") in intelligent manufacturing, new
energy and semi-conductor manufacturing industry chain at IDG
Capital. He has led various cross-border M&As, investments and
divestments amounting to multi-billion US dollars. Prior to joining IDG
Capital, he worked as the managing partner of Fosun Private Equity
Business Unit* (1€ 2 iR # 1% & = % &), the executive president of
Fosun Automation & Robotics Group* (18 2 B #){t k%22 A% E) and
the executive president of Fosun Energy Industrial & Utility Group*
(E 2 RERIRIREE) from 2016 to 2020, the president of Siasun
Investment Co., Ltd.* (FTAMZE AR E B R A F]) from 2015 to 2016,
and director of the office of spacecraft overall design of the Research
and Development Center of CASC (China Aerospace Science and
Technology Corporation) from 2010 to 2015.

Mr. Cao obtained his bachelor’s degree in Jet Propulsion at Beijing

University of Aeronautics and Astronautics and master’s degree in
Aerodynamics at University of Bristol.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. LIN Yukai

Mr. Lin, aged 39, was appointed as a non-executive Director on
27 June 2025. Currently the deputy spokesperson and investment
manager at Foxconn Technology Co., Ltd (“FTC"”, a company
whose shares are listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange under the
stock code of 2354), Mr. Lin is serving as the official voice of the
organization, effectively communicating corporate developments and
financial performance to investors, media, and the public, as well as
spearheading major investment projects, overseeing due diligence,
financial modeling, and strategic planning. Prior to joining FTC, he
worked as head of equity investment and senior manager at Shin Kong
Bank from 2018 to 2022, economist, FX sales dealer and assistant
vice president at Standard Chartered Bank from 2016 to 2018, and
fixed income and equity trader, assistant vice president (management
associate) at KGI Bank from 2012 to 2016.

Mr. Lin obtained a bachelor’s degree in science majoring in
international business and minoring in diplomacy and philosophy at
National Chengchi University, a master’s degree in applied economics
majoring in finance at Tsinghua University and a master’s degree in
laws majoring in financial law and securities exchange act at National
Chengchi University.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. GE Aiji

Ms. Ge, aged 61, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 19 October 2018. She is also a member of the
remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) and the chairman of the nomination committee of the
Company (the “Nomination Committee”).

Ms. Ge has extensive experience in the energy industry. She
has played pivotal roles in many domestic enterprises’ overseas
upstream exploration and development projects and led various major
international merger and acquisition projects in the upstream oil and
gas field. Ms. Ge has been serving as the vice president of Talent
Power Group Limited since 2014. From 2012 to 2016, Ms. Ge served
as a non-executive director of Mining Resource Company of China
Great Wall Industry Corporation. In addition, Ms. Ge held several
management positions with China National Oil and Gas Exploration and
Development Corporation, China National Petroleum Corporation and
its affiliated companies. Ms. Ge has been serving as an independent
director of Sino Prima Gas Technology Co., Ltd. (listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 300483) with effective from 4
December 2023.

Ms. Ge graduated from Beijing University of Chemical Technology with
a bachelor’'s degree of Chemical Engineering in 1986 and a master's
degree of Technical Economics in 1988. Ms. Ge also obtained an
Executive Master of Business Administration degree from the National
University of Singapore in 2007.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)

Mr. CHAU Shing Yim David

Mr. Chau, aged 61, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 5 August 2016. He is also the chairman of the Audit
Committee and Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Chau has over 30 years of experience in corporate finance and was
formerly a partner of one of the big four accounting firms, Mr. Chau
was a key member who found their corporate finance division and held
the position as their Head of Merger and Acquisition and Corporate
Advisory.

Mr. Chau is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales (“"ICAEW"), and was granted the Corporate
Finance Qualification of ICAEW. He is also a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and was
an ex-committee member of the Disciplinary Panel of HKICPA. Mr.
Chau is a Senior Fellow and Director of the Hong Kong Securities
and Investment Institute (“HKSI") and was the chairman of China
and Corporate Committee. Mr. Chau is the member of Hong Kong
Metropolitan University (“HKMU") Foundation Advisory Committee.

Mr. Chau is the member of Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern Hospital
("PYNEH") Fund Raising Committee, PYNEH Charitable Trust and also
ex-member of the Hospital Governing Committee.

Mr. Chau is currently an independent non-executive director and audit
committee chairman of OSL Group Limited (Formerly known as “BC
Technology Group Limited”) (Stock Code: 863), China Ruyi Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 136), Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited
(Stock Code: 2314) and Man Wah Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
1999). All the aforesaid companies are listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chau has resigned as an independent non-executive director of
China Evergrande Group (In Liquidation) (Stock Code: 3333) on 31 May
2024 and China Evergrande New Energy Vehicle Group Limited (Stock
Code: 708) on 28 October 2024.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)

Mr. WANG Guoping

Mr. Wang, aged 62, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 23 December 2022. He is also a member of the Audit Committee
and Nomination Committee. Mr. Wang holds a master’'s degree in
engineering, and is a senior engineer, the senior consultant of the Integrated
Circuit Division (882 & #5&) of China Semiconductor Industry Association
and Jiangsu Semiconductor Industry Association, the chief consultant of
Shanghai Prisemi Electronics Co., Ltd., the senior consultant of Jiangsu JITRI
IC Application Technology Innovation Center and VWuxi Industry Innovation
Research Institute, and an independent director of Shanghai Wanye
Enterprises Co., Ltd. (listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, Stock Code:
600641). He worked as a technician and engineer of the Wuxi branch of 1424
Factory* (1424 FT#& 35 5 FfT) from August 1986 to August 1988. He was
the deputy director of the strategic research department of China Huajing
Electronic Group Corporation* (9 B # & & F [& /A 7)) from August 1988
to May 1990. He was the chief engineer of the fourth sub-plant of China
Huajing Electronic Group Corporation from May 1990 to December 1993.
He was the factory director of the second sub-plant of the general factory of
discrete device of China Huajing Electronic Group Corporation from January
1994 to December 1994. He was the factory director of the general factory of
discrete device of China Huajing Electronic Group Corporation from January
1994 to December 1997. He was the vice president and deputy general
manager of China Huajing Electronic Group Corporation from January 1998 to
August 1999. He was the general manager of China Huajing Electronic Group
Corporation from September 1999 to December 2002. He was the genera
manager of WWuxi China Resources Microelectronics Limited from December
2002 to March 2003. He was the general manager of China Resources
Microelectronics (Holdings) Limited from April 2003 to March 2008. He was
the chief executive officer of China Resources Microelectronics Limited
from March 2008 to August 2010. He was the chairman of China Resources
Microelectronics Limited from August 2010 to August 2012. He was the
chairman of the expert committee of China Resources Microelectronics
Limited as well as the general manager of the research center, chairman
of the investment approval committee, vice chairman of the procurement
committee of China Resources. Microelectronics Limited from August 2012
to August 2021 and was responsible for supervising corporate research and
development, investment approval and supply chain management. He was a
designated external director of the business unit of China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited and a director of China Resources Digital Technology Co.,
Ltd and China Resources Environmental Protection Technology Limited from
August 2021 to November 2022. Mr. Wang was a member of the electronic
technology consultation committee of Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology, the vice president of China Semiconductor Industry Association,
the president of the Integrated Circuit Division of China Semiconductor
Industry Association, the president of Jiangsu Semiconductor Industry
Association and a member of the editorial committee of A Comprehensive
Book on Integrated Circuit Industry* (75 % & % Z= ¥ 2 £) and Integrated
Circuit Industry Book Series* (TER2 B & RAI#EE).

Mr. Wang obtained his bachelor's degree at Chengdu Radio
Engineering College in September 1983 and master’'s degree at
Chengdu Radio Engineering College in August 1986.

Mr. Wang was appointed as an independent director of Grinm
Advanced Materials Co., Ltd. (listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange,
Stock Code: 600206) with effective from 11 April 2025.

*  For identification purposes only
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S BIOGRAPHIES

SEZNEREEAEBN

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. LIU Erzhuang — Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Dr. Liu, aged 61, was appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 13
May 2022. He is primarily responsible for the Company's overall
management and business operation, corporate governance, human
resource management, as well as public and investor relations. Please
refer to the above section headed “Executive Directors” for more
detailed information.

Mr. TAN Jue — Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Tan, aged 42, was appointed as the chief financial officer of
the Company on 30 September 2016. He is primarily responsible
for financing, financial reporting, budget planning, internal control,
compliance, financial management operations as well as public and
investor relations. He also leads or oversees the Company’'s major
investment transactions. Please refer to the above section headed
“Executive Directors” for more detailed information.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is engaged in the business of productivity-driven
equipment applied in semiconductor and solar cell businesses. It also
operates an oil and gas production project in PRC.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

Details of the results in FY2024 are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on pages 215 to 216 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
FY2024 (FY2023: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Company as well as a discussion
and analysis of the Company’s performance during the year as
required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
the laws of Hong Kong), including a discussion of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Company and an indication of likely future
developments in the Company’s business, can be found in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
These discussions form part of the Report of the Directors.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during FY2024 are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BANK LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Details of bank loans and other borrowings during FY2024 are set out
in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on pages 10 to 11 of this
annual report.
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DONATIONS

During FY2024, the Group did not make any charitable donations to
any charitable organisations.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
articles of association (the “Articles of Association”) and there are no
restrictions against such rights under the laws in Cayman Islands.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”),
pursuant to which the Company may distribute dividends to the
Shareholders by way of cash or shares. Any distribution of dividends
shall be in accordance with the Hong Kong law, the Articles of
Association, the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands (as amended
from time to time) and any other applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject to the
absolute discretion of the Board, and any declaration of dividend will be
subject to the approval of the Shareholders. In proposing any dividend
payout, the Board shall also take into account, inter alia:

o the Group's actual and expected financial performance;

° Shareholders’ interests;

° retained earnings, distributable reserves and contributed surplus
of the Company and each of the other members of the Group;

° the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity
and financial covenants to which the Group is subject to;

° possible effects on the Group's credit worthiness;
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DIVIDEND POLICY (continued)

° any restrictions on payment of dividends or other covenants on
the Group's financial ratios that may be imposed by the Group's
financial creditors;

° the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;

o liquidity position and future commitments at the time of
declaration of dividend;

° taxation considerations;
° statutory and regulatory restrictions;
o general business conditions and strategies;

° general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group's
business and other internal or external factors that may have an
impact on the business or financial performance and position of
the Company; and

° other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time and there is no
assurance that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific
period.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’' INFORMATION

Dr. Liu was appointed as an independent director of Shenyang Fortune
Precision Equipment Co., Ltd.* (ZfF EAIB B RE RN BER R F), a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 688409.SH),
with effect from 23 July 2025.

Mr. Wang Guoping was appointed as an independent director of Grinm
Advanced Materials Co., Ltd. (listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange,
Stock Code: 600206) with effective from 11 April 2025.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Directors confirm that
no other information is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.561B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares (including sale of
treasury shares, if any) in FY2024.

As at 31 March 2025, the Company did not hold any treasury shares.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the year
are set out in Note 32(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company had no reserve
available for distribution to Shareholders as at 31 March 2025.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During FY2024, the largest five customers accounted for 72.6% of the
total revenue of the Group, and the largest customer accounted for
19.9% of the total revenue of the Group from sales of goods. During
FY2024, the largest five suppliers accounted for 19.6% of the total
purchase of the Group, and the largest supplier accounted for 8.0% of
the total purchase of the Group.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had any interest in the five largest customers
or five largest suppliers mentioned above.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Adoption of 2025 Share Award Scheme and Grant of
Awards pursuant to 2025 Share Award Scheme

On 29 April 2025, the Company adopted a share award scheme (the
“2025 Share Award Scheme”) to recognise the contributions or
the future contributions by certain employees and persons to the
Group and to provide them with incentives in order to retain them
for the continuous operation and development of the Group and to
attract suitable personnel for further development of the Group. The
maximum number of new shares issuable under the 2025 Share
Award Scheme and any other schemes of the Company (if any) in
aggregate will be 740,128,765 Shares, being 10% of the total number
of shares in issue on 29 April 2025 (excluding any treasury shares), i.e.,
the Scheme Mandate Limit. In addition, within the Scheme Mandate
Limit, the total number of shares which may be issued in respect of all
awards (the “Awards"”) to be granted to service provider participants
under the 2025 Share Award Scheme shall not exceed 74,012,876
shares, being 1% of the total number of shares in issue as at the
adoption date (excluding any treasury shares), i.e., the Service Provider
Sublimit. Application has been made by the Company to the Stock
Exchange for the grant of approval for the listing of, and permission to
deal in, the 740,128,765 new shares which may be allotted and issued
under the Scheme Mandate Limit in respect of the 2025 Share Award
Scheme, and the listing approval was granted by the Stock Exchange
on 13 May 2025.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD (continued)

Adoption of 2025 Share Award Scheme and Grant of
Awards pursuant to 2025 Share Award Scheme (continued)
On 14 May 2025, the Company granted an aggregate of 50,140,086
Awards, representing 50,140,086 Award Shares (0.68% of the total
number of Shares in issue as at the date of this annual report), to 209
employees of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Grantees”)
pursuant to the terms of the 2025 Share Award Scheme at nil
consideration, subject to the acceptance by each of the Grantees,
as incentives for their continuing and/or future contributions to the
Company and its subsidiaries.

For more details of the 2025 Share Award Scheme, please refer to the
circular of the Company dated 11 April 2025 and the announcements
of the Company dated 29 April 2025 and 14 May 2025, respectively,
published on the websites of the Company (www.pdt-techs.com) and
the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

Appointment of Non-executive Director

The Board is pleased to announce that Mr. Lin Yukai has been
appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 27 June
2025. Please refer to the section headed “Directors’ and Senior
Management'’s Biographies — Non-Executive Directors” in this annual
report and the announcement of the Company dated 27 June 2025 for
more detailed information.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there are no important events
affecting the Group after 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this
annual report.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this annual
report were:

Executive Directors

Dr. Liu Erzhuang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Tan Jue

Mr. Liu Zhihai

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Cao Xiaohui
Mr. Lin Yukai

Independent Non-executive Directors
Ms. Ge Aiji

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

Mr. Wang Guoping

None of the members of the Board is related to one another.

One-third of the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at
annual general meetings of the Company in accordance with the
Articles of Association.

In accordance with Articles 83(3), 84(1) and 84(2) of the Articles of
Association, Mr. Liu Zhihai, Mr. Lin Yukai, Mr. Chau Shing Yim David
and Mr. Wang Guoping should retire from office and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company (the “AGM").

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from all independent non-executive Directors and considers them to be
independent. Under the terms of their appointment, the independent
non-executive Directors are appointed for a specific term and are
subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles of
Association.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 57 to 65 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Company has entered into service agreements with each Director,
pursuant to which each of the executive Directors, non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors is appointed for
a term of three years, subject to re-election in accordance with the
Articles of Association at annual general meetings of the Company.

None of the Directors has entered into any service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, which is not terminable by the
Company within one year without the payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company’s remuneration policy is built upon the principle
of providing an equitable, motivating and market-competitive
remuneration package that can stimulate and drive staff at all levels to
work towards achieving the strategic objectives of the Group.

The remuneration of the Directors is reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee and the Board, having regard to Directors’ duties,
responsibilities, the operating results and comparable market statistics.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed in FY2024.
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RELATED PARTIES’' TRANSACTIONS

Details of related parties’ transactions are set out in Note 35 to
the consolidated financial statements. None of the related party
transactions mentioned above constitutes connected transactions/
continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements,
no other transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in
relation to the Company’s business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, or holding company or fellow subsidiaries was a party and
in which any of the Directors or an entity connected with the Directors
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

FINANCIAL, BUSINESS OR FAMILY
RELATIONSHIP AMONG MEMBERS OF THE
BOARD

None of the members of the Board of the Company had any financial,
business, family or other material relationship with each other.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the Directors
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")), as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules (the “Model Code"), were as follows:

Name of Director Nature of interest

EEsE ERtE

Liu Erzhuang (“Dr. Liu”) Beneficial owner

Bl A (T8IEL]) EnEAA

Tan Jue Interest of controlled corporations
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Percentage of
Number of the Company’s

ordinary shares issued ordinary

(Note 1) shares
ZTHEBREE EARQEE BT
(KF&EE) ZERE AL

139,600,000 (L) 1.89%
(Note 2)
(MgE2)

2,508,745,828 (L) 33.90%

(Note 3)
(Fff5E 3)

EERBRERQT / F£#,2025 75



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEHE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES (continued)

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

The letter “L"
underlying ordinary shares of the Company.

represents the individual’'s long position in the ordinary shares or

Dr. Liu is beneficially interested in 139,600,000 ordinary shares or underlying
ordinary shares of the Company, which comprises of (i) 38,207,548 ordinary
shares held by him; (ii) 55,800,000 underlying ordinary shares granted pursuant
to the Share Award Scheme (as defined hereinafter) on 7 October 2021; and
(iii) 45,592,452 underlying ordinary shares granted pursuant to the Share Award
Scheme on 27 September 2022. The above shares are subject to a lock-up period
and the satisfaction of vesting conditions specified in the award notices (as
applicable).

These shares are held by Titan Gas Technology Investment Limited (“Titan
Gas"), a company which is controlled as to 100% by Titan Gas Technology
Holdings Limited (“Titan Gas Holdings"), which is in turn controlled as to
35.21% by Standard Gas Capital Limited (“Standard Gas"), 49.14% by IDG-Accel
China Capital Il L.P. (“IDG-Accel Capital Il L.P.”) and IDG-Accel China Capital Il
“IDG Funds”), 8.05%
by Mr. Wang Jingbo (“Mr. Wang"), 6.87% by Kingsbury International Holdings
Co., Ltd.* (% tt 58 B BX 42 iR AR 17 5 FR 2 1) (“Kingsbury”), and 0.73% by Mr.
Zhang Weiwei. Under the SFO, Titan Gas Holdings, Standard Gas and IDG Funds
are deemed to have interest in the 2,508,745,828 ordinary shares in which Titan
Gas has beneficial interest.

Investors L.P. (“IDG-Accel Investors Il L.P."”) (collectively,

All the issued voting shares in Standard Gas are held by Blazing Success Limited
(“Blazing Success”) which in turn is wholly owned by Mr. Liu Zhihai. Blazing
Success has granted a power of attorney to the board of directors of Standard
Gas which comprise Mr. Wang, Mr. Duan Binjie and Mr. Tan Jue. Under the SFO,
Mr. Tan Jue is deemed to have interest in the ordinary shares in which Standard
Gas has interest.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors

or chief executive of the Company had an interest or short position in

the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any

of its associated corporations that was required to be recorded in the

register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352

of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock

Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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Investors Il L.P.]) (5t & [IDGE £ ]) 1= 4l
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” above,
at no time during FY2024 were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to
any Directors or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of
age, or were any such rights exercised by them, or was the Company,
its holding company, or any of its fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights
in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2025, the following interests in the issued shares and
underlying shares of the Company were recorded in the register of
interests required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO:

Capacity/
Nature of interest

g E@EtE

Ho Chi Sing Interest of controlled
Al &K corporations

R AE R
Zhou Quan Interest of controlled
ks corporations

S AE RS
Beneficial owner
EnEAA

Titan Gas Technology Investment Limited

Titan Gas Technology Holdings Limited Interest of a controlled
corporation

XixE s

EEMARMBREEZET

fr EXTE=R D - HRER D R ERE T
B MRR | —HREEN R=F -
MEEAER SHETRNEFARESEAL
B IBHTA T FREREMBEBEALRR
At R EREMER &N KB TEME
AZEEN MARE  HIERAFRKEE
fa] [R] 5 P /B8 2 RISk P /B 2 B IR B AR H AT &2
B BRSEREUEEMEMEABRERSZ
SHER

FERRRAMALRELFRG R
Mk zED

REZZE-_RAF=A=+—H REARXREE
TR RABBRG 2 A TSR AR R
BIEESMBEEOIEBIKBEAFTEZ
RSB

Number of
ordinary shares  Percentage of the
or underlying Company’s issued

ordinary shares ordinary shares

(Note 1) (Note 2)
B HARARERIT
HEEEREE ZERADHL
(BfFaE) (FfaE2)
2,915,764,171 (L) 39.40%
(Notes 3, 5, 7 and 11)
(MizE3 -5 7% 11)
2,915,764,171 (L) 39.40%
(Notes 3, 5, 7 and 11)
(MizE3 -5 7% 11)
2,508,745,828 (L) 33.90%
(Note 3)
(FFEE3)
2,508,745,828 (L) 33.90%
(Note 3)
(FFEE3)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSON'’S INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

Standard Gas Capital Limited

Kingsbury International Holdings Co., Ltd.*
(R EEBEREERRNER AR

& H B R AR D B IR A A

Wang Jingbo

FER

Duan Binjie
R

IDG-Accel China Capital GP I
Associates Ltd.

IDG-Accel China Capital Il
Associates L.P.

IDG-Accel China Capital Il L.P.

Luo Yuping

EEY

Foxconn Technology Co., Ltd
BEREITERNBRRA A

Capacity/
Nature of interest

6 EEME

Interest of controlled
corporations

R AE R

Interest of controlled
corporations

XA E R

Interest of controlled
corporations

R AE R

Interest of controlled
corporations

R AE R

Interest of controlled
corporations

R AE R

Interest of controlled
corporations

R AE R

Interest of controlled
corporations

R AE R

Interest of controlled
corporations

A E R

Interest of controlled
corporations

A E R
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HRkinzER (&)

Number of
ordinary shares
or underlying
ordinary shares
(Note 1)
EERE
HEEERAE
(Mt=E)

2,508,745,828 (L)
(Notes 3 and 4)

(P 7E3 K 4)
2,508,745,828 (L)
(Notes 3 and 4)
(PF7E3 K& 4)
2,508,745,828 (L)
(Notes 3 and 4)
(PE3 K 4)
2,508,745,828 (L)
(Note 3)

(B&E3)
2,508,745,828 (L)
(Notes 3 and 5)
(MizE3 % 5)
2,508,745,828 (L)
(Notes 3 and 6)
(173 % 6)
2,508,745,828 (L)
(Notes 3 and 6)
(PMi%E3 % 6)
2,508,745,828 (L)
(Notes 3, 4 and 8)
(M47E3 - 4 % 8)
1,485,000,000 (L)
(Note 9)

(Mt7E9)

Percentage of the

Company'’s issued

ordinary shares

(Note 2)

ERAFE BT

EBRBESH

(BfEE2)

33.90%

33.90%

33.90%

33.90%

33.90%

33.90%

33.90%

33.90%

20.06%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER FERFRRAMALTRELFRGR
PERSON'’S INTERESTS IN SHARES AND HRARKzER (2
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

Number of
ordinary shares  Percentage of the
or underlying Company’s issued

Capacity/ ordinary shares ordinary shares

Nature of interest (Note 1) (Note 2)

EERE EARBE BT

HEEERAE EERADL

B HRmHE (BfF=E1) (Fff=E2)

Q-Run Holding Ltd. Interest of controlled 1,188,000,000 (L) 16.05%
corporations (Note 9)
R AE R (MH7E9)

Beneficial owner 297,000,000 (L) 4.01%
E=EA A (Note 9)
(F&E9)

IDG Magic V Fund L.P. Beneficial owner 395,518,343 (L) 5.34%
EnEAA (Note 10)
(BzE10)

IDG Magic V Associates L.P. Interest of controlled 395,518,343 (L) 5.34%
corporations (Note 10)
R AE R (Mt3E10)

IDG Magic V GP Associates Ltd. Interest of controlled 395,518,343 (L) 5.34%

corporations

(Notes 10 and 11)

RErEEsE (BIzE10 R 11)
Notes: MEaE :
The letter “L" represents the individual’s long position in the ordinary shares or 1. FELIBEARER RS AR SRR T @R E -
underlying ordinary shares of the Company.
In the above table, the information on the companies in which the interests are 2. EERP BERRFERENATNER  Z5ER

held, the capacity/nature of such interests and the number of ordinary shares or

underlying ordinary shares is based on information available on the website of the
Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk). The percentage of such ordinary shares
or underlying ordinary shares in the issued ordinary shares of the Company is

calculated with reference to the number of issued ordinary shares of the Company

as at 31 March 2025 and is for reference only.

B 515, M A K B AR sk ARRE LB AR M B TYAR
PR HSE 22 BT 490k (www.hkexnews.hk) £ R] 1§ K& £} o
ZE LA AR L BRIG AR RIE BT EEARK
BOWLNERERRIN_ZE_AF=A=+—HE
BITERRBENE  EHE2ZE -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSON'’S INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

80

Titan Gas is controlled as to 100% by Titan Gas Holdings, which is in turn controlled
as to 35.21% by Standard Gas, 49.14% by the IDG Funds, 8.05% by Mr. Wang,
6.87% by Kingsbury and 0.73% by Mr. Zhang Weiwei. Under the SFO, Titan
Gas Holdings, Standard Gas and IDG Funds are deemed to have interest in the
2,508,745,828 ordinary shares in which Titan Gas has beneficial interest. As at 31
March 2025, Mr. Wang, Mr. Duan Binjie and Mr. Tan Jue are directors of Standard
Gas.

Standard Gas, Mr. Wang and Kingsbury have entered into an acting in concert
arrangement for the purpose of facilitating a more efficient decision making process
in connection with the exercise of their shareholders’ rights in Titan Gas Holdings
pursuant to which, Standard Gas, Kingsbury and Mr. Wang agree to align with each
other in respect of the voting of major actions in respect of Titan Gas Holdings’
business and each of Standard Gas, Mr. Wang and Kingsbury will consult with each
other and reach agreement on material matters of Titan Gas Holdings before it/he
exercises its/his respective voting rights in Titan Gas Holdings, provided that Mr.
Wang will have a casting vote and will have the final decision making power in the
event that a consensus cannot be reached among Standard Gas, Mr. Wang and
Kingsbury. The ordinary shares in which Mr. Wang has interest are 2,508,745,828
ordinary shares of the Company in which Titan Gas has beneficial interest.

The IDG Funds are under the control of their ultimate general partner, IDG-Accel
China Capital GP Il Associates Ltd. (“IDG-Accel Ultimate GP"). Under the SFO,
IDG-Accel Ultimate GP is deemed to have interest in the ordinary shares of the
Company in which the IDG Funds have interest.

IDG-Accel China Capital Il Associates L.P. has control over IDG-Accel China Capital
II' L.P. Under the SFO, IDG-Accel China Capital Il Associates L.P. is deemed to have
interest in the ordinary shares of the Company in which IDG-Accel China Capital Il
L.P. has beneficial interest.

Mr. Ho Chi Sing and Mr. Zhou Quan are directors of IDG-Accel Ultimate GP and
are responsible for decision-making matters relating to the IDG Funds and their
investments, and hence control the exercise of voting rights to the shares that the
IDG Funds hold in Titan Gas Holdings. Therefore they are deemed to have interest
in the ordinary shares of the Company in which IDG-Accel Ultimate GP has interest.

Kingsbury is controlled as to 74.8% by Mr. Luo Yuping. By virtue of the acting in
concert arrangement referred to in Note 4, Mr. Luo Yuping is deemed to have
interest in the ordinary shares of the Company in which Titan Gas Holdings has
interest.
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S IEN49.14% % - B E St A 1EH]8.05% #E A
&t HE4% 51 6.87 % # 25 [ B Zhang Weiwei %t &
EH10.73% #Ezm o IRIRFE S L EE 56 - Titan Gas
Holdings * Standard Gas } IDG £ & # 4% 4 i Titan
Gas i Bas 21 1) 2,508,745,828 [ L B A
R - BE_T-_AF=-A=1+—H TXE &
WS 4 B R %t A4 74 Standard Gas FUE = ©

Standard Gas * T A R SHEERITHERER
Titan Gas Holdings Z B RIEFFT 32 — 1T 2 5 -
UEBE AR ZRR R - BIEZ LB+ Standard
Gas * &t 78 & F % 4 R E R 7 Titan Gas Holdings
¥z EETERRRAEE EK— B M Standard
Gas  FTARARGHEZSEBRBEZFEETER
Titan Gas Holdings 2 1% 5= # A 3t Titan Gas Holdings
CEARFHEERERERGZE EEEESE
Standard Gas * FicE R & T EK L HRFH
—EREMREENEAREORTERE - EEEH
BREFEMN LB ATitan GasEE BSEEIHNAR
7)2,508,745,828 A i A% °

IDGE & X H KK E MBS % AIDG-Accel China

Capital GP Il Associates Ltd. ([IDG-Accel Ultimate

GP ) % - IRIEFH K HE KB - IDG-Accel
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BRPEEER -
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Accel China Capital Il L.P. o 1R F 5 K HA & &5 -
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AIEERPEAER

IS AK St 4 K JBl & St 4 B IDG-Accel Ultimate GP /Y
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSON'’S INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

9. Foxconn Technology Co., Ltd. has control over Q-Run Holding Ltd., which in turn
has direct and indirect controls of 297,000,000 ordinary shares and 1,188,000,000
ordinary shares of the Company, respectively. Under the SFO, Foxconn Technology
Co., Ltd. is deemed to have all the interest in the ordinary shares of the Company in
which Q-Run Holding Ltd. has interest.

10. IDG Magic V Fund L.P. is controlled by IDG Magic V Associates L.P., which is in
turn controlled by IDG Magic V GP Associates Ltd. Under the SFO, IDG Magic V GP
Associates Ltd. and IDG Magic V Associates L.P. are deemed to have interest in
the 395,518,343 ordinary shares of the Company in which IDG Magic V Fund L.P.
has beneficial interest.

11. IDG Magic V GP Associates Ltd. is controlled as to 50% and 50%, respectively,
by Mr. Ho Chi Sing and Mr. Zhou Quan, directors of IDG Magic V GP Associates
Ltd. Therefore, Mr. Ho Chi Sing and Mr. Zhou Quan are deemed to have interest in
the ordinary shares of the Company in which IDG Magic V GP Associates Ltd. has
interest.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, no person, other than
the Directors or chief executives of the Company, whose interests
are set out in the section “Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” above, had an interest or
short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company that
was recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During FY2024, none of the Directors or their respective associates
had engaged in or had any interest in any business which competes or
may compete with the business of the Company.

FERRRAEMALTRELTRGR
HERD R (5

BisE : (48)

9. TSENRE T TR AR A A4 HQ-Run Holding
Ltd. + &% 9 Bl B #5 K # 2 % 2K 2 7] 297,000,000
% & 58 A% 5% 1,188,000,000 f% & 3@ A% - IR IR B H &
MBS BEBEIERG AR D AHKEBR

Q-Run Holding Ltd. # & # % /) 78 A 7 2 &6 & 38 Ak
PR R o

10.  IDG Magic V Fund L.P. 5 IDG Magic V Associates

L.P.3E 4l - i1 1% % B 1DG Magic V GP Associates
Ltd 42 4] - BIRF H K EE &P - IDG Magic V GP

Associates Ltd. & IDG Magic V Associates L P %}i?ﬁ
BRIDG Magic V Fund L.P. % & Bz i NG|
395,518,343 R LB B A

11.  IDG Magic V GP Associates Ltd. % Bl 1 Al 75k 5¢ 4
K A% % 4E (9 AIDG Magic V GP Associates Ltd.
HES) 21H150% Kk 50% o Bt - A& EE
N &2 £ w8 AR IDG Magic V GP Associates
Lid BB SO A QR L RR A EE R o

BREXEBEEN RZE-_AF=A=+—
B BRARRZEFIRSTRAR (E#a
FREXTESKBY - HERD REEET

WEZER KR —&1) I B EE M AL
RARGE Z Rk IEER G PR LSRR A
NAE R E S K I E K55 336 1548 T AT
B ESECMRZERSIORE -
EFNHREEPZES
R-E_NEHF MESFEHESABEA

[RE/EEENNCTES VST A= 3 oS -0k E= O]
7% INBRAXRGHA Tz -
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that the Directors shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason
of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of
their duty, provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter
in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any of the
Directors.

A Directors’ liability insurance is in place to protect the Directors
against potential costs and liabilities arising from claims brought
against the Directors.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
and considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted by
the Company is set out on pages 90 to 112 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float
under the Listing Rules.

2021 SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a share award scheme (the “2021 Share
Award Scheme"”) on 6 August 2021 (the “Adoption Date"”). The
purposes of the 2021 Share Award Scheme were (1) to recognise the
contributions or the future contributions by certain employees and
persons of the Group and to provide them with incentives in order to
retain them for the continual operation and development of the Group,
and (2) to attract suitable personnel for further development of the
Group.

82 PRODUCTIVE TECHNOLOGIES COMPANY LIMITED / Annual Report 2025

3 A TR R 1R 3

METRRANRE EFARARAZEE
Fos S RENMRE  RERBETRE
fEL - AEBHERELERTHMASHA
BREASRY  ZELMBEKATEEESK
KXZ—YDERTH BA H BX-
BERRAX HEEERERETFMHIERA
EEREANEFABECEANFXTHESRE -

ARAREEFHEERR  UAEZHRKA
AERRLBRRNEERA LB ERERE

BUERE
ARRRKEEBUFNMTES 2 FEBY

HHERL YRARMEBLIFATEZTTR
BIYAL e

eRER

AABFFEANEELEERTHENIER
RARERFEIVEE112H o

Dff

#

BRAZARGRE

RAERAY REARAANESZARE
HMESEERM  ARAFAELETRBNRE

MARFIRE -

—E_—FRpEREE

ARRER=_ZF_—FN\AXB ([HRHBH])
Ry —mEBR D EBFE (B —FRHE%
BErE]) —T - —FRHERBFIEEN
REETRERERATHASENERIZRE
BER YR TREUBERSERAEENR
BRERBERUN  RQWEIEGEASHES
AEBE—FHR -



REPORT()FTHE[NRECTORS
SRS

2021 SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

The Eligible Participants under the 2021 Share Award Scheme included
any executives, officers, employees, directors (including executive,
non-executive and independent non-executive Directors) of the
Company or of any subsidiary, whether full time or part time.

The maximum aggregated number of shares permitted to be awarded
under the 2021 Share Award Scheme (the “Awarded Shares”)
throughout the 10-year duration of the 2021 Share Award Scheme
was limited to 4% of the issued share capital of the Company as at
the adoption date (the “Scheme Limit”). The maximum number of
Awarded Shares which may be awarded to a selected participant
under the Share Award Scheme should not exceed 1% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the adoption date (the “Individual
Limit"”). The 2021 Share Award Scheme was terminated upon
adoption of the 2025 Share Award Scheme on 29 April 2025. For the
avoidance of doubt, any granted and unvested award shares under
the 2021 Share Award Scheme shall continue to be valid and vested
in accordance with the terms of the grant and the respective rules of
2021 Share Award Scheme.

On 7 October 2021, 60,120,000 Awarded Shares, representing 0.87 %
of the total shares of the Company then in issue, were granted to
10 employees of the Group pursuant to the terms of the 2021 Share
Award Scheme at nil consideration. Among these Awarded Shares
granted, (1) 50,000 Awarded Shares were vested immediately
following the date of grant, which are subject to a lock-up period and
will be equally released in five tranches from 2022 to 2026; and (2)
the remaining 60,070,000 Awarded Shares shall be vested as follows:
(i) 70,000 Awarded Shares shall be vested in five equal tranches
immediately following each anniversary of the date of grant from 2022
to 2026; and (ii) the remaining 60,000,000 Awarded Shares shall be
vested as follows: (a) 12,000,000 Awarded Shares shall be vested on
30 June 2022; (b) 27,000,000 Awarded Shares shall be vested on 30
June 2023; (c) the remaining 21,000,000 Awarded Shares shall be
vested in three equal tranches on 30 June 2024, 30 June 2025, and
30 June 2026, respectively. The closing price of the shares of the
Company as quoted on the Stock Exchange immediately before the
date of grant was HK$0.99.

“E_—FRHEMEE (5

- FRNERFENGERSEER
BARAHEMMB AR ZEMITHAE -
BRBE EE EF(BEATES  FH
TEZERBIIFRTES) (TR BERE)

BRIEFAIR - —FROHBEEFHE
10F ARRIE - T — —F R RET 2R
Mk ((REBERS]) FSALBERNARFR
RAWBHE HITRANA% ([FHEIRE]) -
RERNDBEEABAIRTEEELRENK

SREROBETEBEBERR 7EAT7I<£WEIHH
BEETRANI% ((BRIRE]) - —F——
FEHBBAER_F_AFHA=-_TANHAH
RA—_Z_AFRMHB@MASTRLE - BR
R RE-_F-_—FROZHAECRE

16314 5K 9 B 0 4 SR AR G AR -
R R R =% = — F R EEH B
SHRBIRE -

RZZE-_—F+AtR BE-_ZT-_—FK
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921JQTET§7T'$%.E’]1O%1EE°EAE&$E'J
SEENA% DA -+ (1) 50,000 % 22 EH A% 1) R B BE IR
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ﬁ%?eoomooo;ﬂ&i&%ﬁﬁ&ﬁ#ﬁ%?ﬁ
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2021 SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

On 14 January 2022, 17,379,000 Awarded Shares, representing 0.25%
of the total shares of the Company then in issue, were granted to
15 employees of the Group pursuant to the terms of the 2021 Share
Award Scheme at nil consideration. The 17,379,000 Awarded Shares
shall be vested in four tranches as follows: (i) 20% shall be vested
on15 August 2022; (ii) 20% shall be vested on 15 July 2023; (i) 256%
shall be vested on 15 July 2024; and (iv) the remaining 35% shall
be vested on 15 July 2025. The closing price of the shares of the
Company as quoted on the Stock Exchange immediately before the
date of grant was HK$1.15.

On 1 August 2022, 28,509,000 Awarded Shares, representing 0.38%
of the total shares of the Company then in issue, were granted to
14 employees of the Group pursuant to the terms of the 2021 Share
Award Scheme at nil consideration. Among these Awarded Shares
granted, (1) 2,200,000 Awarded Shares shall be vested in four tranches
as follows: (i) 20% shall be vested on 15 August 2022; (i) 20% shall
be vested on 15 July 2023; (iii) 25% shall be vested on 15 July 2024;
and (iv) the remaining 35% shall be vested on 15 July 2025; and (2)
the remaining 26,309,000 Awarded Shares shall be vested in three
tranches as follows: (i) 30% shall be vested on 15 July 2023; (ii) 30%
shall be vested on 15 July 2024; and (iii) the remaining 40% shall
be vested on 15 July 2025. The closing price of the shares of the
Company as quoted on the Stock Exchange immediately before the
date of grant was HK$1.20.

On 27 September 2022, 61,415,094 Awarded Shares, representing
0.81% of the total shares of the Company then in issue, were granted
to Dr. Liu Erzhuang (the chairman of the Board and the chief executive
officer of the Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”)) under the
specific mandate as approved at the special general meeting of the
Company held on 27 September 2022 pursuant to the terms of the
2021 Share Award Scheme at nil consideration. The 61,415,094
Awarded Shares shall be vested as follows: (i) 21,792,453 Awarded
Shares shall be vested on 1 August 2023; (i) 11,622,641 Awarded
Shares shall be vested on 31 March 2025; and (iii) the remaining
28,000,000 Awarded Shares shall be vested in four equal tranches on
1 August 2024, 1 August 2025, 1 August 2026, and 1 August 2027,
respectively. The closing price of the shares of the Company as quoted
on the Stock Exchange immediately before the date of grant was
HK$1.25.
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2021 SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

On 10 March 2023, 24,549,980 Awarded Shares,
approximately 0.32% of the total shares of the Company then in issue,

representing

were granted to 45 employees of the Group pursuant to the terms of
the 2021 Share Award Scheme at nil consideration. The 24,549,980
Awarded Shares shall be vested in three tranches as follows: (i) 30%
shall be vested on 15 July 2023; (ii) 30% shall be vested on 15 July
2024; and (iii) the remaining 40% shall be vested on 15 July 2025. The
closing price of the shares of the Company as quoted on the Stock
Exchange immediately before the date of grant was HK$0.93.

On 15 March 2024, 24,668,228 Awarded Shares, representing
approximately 0.33% of the total shares of the Company then in
issue, were granted to 41 employees of the Group pursuant to the
terms of the 2021 Share Award Scheme at nil consideration. The
24,668,228 Awarded Shares shall be vested as follows: (i) 19,405,000
Awarded Shares shall be vested in three tranches as follows: (a) 30%
shall be vested on 15 July 2024; (b) 30% shall be vested on 15 July
2025; and (c) the remaining 40% shall be vested on 15 July 2026;
and (ii) 5,263,228 Awarded Shares shall be vested in three tranches
as follows: (a) 30% shall be vested on 1 April 2025; (b) 30% shall be
vested on 1 April 2026; and (c) the remaining 40% shall be vested on 1
April 2027. The closing price of the shares of the Company as quoted
on the Stock Exchange immediately before the date of grant was
HK$0.335.

The vesting of these Awarded Shares is subject to the satisfaction of
vesting conditions specified in the award notice issued to each of the
respective grantees. The performance targets attached to the Awarded
Shares, which form part of the vesting conditions, include operational
indicators, such as targets for sales revenue, purchase orders and
gross profit margin of semiconductor and solar power equipment,
design of certain tool, etc.
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2021 SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

As at 1 April 2024, being the beginning of FY2024, the number of
awards available for grant under the Scheme Limit was 74,662,327
shares. As at 31 March 2025, being the end of FY2024, and the date
of this annual report, the number of awards available for grant under
the Scheme Limit was nil, and the Company will not make any further
grant of awards under the 2021 Share Award Scheme.
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Forfeited/ As at
Granted in Vested in Lapsedin 31 March
Name of Grantees Date of Grant FY2024 FY2024 (Note 1) FY2024 2025
: j S R=Z-1f
G N 2 i =P =A=t+-H
Connected Grantee
REARA
Dr. LIU Erzhuang 7-Oct-21 21,000,000 - 4,900,000 2,100,000 14,000,000
Z|=itEL “Z--FTAtH (Note 2)
(Fi&E2)
27-Sep-22 39,622,641 - 4,900,000 13,722,641 21,000,000
ZEZZENAZT LA (Note 3)
(Fiz3)
Non-connected Grantees
FEERRA
9 employees of the Group 7-Oct21 21,000 - 5,600 4,200 11,200
FEE9%AER “E--%1A+tH (Note 4)
(Ft3E4)
15 employees of the Group 14-Jan-22 10,024,200 - 3,473,760 982,290 5,568,150
TEE5EES ZECf-AtmA (Note 5)
(FizE5)
14 employees of the Group 1-Aug-22 18,432,900 - 6,518,008 1,702,092 10,212,800
TEE14%EE —“Z--F)\A—H (Note 6)
(Ftzke)
45 employees of the Group 10-Mar-23 12,782,350 - 4,455,560 3,179,389 5,147,401
AEE4pHEE —E--%=-f1A (Note 7)
(Ft3£7)
41 employees of the Group 15-Mar-24 23,560,497 - 4,442,124 12,232,088 6,886,285
TEENZEE “Z-WE=A+%H (Note 8)
(Fizk8)
Total 125,443,588 - 28,695,052 33,922,700 62,825,836
-
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2021 SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

Note 5:

Note 6:

Note 7:

The weighted average closing price of shares of the Company immediately before
the dates on which the Awarded Shares were vested to Director and employees
under the 2021 Share Award Scheme (i.e. 30 June 2024, 15 July 2024, 1 August
2024, 7 October 2024, and 31 March 2025) was HK$0.262.

2,100,000 Awarded Shares were not vested on the relevant vesting date due to
certain vesting conditions (including performance targets) not being met during
FY2023, and became returned shares for the purposes of the 2021 Share Award
Scheme.

13,722,641 Awarded Shares were not vested on the relevant vesting date due to
certain vesting conditions (including performance targets) not being met during
FY2023, and became returned shares for the purposes of the 2021 Share Award
Scheme.

1,400 Awarded Shares were not vested on the relevant vesting date due to
certain vesting conditions (including performance targets) not being met during
FY2023. One of the 10 employees, prior to the relevant vesting date, ceased to
be an eligible participant under the Share Award Scheme and the related 2,800
Awarded Shares were not vested on the relevant vesting date. Therefore, a total
of 4,200 Awarded Shares became returned shares for the purposes of the 2021
Share Award Scheme.

702,990 Awarded Shares were not vested on the relevant vesting date due to
certain vesting conditions (including performance targets) not being met during
FY2023. Three of the 15 employees, prior to the relevant vesting date, ceased to
be an eligible participant under the Share Award Scheme and the related 279,300
Awarded Shares were not vested on the relevant vesting date. Therefore, a total
of 982,290 Awarded Shares became returned shares for the purposes of the 2021
Share Award Scheme.

1,366,092 Awarded Shares were not vested on the relevant vesting date due to
certain vesting conditions (including performance targets) not being met during
FY2023. Two of the 14 employees, prior to the relevant vesting date, ceased to
be an eligible participant under the Share Award Scheme and the related 336,000
Awarded Shares were not vested on the relevant vesting date. Therefore, a total
of 1,702,092 Awarded Shares became returned shares for the purposes of the
2021 Share Award Scheme.

835,689 Awarded Shares were not vested on the relevant vesting date due to
certain vesting conditions (including performance targets) not being met during
FY2023. Sixteen of the 45 employees, prior to the relevant vesting date, ceased to
be eligible participants under the Share Award Scheme and the related 2,343,700
Awarded Shares were not vested on the relevant vesting date. Therefore, a total
of 3,179,389 Awarded Shares became returned shares for the purposes of the
2021 Share Award Scheme.
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2021 SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

Note 8: 1,110,576 Awarded Shares were not vested on the relevant vesting date due to

certain vesting conditions (including performance targets) not being met during
FY2023. Five of the 41 employees, prior to the relevant vesting date, ceased to be
eligible participants under the Share Award Scheme and the related 11,121,512
Awarded Shares were not vested on the relevant vesting date. Therefore, a total
of 12,232,088 Awarded Shares became returned shares for the purposes of the
2021 Share Award Scheme.

During FY2024, the Company did not issue any Awarded Shares.

For details of the Share Award Scheme and the grant of Awarded
Shares, please refer to Note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements, the announcements of the Company dated 6 August
2021, 7 October 2021, 14 January 2022, 1 August 2022, 27 September
2022, 10 March 2023 and 15 March 2024, and the circular of the
Company dated 6 September 2022.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

Details of the environmental policy and performance of the Group are
set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages
113 to 206 of this annual report.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS
AND CUSTOMERS

Details of the relationships of the Group with employees, suppliers and
customers are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report on pages 113 to 206 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

In FY2024, as far as the Company is aware, there was no material
breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations
by the Group that have significant impact on their businesses and
operations.
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AUDITORS

Pursuant to the resolution passed at the annual general meeting of the
Company on 30 August 2024, the Company re-appointed KPMG as the
auditor of the Company.

The Company has not changed its auditor from FY2022 to FY2024.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holdings, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any
rights in relation to, the shares of the Company, they are advised to
consult an expert.

NON-COMPETITION DEED

As disclosed in the RTO Circular, each of the Controlling
Shareholders(as defined in the RTO Circular) and Lin Dongliang
(together, the “Covenantors”) have entered into a Non-Competition
Deed (as defined in the RTO Circular) in favour of the Company (for
itself and for the benefit of its subsidiaries). With reference to the
RTO Circular, the Company organised a working meeting with the
Covenantors in which the Company reviewed their business portfolios
and considered that there was no opportunity to operate a Restricted
Business (as defined in the RTO Circular).

The Company has received confirmations from each of the
Covenantors on full compliance with the Non-Competition Deed for
FY2024. The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the confirmations provided by the Covenantors, and concluded that
each of the Covenantors complied with the relevant terms of the Non-
Competition Deed for FY2024.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Liu Erzhuang
Chairman

Hong Kong
27 June 2025
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to achieving high standards of
corporate governance and has always recognised the importance of
accountability, transparency and protection of Shareholders’ interest
in general. The Company has adopted the code provisions of the CG
Code set out in Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as its own
corporate governance policy, subject to amendments from time to
time.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company had complied with all
applicable code provisions of the CG Code throughout FY2024,
except for the code provision C.2.1, which stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. The roles of chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer are borne concurrently by Dr. Liu Erzhuang
("Dr. Liu") to improve the efficiency of decision-making and execution
process of the Company. Accordingly, the Company has deviated from
code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code. Notwithstanding the above, the
Board believes that the balance of power and authority is adequately
ensured by the operation of the Board, which comprises experienced
talents with a sufficient number of independent non-executive
Directors, and therefore, the performance of the roles of the chairman
of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer concurrently by Dr. Liu
will not impair the balance of power and authority between the Board
and the management of the Company and the deviation from code
provision C.2.1 of the CG Code is appropriate in such circumstance.

90 PRODUCTIVE TECHNOLOGIES COMPANY LIMITED / Annual Report 2025

ATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BFLRE

of
o

Al

ARBBNEBRRKFLEER B—RAR
FREERE BRUEMMRERRERNGE
EE2M - ARBEHEMEMRAMECIEE
ERTRE Mo 2 TAGXIERES
SMERERRR R ETEER -

EZERA R-_Z_IMF AQFR—H
BTRFEEIBTRIZHABER ST AR - #

PRI ER C.2. 1 IRER SN - RIGXRE EE )
BRATEZABATHIR TEAR—A
BEE-EZXTRNREFRATENREHE
“ABE(8EL) AKEL RiEsAR
AIRREBITBREORE - Bl - KRAFH
BRImBEEEE A TRIT AR EC2.1GM1E
Mo-BENL EREFSTHEREEN
EBMATHEK BEFERRRNABNEBEL
FATEE MEZTSHE EFTQZER
RNERENDREESE DM - Fit - 2118
TRKETEZSS IR MERRITE NS
BEANREZSHERE ZHNE N MK
R & - U BN RS X E 85T Al
A EC2 GV BIRE -



CORPOR
ON

/\_LI_\ VA, Yoy

EEAWmE

|_—|_

BUSINESS MODEL AND STRATEGY

The past year has been one of the most challenging periods for the
Company. Although the economic recovery has brought about a
rebound in oil and gas demand, control of the supply side to digest
inventories, and oil and gas prices continue to rise, the trend of
domestic and global low-carbonization is irreversible, countries
strictly adhere to ESG, and the geopolitics of Russia and Ukraine
have led European countries to accelerate their efforts to get rid of
oil and gas and other routines energy, the uncertainty of running a
traditional energy business has not gone away. As a result, clean
energy demand has been proved resilient in comparison to fossil
fuel demand, and the Company considers to pursue the investment
strategy with decarbonization, other green asset opportunities which
included but not limited to advanced manufacturing assets. In FY2024,
the Company made substantial progress on the semiconductor and
solar cell segment, including the investment in the production base
setting up production lines for semiconductor and solar cell cleaning
equipment. This allows the Company to tap into the very lucrative
market segment leveraging on the knowledge, experience, business
resources of the new management team for this business line.

The Company will continue to explore and evaluate new investment
opportunities, covering its existing business sectors, including but not
limited to the advanced manufacturing, with a view to maximizing its
resources utilization and Shareholders’ return.

Meanwhile, the Company shall continue to pay close attention to
the market environment and consider potentially exiting its mature
investments so as to seize opportunity and realize value.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises 8 Directors,
including 3 executive Directors (Dr. Liu Erzhuang (Chairman), Mr. Tan
Jue and Mr. Liu Zhihai), 2 non-executive Directors (Mr. Cao Xiaohui and
Mr. Lin Yukai), and 3 independent non-executive Directors (Ms. Ge Aliji,
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David and Mr. Wang Guoping). The biographical
details of the Directors are set out in the section “Directors’ and Senior
Management's Biographies” on pages 57 to 65 of this annual report.

One of the independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Chau Shing Yim
David, is a professional accountant and that is in compliance with the
requirement of the Listing Rules. There are also 3 committees under
the Board, which are the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee.

The key responsibilities of the Board include, among other things,
formulating the Company’s overall strategies, setting management
targets, regulating and reviewing internal controls, formulating the
Company’s corporate governance policy, supervising management's
performance while the day-to-day operations and management
of the Company are delegated by the Board to management, and
ensuring adequacy of resources, qualifications, experience and training
programs and budget of the financial staff.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, at each annual general
meeting of the Company one-third of the Directors for the time being
or, if the number of the Directors is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by
rotation, provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

As at the date of this annual report, each of the executive Directors,
non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors is
appointed for a specific term of not more than 3 years and is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the Company's annual general
meeting in accordance with the Articles of Association and the Listing
Rules. At the forthcoming AGM, Mr. Liu Zhihai, Mr. Lin Yukai, Mr.
Chau Shing Yim David and Mr. Wang Guoping will retire from office
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM. To
determine the independent non-executive Directors’ independence,
assessments are carried out upon appointment, annually and at any
other time where the circumstances warrant reconsideration by the
Nomination Committee. The Company has received from each of
the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of
independence and considers all of the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

Every newly appointed Director will be given an introduction so as to
ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the Company's
business and of his/her duties and responsibilities under the Listing
Rules and the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements.
The Directors may request the Company to provide independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense to discharge his/her
duties to the Company. Directors’ training is an ongoing process.
During FY2024, the Company had provided all Directors with regular
updates and presentations on changes and developments to the
Company’s business and to the legislative regulatory environments in
which the Group operates. All Directors are also encouraged to attend
relevant training courses at the Company’s expense. All Directors
are required to provide the Company with their training record during
FY2024.

Mr. Lin Yukai, who was appointed as a non-executive Director with
effect from 27 June 2025, had obtained the legal advice referred to in
Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules from the Company’s legal advisor on
27 June 2025 and has confirmed he understood his obligations as a
Director.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

During FY2024, the Board has reviewed and monitored the training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management. The Board has also reviewed and ensured compliance of
the relevant legal and regulatory requirements, the code of conducts,
the CG Code and the disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements and ensuring that the financial statements are
prepared as to give a true and fair view and on a going concern basis
in accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable financial
reporting standards.

The Company understands that the independence of the Board is
essential to good corporate governance. The Board has established
a mechanism to enable Directors to seek independent professional
advice to make decisions when exercising their duties as Directors,
ensuring that the Board has a strong independent element, which is
the key to an effective Board.

According to the mechanism, with the prior approval of the executive
Directors (without unreasonable refusal or delay of approval), the
Directors may, where appropriate, seek independent legal, financial or
other professional advice from advisers independent of the Company
as necessary to enable them to perform their duties effectively.

The Board will review the mechanism annually to ensure its
implementation and effectiveness.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
and Mr. Wang Guoping, and one non-executive Director, namely Mr.
Cao Xiaohui.

Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee is required, among
other things, to oversee the relationship with the independent auditor,
to review the interim and annual consolidated financial statements,
to monitor compliance with statutory and listing requirements,
to ensure adequacy of resources, qualifications, experience and
training programs and budget of the financial staff, and to oversee
the Company's financial reporting system, risk management and
internal control systems. The Audit Committee is also responsible for
facilitating the risk assessment process and timely communication
with the Board where appropriate, and ensuring key business and
operational risks are properly identified and managed.

The terms of reference for the Audit Committee have been adopted
in line with the CG Code. The written terms of reference of the Audit
Committee are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company.

During FY2024, the Audit Committee, among other matters, reviewed
interim/annual results and reports from the independent auditor
regarding the audit on annual consolidated financial statements,
discussed the risk management and internal control of the Group, and
met with the independent auditor. The Audit Committee reviewed
the scope, extent and effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems of the Group.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Ge Aiji (Chairman) and Mr. Wang
Guoping, and one executive Director, namely Dr. Liu Erzhuang.

Under its terms of reference, the Nomination Committee is
responsible for determining the policy for the nomination of Directors,
identifying potential Directors and making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors. Potential
new Directors are selected on the basis of their qualifications, skills
and experience which the Nomination Committee considers he/she
will make a positive contribution to the performance of the Board.

The terms of reference for the Nomination Committee have been
adopted in line with the CG Code. The written terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

The Nomination Committee is also responsible for the review of
the Board's diversity policy, considering factors including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service of
Board members, reviewing the measurable objectives that the Board
has set for implementing the Board's diversity policy, and monitoring
the progress on achieving the measurable objectives.

During FY2024, the Nomination Committee reviewed the structure,
size and composition (including the skills set, knowledge and
experience) of the Board and the board diversity policy of the
Company, and performed an assessment on the independence of
all the independent non-executive Directors with the conclusion that
all of them are independent. It also evaluated the performance and
contribution of the retiring Directors and recommended them to the
Board on their re-elections at the AGM.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
and Ms. Ge Aiji, and one executive Director, namely Mr. Tan Jue.

Under the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee,
the responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include, inter
alia, assisting the Company in the administration of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies, making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management and ensuring
that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in deciding his/
her own remuneration, assessing performance of executive Directors,
approving the term of executive Directors’ service contracts, and
reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The terms of reference for the Remuneration Committee have been
adopted in line with the CG Code. The written terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee are available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

During FY2024, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and approved
the remunerations of the Directors and the senior management of
the Company, and recommended the same to the Board for approval.
The Remuneration Committee also reviewed the grant of Awarded
Shares during FY2024 and the relevant matters including the vesting
schedules and vesting conditions for each of the grantees, and
recommended the same to the Board for approval.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a board diversity policy setting out the approach to
achieve diversity on the Board. The Company considered diversity of
Board members can be achieved through consideration of a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. All Board appointments are based on merit
and contribution, and candidates are considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
The Nomination Committee reviews the diversity policy on an annual
basis and discusses any such revisions that may be required, and
recommends any such revisions to the Board for consideration
and approval. As at 31 March 2025, the Board comprised six male
members and one female member. The Board considers itself diverse
in terms of gender.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (continued)

Measurable objectives and progress: The Company has set
measurable objectives for implementing the diversity policy, including
increasing the representation of women across the organization. The
Company has made significant progress in achieving these objectives
and has increased the percentage of women in leadership positions.
The Company continues to track progress against these objectives.

Achieving gender diversity on the Board: The Company is committed
to achieving gender diversity on the Board and has one Board seat out
of seven held by a woman since 2018.

Numerical targets and timelines for the Board: The Company has set
numerical targets and timelines for achieving gender diversity on the
Board, including the goal of having around 40% of Board seats held by
women by 2025 and achieving gender parity by 2030.

Developing a pipeline of potential successors: The Company has
implemented measures to develop a pipeline of potential successors
to the Board to achieve gender diversity, including identifying and
developing women leaders within the Company. Gender ratio in the
workforce: As at 31 March 2025, the Company had 339 full-time
employees in total comprising 51 females and 288 males (a female-
to-male ratio of approximately 1 to 5.6), reflecting a global diversity
across the workforce of the Group. While the Company recognizes
that there is room for improvement, the Company remains committed
to increasing the representation of women in senior leadership roles
and will continue to implement training and development programs to
support the growth and advancement of women leaders with in the
Company.

The Group is mindful of the importance of diversity, including gender
diversity, when assessing the candidacy of its employees, and will
ensure that the Group shall continue to follow its commitment to
diversity.
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BOARD NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has formalised the Company's existing approach and
procedures and adopted a Board nomination policy in March 2020 to
ensure that, with the support of the Nomination Committee, proper
selection and nomination processes are in place for the appointment
of additional and replacing Directors and re-election of Directors.

As noted above, the Nomination Committee will, on an ad hoc basis,
recommend candidates who possess the relevant expertise as it
considers appropriate when the need to select, nominate or re-elect
Directors arises. In the determination of the suitability of a candidate,
the Nomination Committee will consider the potential contribution a
candidate can bring to the Board in terms of skills set, experience,
expertise, independence, age, culture, ethnicity, gender and such other
factors that it may consider appropriate for a position on the Board.
The Nomination Committee will provide updated information and
status of progress to the Board throughout the determination process
as and when appropriate. The Board will take into consideration the
benefits of a diversified Board when selecting Board candidates.

Where a retiring Director, being eligible, offers himself/herself
for re-election, the Nomination Committee will consider and, if
appropriate, recommend such retiring Director to stand for re-election
at an annual general meeting. A circular containing the requisite
information on such retiring Director will be sent to Shareholders prior
to an annual general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules.
Shareholders may nominate a person to stand for election as a Director
at a general meeting in accordance with the Articles of Association and
applicable laws and regulations including those of the Listing Rules.
The procedures for such proposal are posted on the website of the
Company.

The Board nomination policy is available on the website of the
Company. The Board will from time to time review the Board
Nomination Policy and monitor its implementation to ensure its
continued effectiveness and compliance with regulatory requirements
and good corporate governance practices.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS AT MEETINGS BmHECS

The attendance records of each Director at the various meetings of the R-ZZE B F KEEHEARAIZRE
Company during FY2024 are set out below: B2

Attended/Eligible to Attend
BHRE/REREE

Audit Nomination Remuneration

General Board committee committee committee

meeting meetings meetings meeting meeting

E=g ENZEY REZEg FMZEEE

BRAE = =] - -]

Number of meeting(s) SHINE 1 4 2 1 1

Executive Directors HITEZE

Dr. Liu Erzhuang AL 1 4/4 N/ATNE A 11 N/AT 4 F

Mr. Tan Jue EEL e 1n 4/4 N/ANE A N/ATNE A n

Mr. Liu Zhihai AmBEE 11 4/4 N/ATE A N/ATNE A N/AT i
Non-executive Directors FHITEE

Mr. Cao Xiaohui X s 11 4/4 2/2 N/ATNE A N/AT i F

Mr. Lin Yukai MERSL s & N/AT i F N/AT i F N/AT i F N/AZ 4 F N/ANE A

Independent Non-executive BIHHITEE

Directors
Ms. Ge Aij B lnt " 4 NATER " "
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David BEREE 10 414 2/2 N/AiE A A
Mr. Wang Guoping TEFLE 1 4/4 2/2 1 N/ANE A

Mr. Lin Yukai was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect MEEILER S -_FF AT LHEZ
from 27 June 2025. ERIFEHNITESE -
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to the CG Code, all Directors should participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills during the year. This is to ensure that their contributions to the
Board remains informed and relevant.

All Directors have been provided with training on their duties and
responsibilities as a director of a listed company and the compliance
issues under the Listing Rules. The Company continuously updates
Directors on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure their compliance
and enhance their awareness of their continuing obligations as
Directors and good corporate governance practices.

During FY2024, all Directors (namely Dr. Liu Erzhuang, Mr. Tan Jue,
Mr. Liu Zhihai, Mr. Cao Xiaohui, Ms. Ge Aiji, Mr. Chau Shing Yim David
and Mr. Wang Guoping) have received trainings by reading relevant
materials on topics relating to corporate governance and regulations,
and have provided the joint company secretaries of the Company with
their training records for FY2024.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the

collective responsibility of Directors and the corporate governance

duties include:

(a)

(b)

to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the
Company;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure

for formulating policies on remuneration of Directors and senior

management. Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for

FY2024 are set out in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION (continued) {2 EAREE (&)

The senior management’s remuneration for FY2024 is within the SHREBAER-_ZE-_MNBHENHMNF T
following bands: 58 fE

Number of
individuals

Emolument bands

HK$2,000,001-HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7 75 % 2,500,000 7 7T 1
HK$14,500,001-HK$15,000,000 14,500,001 78 7T & 15,000,000 % 7T 1
2

Further particulars regarding the Directors and senior management's 1R E 8 B SkD2 B FHENEE LS
emoluments and the five highest paid employees as required to be MRERAENME R AR RS HFMA TA#

disclosed pursuant to Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules are set out in  — F B NR A B BIRRMTE11, 12 %
Notes 11, 12 and 35(a) to the consolidated financial statements. 35(a) °
AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION B Eh Bl &

For FY2024, services provided to the Group by KPMG, the existing RZ-ZT N8 F AR aRETZEEE S E
auditor of the Company, and the respective fees paid and payable E:MIEEAMBAEERHOBRELEEAD
were: HRENERAR

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLFE
2025 2024

—ZE_RHEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THT

Audit services ZH AR 75 1,528 1,990
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules to regulate the Directors’ securities transactions.

Having made specific enquiries by the Company, all Directors have
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard set out
in the Model Code throughout FY2024.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

The Company has appointed Mr. Qin Yifeng and Ms. Ng Sau Mei (“Ms.
Ng"”) as the joint company secretaries of the Company (the “Joint
Company Secretaries”). Ms. Ng is the director of the Listing Services
Department of TMF Hong Kong Limited (a company secretarial service
provider), the contact person of Ms. Ng in the Company is Mr. Qin
Yifeng.

The Joint Company Secretaries report to the chairman of the Board
and are responsible for advising the Board on governance matters,
new Director’s induction and professional development of Directors as
well as ensuring good information flow between the Board members
and the compliance of the policy and procedure of the Board.

In FY2024, the Joint Company Secretaries had undertaken no less than
15 hours of relevant professional training.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Responsibility of the Board

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining the Company's
systems of risk management and internal control and reviewing
their effectiveness. The systems of risk management and internal
control systems of the Company are designed to provide reasonable
assurance to minimise risk of failure in operational systems, and
to assist in the achievement of the Company’s goals. The systems
are also structured to safeguard the Company’s assets, to ensure
the maintenance of proper accounting records and compliance with
applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)

Responsibility of the Board (continued)

The Audit Committee has the final authority to review and approve the
annual audit plan and all major changes to the plan. In addition, special
reviews may also be performed on areas of concern identified by
management from time to time.

The Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

The Company adopted the three lines of defence model in the
management of risk. Operational management forms the core of the
first line of defence as they contact with the risk sources in the first
place. They are responsible for identifying, reporting and preliminarily
managing risks in their daily operations. Our second line of defence
is aimed to facilitate and monitor the implementation of effective risk
management practices by operational management throughout the
Company. Our internal audit function is the core of the third line of
defence and mainly responsible for checking, auditing and monitoring
the work performed by the first and second lines of defence.

The Company's risks are identified from business processes in
our established enterprise-wide risk assessment methodologies.
Key responsible personnel for the management of risk in each of
the business process are selected as interviewees to identify the
risks to form our risk universe. Each risk within the risk universe is
assessed in terms of likelihood of occurrence and the significance
of impact, taken into account the current internal controls in place
to mitigate these risks. The risk assessment results are reported to
senior management and the Board for them to evaluate whether
risks have been appropriately managed and decide on our priorities
in risk management, based on their preferences towards risk, and
in particular how much risks the Company is willing to take for the
achievement of its strategy and business objectives, the availability of
resources for risk mitigation, and the effectiveness of current internal
control system.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)

The Risk Management and Internal Control Systems
(continued)

The key components of the Company’s control structure are as
follows:

Culture: The Board believes that good governance reflects the culture
of an organization. The Company aims at all times to act ethically
and with integrity, and to instill this behaviour in all its employees
by setting example by the Board. The Company has a code of
conduct, which is posted on its internal intranet site. The Company is
committed to developing and maintaining high professional and ethical
standards. These are reflected in the rigorous selection process and
career development plans for all employees. The organization prides
itself on being a long-term employer which instils in individuals, as
they progress through the Company, a thorough understanding of the
Company’s ways of thinking and acting.

Channels of communication are clearly established which allow
employees to express their views to senior staff. Employees are
aware that, whenever the unexpected occurs, attention should be
given not only to the event itself, but also to determining the cause.
Through the Company’s code of conduct, employees are encouraged
(and instructed as to how) to report control deficiencies or suspicions
of impropriety to those who are in a position to take necessary action.

Risk assessment: The Board and the management each has
a responsibility to identify and analyse the risks underlying the
achievement of business objectives, and to determine how such risks
should be managed and mitigated. The management, among other
matters, is responsible for facilitating risk assessment process and
timely communication to the Board where appropriate, and ensuring
that key business and operational risks are properly identified and
managed.

Management structure: The Company has a clear organizational
structure that, to the extent required, delegates the day-to-day
responsibility for the design, documentation and implementation of
procedures and monitoring of risk. Individuals appreciate where they
will be held accountable in this process.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)

The Risk Management and Internal Control Systems
(continued)

Controls and review: The control environment comprises policies and
procedures intended to ensure that relevant management directives
are carried out and actions that may be needed to address risks
are taken. These may include approvals and verifications, reviews,
safeguarding of assets and segregation of duties. Control activities can
be divided into operations, financial reporting and compliance, although
there may, on occasion, be some overlap between them. The typical
control activities adopted by the Company include:

— analytical reviews: for example, conducting reviews of actual
performance versus budgets, forecasts, prior periods and
competitors.

— direct functional or activity management: reviews of performance
reports, conducted by managers in charge of functions or
activities.

— information-processing: performing controls intended to
check the authorisation of transactions and the accuracy and
completeness of their reporting, for example, exception reports.

—  physical controls: ensuring equipment, inventories, securities and
other assets are safeguarded and subject to periodic checks.

— performance indicators: carrying out analyses of different sets
of data, operational and financial, examining the relationships
between them, and taking corrective action where necessary.

—  segregation of duties: dividing and segregating duties among
different people, with a view to strengthening checks and
minimising the risk of errors and abuse.

— hedging: place the Company in a hedged position, protecting it
from a decline in the oil price over the stipulated period of time.

The Company has in place effective processes and systems for
the identification, capture and reporting of operational, financial and
compliance-related information in a form and time frame intended to
ensure that staff carry out their designated responsibilities.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)

The Risk Management and Internal Control Systems
(continued)

Any material internal control defects identified are timely communicated
and carefully evaluated for their potential impacts. The departments or
functions who are owners of these controls, are required to propose
corrective measures and obtain approval from management before
implementation. The implementation statues are monitored by both
management and the internal audit function to ensure these control
defects are properly resolved in a timely manner. The Company
has also established policies and procedures for the handling and
dissemination of inside information. The information to be disclosed
should be properly reviewed and approved by our compliance functions
and management to ensure its appropriateness and accuracy, and is
closely monitored after disclosure.

In the forthcoming financial year, the Company plans to use its
best endeavor to continuously refine our risk management and
internal control systems whenever necessary, which would include
the establishment of a more formalised risk response process,
improvements to be made in control design and execution in high risk
areas identified through our annual risk assessment, and a mechanism
to monitor the resolution of control deficiencies, to mention but a few.

Internal Audit Function

The Company’s internal audit department plays a major role in the
monitoring of the Company’s internal governance processes. The
major tasks of the department include providing assurance on the
effectiveness of the Company’'s governance, risk management
and internal controls in areas of operations, safeguarding of assets,
reporting, and compliance, and conducting risk-based audits of all
branches and subsidiaries of the Company on a regular basis with
recommended action plans to audit findings. The department also
provides suggestion in risk management and internal control related
issues within the Company.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)

Review of the Effectiveness and Adequacy of Systems

The management prepares and submits reports to the Board in risk and
control related issues at least annually, detailing how risks have been
managed and internal controls have been designed and implemented
in accordance with the established risk and control frameworks, to
keep our overall risk exposures within risk appetite and achieve our
business objectives. The Board reviews the reasonableness of these
reports and representations from management and makes sufficient
enquiries whenever they feel necessary, before reaching their
conclusions.

In respect of FY2024, the Board and the Audit Committee conducted
annual review of the effectiveness of the risk management and
the internal control system of the Company covering the finance,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions.
Based on the review, the Board considered that the Company's
risk management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate for its present requirements.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing financial
statements for each financial period with a view to ensuring such
financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and of the results and cash flows for that period. The
Company’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with all
relevant statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
The Directors are responsible for ensuring that appropriate accounting
policies are selected and applied consistently; and that judgments and
estimates made are prudent and reasonable. The statement of the
external auditor of the Company, KPMG, with regard to their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in
the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 207 to 214 of this annual
report.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company communicates with the Shareholders through the
publication of annual and interim reports, announcements and
circulars. The annual general meeting also provides a useful and
convenient forum for Shareholders to exchange views with the Board,
and with each other. At the annual general meeting, the chairperson
of the annual general meeting and chairman/member/duly appointed
delegate of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee are available to answer the questions
raised by Shareholders.

The Company’s view of the implementation and effectiveness of
the shareholders’ communication policy conducted during FY2024
is positive. The Company has received feedback from Shareholders
through various channels, including the annual general meeting,
and has responded promptly and appropriately to all queries and
concerns raised. The Company believes that open and transparent
communication with Shareholders is essential to building trust and
maintaining a strong and sustainable relationship. The Company
regularly reviews its communication policy to ensure that it remains
effective and responsive to the needs of Shareholders. Based on the
positive feedback received and the Company’s ongoing commitment
to open and transparent communication, the Company concludes
that its Shareholders’ communication policy has been implemented
effectively and has been successful in achieving its objectives.

The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements
of the Group for FY2024.

An annual general meeting of the Company shall be held each year
at a place as determined by the Board. A general meeting, other than
an annual general meeting, shall be called an extraordinary general
meeting.

The Board reviewed the effectiveness and implementation of the
Company's Shareholders’ communication policy during FY2024 and
considered that it remained effective in enhancing timely, transparent,
accurate and open communication between the Company and the
Shareholders.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT TO PROPOSE
RESOLUTIONS AT GENERAL MEETING

(i) Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-twentieth of the total
voting rights of all Shareholders having the right to vote at the general
meeting; or (ii) not less than 100 Shareholders, can submit a written
request stating the resolution intended to be moved at an annual
general meeting; or a statement of no more than 1,000 words with
respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the
business to be dealt with at a particular general meeting.

The written request/statements must be signed by the Shareholder(s)
concerned and deposited at the Company’s registered office at
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
1111, Cayman lIslands and its principal office at Unit 5507, 55/F, The
Center, 99 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong, for the attention of
the Joint Company Secretaries, not less than six weeks before an
annual general meeting in the case of a requisition requiring notice of
a resolution and not less than one week before the general meeting in
the case of any other requisition.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING

According to the Articles of Association and the Companies Act of the
Cayman lIslands, an extraordinary general meeting shall be convened
by the Board on the requisition of one or more Shareholders’ holding,
at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the secretary of the Company and deposited at the registered office
of the Company. Such meeting shall be held within 2 months after
the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) (or any of them representing more than one
half of the total voting rights held by all of the requisitionists) may
do so in the same manner (as nearly as possible). Any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of 3 months from the
date of deposit of the requisition. All reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT
ENQUIRES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong. In
respect of other enquiries, Shareholders may put forward enquiries to
the Board through the below contact details for handling. The contact
details are as follows:

Address: Unit 5507, 55/F., The Center

99 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong
Tel No.:  (852) 3903 1326
Fax No.: (852) 2541 5562

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.

VOTING BY POLL

All resolutions put forward at Shareholder's meetings will be voted
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange after each
Shareholder’s meeting.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The memorandum and articles of association of the Company (the
“Memorandum and Articles of Association”) have been amended
on 29 April 2025 to, amongst other things, (a) bring the Memorandum
and Articles of Association in line with the regulatory requirements in
relation to the expanded paperless listing regime and the electronic
dissemination of corporate communications by listed issuers and the
relevant amendments made to the Listing Rules which took effect on
31 December 2023; (b) allow the Company to hold treasury shares;
and (c) make other consequential and housekeeping changes. The
latest version of the Memorandum and Articles of Association are
available from the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
7 February 2025 and the circular of the Company dated 14 April 2025
published on the websites of the Company (www.pdt-techs.com) and
the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

Save as disclosed above, there was no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents during FY2024.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

This is the ninth Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG")
Report issued by Productive Technologies Company Limited (the
“Company”). This report mainly introduces the Company and its
subsidiaries’ (the “Group”) policies and measures regarding ESG
issues and is meant to strengthen communication and engagement
with internal and external stakeholders.

Reporting Scope
The Group is engaged in the business of productivity-driven equipment
applied in semiconductor and solar cell businesses. It also operates
an oil and gas production project in the People’s Republic of China
(the “"PRC"). As at 31 March 2025, the Company commenced
businesses in development and manufacturing of innovative Wafer
Fabrication Equipment (“WFE") and solar cell production equipment.
WFE comprises high-end single wafer cleaning and low pressure
chemical vapor deposition (“LPCVD") equipment for front-end
wafer processing. Solar cell production equipment includes wet
chemical cleaning equipment and copper plating equipment. The
Company has established and acquired companies in China and
abroad for the operation, R&D, and manufacturing of the above-
mentioned businesses (among which LPCVD equipment is currently
under development), which mainly include Productive Technologies
(Shanghai) Limited* (LB EEZRF+ERRBEAR L F) ("PDT
Shanghai”), Productive Technologies (Xuzhou) Limited* (& i%ﬂf
B (M) B R A7) (“PDT Xuzhou"), Xinkai Semiconductor
Equipment (Xuzhou) Co., Ltd.* (RS FBEXEB (RN BREER

A]) (“Xinkai"), Britech Semiconductor Equipment (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.
(“Britech”), Productive Equipment Technologies (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.*
(PBEEFRRERIREARRAF)
Solar Technologies (Yiwu) Co., Ltd.*

(“PDT Technologies”), and Rena
M ABREMBRES)ARA
Al) (“Rena Yiwu"). Xilin Gol League Hongbo Mining Development
Company Limited* (M BEHRERERZERA

Mining”) is a subsidiary of the Company engaged in sale of crude oil.

) (“"Hongbo

This report covers the Group, and there is no change in disclosure of
the reporting scope compared to the previous report.

*  For identification purposes only
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Time Range
The Company’s ESG report is an annual report and this report is for the
period from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025.

Principle of Preparation
This report is prepared according to the following principles:

Materiality: We identified key ESG issues through materiality
assessment, the process and results of which have been disclosed in
this report;

Quantitative: In accordance with the “key performance indicators”
of the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set
out in Appendix C2 to the Guide to the Listing Rules on the Stock
Exchange, the Company and its subsidiaries made quantitative
disclosures of key performance indicators with historical data in the
“environmental” and “social” categories;

Consistency: We follow a consistent approach for disclosure statistics,
and we use the same method for ESG information disclosure in
subsequent years to facilitate meaningful comparisons from year to
year.

Basis of Preparation

This report is prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “"ESG
Reporting Guide") of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).
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STATEMENT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) and all its
members assume full responsibility for the Company’s ESG strategy
and ESG reporting and are responsible for assessing and determining
the Company’s ESG risks and ensuring that the Company and its
subsidiaries have appropriate and effective ESG risk management and
internal control system in place. The management of the Company
provides the Board with confirmation as to whether the system
is effective. The Board and all its members affirm that this report
contains no false or misleading statements or material omissions and
that they are jointly and severally responsible for the truthfulness,
accuracy, and completeness of its contents.

The Board attaches great importance to the ESG management, and
strictly implements the Code of Corporate Governance for Listed
Companies, the ESG Reporting Guide of the Stock Exchange and
other relevant regulations. The Board is committed to improving the
ESG governance system, management process and information
disclosure, ensuring the establishment of an appropriate and effective
ESG working mechanism. The Board is responsible for supervising
and making decisions on ESG-related issues, and determining the
priorities of sustainable development of the Company in the light of
management operations and stakeholder communications, so as to
better perform the responsibility on sustainable development.
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VISION OF ESG MANAGEMENT

The Group is engaged in the business of productivity-driven equipment
applied in semiconductor and solar cell businesses. It also operates an
oil and gas production project in the PRC. The Company is currently at
the forefront of advanced processing equipment for the semiconductor
and solar industry. Our business model is centered on providing
technology-driven, high-productivity solutions. Regarding this part of
the business, the Company is committed to reducing consumption
of natural resources and emissions, and is active in exploring and
applying more environmentally friendly materials and technologies. We
strive to improve energy efficiency and prioritize renewable resources
in our production processes. Through continuous innovation and
research and development, we provide our customers with high-quality
products while contributing to the green transformation of the global
energy structure. At the same time, the Company is also committed
to building a diverse and inclusive work environment. In addition, we
emphasize on efficient decision-making mechanism, effective risk
management and compliance measures to ensure the Company’s long-
term steady growth. Regarding the upstream crude oil assets, Hongbo
Mining, the Company's subsidiary, engaged in upstream oil exploration,
development, production and sale of crude oil in China. Hongbo Mining
has adhered to the development philosophy of “energy conservation,
emissions reduction, green development, and safety as top priority”
to achieve green and secure development while improving quality and
efficiency and provide society with high-quality oil resources. At the
same time, it has further increased its comprehensive strength by
focusing on talent development, technological innovation, supervision
and management and performance optimization.

Going forward, the Company’s top priority will remain to manage
the liquidity at the investment portfolio company level in anticipation
of continued uncertainty while pursuing the investment strategy on
decarbonization and other green asset opportunities, including but not
limited to investments in the pan-semiconductor sector. In addition,
the Company shall continue to pay close attention to the market
environment to seize more business opportunities and consider exiting
its existing mature investments so as to recognize the profits. In line
with the principles of sustainable development, we are forward-looking
establish technical reserves for new technology with a view to further
strengthening the Company’s comprehensive capabilities through
innovation and development.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
The Group fully considers and effectively responds to stakeholders’ 7% & 75 2 & & I 5 X0 2 & F| 25 48 B )5 #9 Ef
expectations and demands, works with stakeholders to promote social ~ZEFEK - B F|FHEE T LRREL S HE -

development, and shares development achievements.

Stakeholders
Flz=AERE S

Investors

REE

Customers

EF

FIRHERTRE

KEZRKR -

Communication

and participation

Stakeholder expectations mechanism The Group’s responses

NEAEBLHE BERSEET &R W [ fE

° Increase in the °
Company’s market value
and profitability

e  AKRRARIMEERAFKTFE
okt O

o Continuous improvement
of the Company’s
performance in
environmental and social
responsibility

e  ARRRIRBMEEE
KRN E R

° Excellent quality of °

product
e BEMNEREE

o Protection of legitimate e

rights and interests

o  RIEAE#EZD

General meetings, Regularly publishing reports,

information truthfully and fully disclosing
disclosure, and the information, and striving to
Company’s website improve performance and creating
REAE - EE5 profits

TFERREMIRE  WE - oMb
TEEHEE  ZBORAXE 8
1 FI

B ADR@H

° Improving the Company's
governance and risk management
level, holding general meetings,
strengthening investor relations
management, and striving to
improve environmental and social
responsibility management

o  RAAXRRQFEERKERERKF
BRKRERE - ek EEBRER
B BHARARRNGTEEE
=B

Signing of contracts Providing high-quality products

and agreements, and services

and customer s RHESEEMNERDMRS
satisfaction surveys

BRI RHE o Establishing a comprehensive

EEPREERAE customer service system and
customer feedback and complaint
mechanism

e BURENEFPRBEBREEP
BRRE R

118 PRODUCTIVE TECHNOLOGIES COMPANY LIMITED / Annual Report 2025



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RR L ENEARE

Communication

and participation

Stakeholders Stakeholder expectations mechanism The Group’s responses
A z2AE B 5 Flz5AE A 5 HIE BEESEK AEEE E
Employees o Ensuring employee o Labour contracts o Strictly abiding by the terms of
8T compensation and and employee labour contracts, and improving
benefits satisfaction surveys the compensation and welfare
s  REEIHBEF e HYHERA- -BIM system
BERE s EBRETFTHETAFAGR TEH
e Care for employee safety B 048 F 2B RS &
and health
e HMEEILZEMER e Providing a safe and healthy
working environment
e Providing equal o  IRHTEFHEEREMIIERE
promotion and
development ° Offering employee development
opportunities channels and organizing employee
o  REATEAHMIEREK training
= . ?xET/\A BRBE HEFAES
b=l
o Improving
communication ° Providing equal communication
mechanisms and channels
participating in corporate e RHTEZEBRES
management
e  TEBAKE - 2ERQ
k=g
Government ° Operating in compliance e Attending ° Strictly abiding by relevant laws
B with rules, laws and government-related and regulations, continuously
regulations, and meetings strengthening compliance
implementing national . 2EBNHEES management and responding to
policies relevant national policies
o  BRSE AaNKE 8 o EMRREBSFHEBIEEESR  FHEM
EEENEE BREESREE  ZREEREH
R
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Stakeholders
Fe=EHE R

Suppliers
Mg

Peers

GES

Communication

and participation

Stakeholder expectations

NEEBELHE

o Cooperating in an honest, e
fair and just manner to
achieve mutual benefit
and win-win results
and promoting industry
development

e WE AT REEE: o
ERHAR  RETEE
&

o Fair competition, honest e
cooperation, transparent
and open information o

s RFHFE -HEAE-
BEAAR

o Following industry norms
and promoting industrial
innovation

o ETITRERE  REE
E-1E

mechanism

BERSEET

Signing contracts
and agreements,
and holding bidding
and supplier
meetings on a
regular basis
#ala /i
EHARABRER

HEEBSZ

Communicate with
relevant agencies
EAR RS XX B
il
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The Group’s responses

25 E [B] FE

With business principles of
openness and transparency,
implementing an open and
transparent procurement model;
actively fulfilling contracts and
agreements which specify the
payment terms and methods,
strengthening fund supervision
and process management, strictly
monitoring contract execution
and payment procedures, to build
a responsible supply chain and to
promote high-quality development
of the industry.
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Strengthening exchanges and
cooperation with peers to jointly
create a healthy and orderly
competition environment

hnsg EEE MRS 7 - K[
EERE  AFNBFERE

Engaging in industrial innovation
and research, pursuing mutual
benefit and win-win results, and
common progress, participating
in industry evaluation, and
providing suggestions for industry
standardization
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT
In accordance with the Stock Exchange’s ESG Reporting Guide and

the Global Reporting Initiative’s (GRI) materiality analysis procedures,

the Group collected issues of concern to major stakeholders through

forms such as questionnaires and interviews. A materiality analysis

was conducted to prioritize and identify the Group's material ESG

issues that were disclosed in this report.

Materiality Assessment Process

(1)

ESG issues relevant to the Group were identified through
benchmarking against the Stock Exchange's ESG Reporting
Guide and issues disclosed by peers;

Key stakeholders were engaged to assess the materiality
of identified issues. Internal stakeholders mainly assessed
the issues from the perspective of the Group’s long-term
development strategy, management improvement, urgency
of investment and competitive advantage, while external
stakeholders mainly considered the degree of impact on their
evaluation and decision-making regarding the Group and the
impact on their interests. The results of assessment by internal
and external stakeholders were integrated to create an initial
materiality matrix;

The management of the Group reviewed the priorities of the
issues and reported them to the Board for review;

After the reporting period, the Group will invite internal and
external stakeholders to give feedback on the contents of the
current report to prepare for the next report.

EEMFME

AEBRBMZPTESGREIRSIBER - 2E
EHRBEEZEBGRIEEEL LD THIE
Fra2ghems dRFEA - WEEXE
MIEmERE S BENEE  YETEEEDIN
MeEFr BEAEEERE HERERT

A EEFEE -

WHERBEPETRE -

EEMFERE

(1)

)

BB E R X ATESG & 15 5| MR 4
FEREE - Bl b EAKEMERBESG
A
BREEZNDEETHBERNLNREE
EEEITRHE - EPARHSHEE T T
ERAEERERRBAE  EEEN
BASZEEUNRBFELARETE
B SNERMI s AR T E B AR E Y
EBARRZEREE A MY =48
MO BRSMNBaFEETER  BEAI
BAEEAONFEER ERERKE
EER

AEEERERRABREEMHF I
HEFEFESE:

WEMR  AEEBABARINEDN AR
AAOHARREATETRE BT —
Hish & 4 -

EERBRERQT / F£#,2025 121



i

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE g hEARE

Issue Materiality Matrix

Very high
materiality

FEEE

[F4ES

siepjoyeye1s 01 Alljelele|p

High
materiality

BEE

7<

R

FEEOHLERY

Correlation

Materiality to operation management

HEEENER T

HEEEMER

Very high materiality
FEEE

Product quality and after-sales services

ERHEERERRY

Protection of intellectual property
rights and technological innovation

HREREARE R AR
= e e i
EFREEE

Occupational health and safety
BEREEZE

High materiality
BEE

Use of water resource
KERERA
Wastewater emission
BEKEER

Climate change

Rz

Correlation

1ER8

Development and training
BERIE

Biodiversity Conservation

ENSHRILRE
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Business ethics and anti-corruption
BMRERERE
privacy
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Supply chain management
fpEEEE
Employees’ rights and benefits
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Use of energy
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1. STABLE BUSINESS OPERATION, MUTUAL

BENEFIT AND WIN-WIN

The Group adheres to compliant business operation and has
established internal management policies covering business
integrity, external communication, professional ethics, internal
relation management, safeguarding corporate interests, and
fulfilling social responsibility. The Group is committed to
communicating among all internal and external stakeholders to
achieve mutual benefit and win-win.

1.1 Rising to the Challenge and Pursuing Innovation-

driven Development

The Group’s pan-semiconductor business adheres to the
principle of “Production capacity is the first element of
equipment”. The concept of technological innovation lies
in improving the output per unit time of semiconductor
equipment, reducing production costs, and providing
customers with cost-effective solutions. We aim to be
a global enterprise, with an emphasis on the protection
of intellectual property rights and innovation. With
technological innovation, we outperform our competitors
and ensure the core competitiveness of products. The
Group's innovation-driven performance enhancement policy
is underpinned by the principle of “respect for labour, for
knowledge, for talent, and for creation” and encouraging
team collaboration in overcoming difficulties as well as
independent innovation. The Group prepared a Core Talent
Development Program ({#z 0 A A 15 & 51 &) geared to
developing high-level talent and making innovations in
urgently needed technologies.

1.
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With our intellectual property protection system and talent
reserve pipeline, we endeavour to maintain our scientific
and technological innovation at the forefront of the industry:

o Protection of intellectual property: The Company has
established our own intellectual property department,
and also maintains long-term and stable cooperative
relationships with well-known intellectual property
law firms in the industry.

° Talent reserve pipeline: The Company has a total of 87
R&D personnel, accounting for approximately 26% of
the total staff. WWe encourage innovation and have set
up a sound innovation incentive system, and regularly
organize seminars on intellectual property rights and
new patents development. In order to enhance our
employees’ motivation for innovation and creation
and protect the Company's patents for on-the-job
inventions and creations, we have formulated the
Incentive Measures for Patents. The achievements of
technological innovation will eventually be applied to
the equipment used in the production of the Group’s
pan-semiconductor business, thereby translating
into higher production capacity by increasing wafer
output per unit of time. On top of this, we are also
committed to optimizing our processes, reducing
the impact on the environment and achieving
green innovation. Our innovation results are mainly
focused on the improvement of the mechanical
components of the equipment, the optimization to
processes of equipment related to semiconductor
manufacturing and the improvement of productivity.
As the wet equipment produced by the Group's
pan-semiconductor business involves chemicals
and innovative processes for recycling and reducing
the consumption of certain chemicals that have an
impact on the environment, thereby reducing the
environmental impact of emissions.
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The Company constantly innovates in the technologies of
semiconductor equipment and has recorded outstanding
performance in the industry. The Company is selected
as a collaborating unit for the “Typical Cases of China’s
Strategic Emerging Industries” of the Macroeconomic
Department of the National Development and Reform
Commission, and a standard-setting unit for the
“Testing Methods for Wet Cleaning Equipment Used in
Semiconductor Manufacturing” and “Remote Operation
and Maintenance Status Monitoring of Integrated Circuit
Packaging Equipment” of the National Standardization
Administration of China. The CUBE equipment won the
Best Application Award in China’s Semiconductor Market
2023-2024, and the OCTOPUS equipment won the
Innovative Product Award in China’s Semiconductor Market
2023-2024. Productive Technologies Company won Asia-
Pacific Semiconductor Wafer Manufacturing Equipment
Company of the Year 2024.

Looking ahead, the main focus of the Group’'s ongoing
efforts in technological innovation for the Group's pan-
semiconductor business will be in the following areas:

o Continuously conducting technological R&D and
product iteration to create highly-technical (e.g.
high-temperature sulfuric acid products) and high-
productivity products;

° Two-fluid design with higher particle removal
capability;

° Measures to reduce the amount of hazardous
chemicals used and the recovery of environmental
pollutant emissions.
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Hongbo Mining, a subsidiary of the Company, based on
its Staff Innovation Workshop (¥ T &/ %1 T £ =), has
mobilized its staff at various levels to make technological
innovations in various ways including joint research to
make breakthroughs in key technologies, technological
renovation, invention, repair and waste recycling. By
organizing activities such as collaborative research in key
technologies, management innovation and project-based
research and promoting advanced concepts, technologies
and methods, Hongbo Mining has solved technical
bottlenecks confronted by its oil blocks and achieved
steady progress in the exploration and development
capabilities of various projects in the oil blocks.

In accordance with the Patent Law of the People’s Republic
((p 2 AR EFIE Z F %K), the Trademark Law of the
People’ Republic of China ({1 # A R H£FEI g 2)%)), and
the Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China ({1 %
A R 515 Z {E# X)), the Group continuously enhances
its awareness of independent intellectual property rights
and clarifies the standards and procedures for the creation,
use, management and protection of intellectual property
rights. The Company advocates, encourages and insists on
independent innovation, and creates patents, trademarks
and computer software works according to its business
needs, and applies for registration in a timely manner.
Measures for intellectual property rights protection that
the Company adopted are more in line with the actual
needs with the collaboration of the internal independent
intellectual property department and external professional
legal partners. With more than ten years of industry
experience, the Company’s major employees engaged in
research and development have a deep understanding of
relevant equipment and processes of the industry. Eyeing
more on the actual needs and requirements of customers,
we put forward innovative methods and measures to
improve techniques, which can meet the actual needs of
customers.
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As of 9 June 2025, the Company had applied for 124
patents, including 52 invention patents, 60 utility model
patents, and 12 design patents. Among them, 70 patents
have been authorized, including 18 invention patents, 43
utility model patents and 9 design patents.

1.2 Ensuring Quality and Deepen Service

Product Quality

With listening to the voice of customers and building
high-quality products as its policy, the Company actively
establishes a quality management culture of all employees
that focuses on prevention and does not delivery bad
quality, and establishes quality assurance in the value chain
of sales, design, production, procurement, service and
other products. The Company has also taken a series of
measures to control product quality:

(1) The product department and the sales department
communicate with customers to confirm customer
requirements (equipment performance and
configuration, testing, delivery, after-sales service,
etc.); the sales department organizes relevant
departments to review customer requirements to
confirm whether they can be met. They also optimize
contract and customer technical agreement reviews
to ensure that product development meets customer
requirements.

(2) The R&D department reviews the required product
information input by the product department; and
refines the product requirements.

(83 The R&D department conducts conceptual and
detailed design; invites relevant departments to
participate in the design review during the process
according to R&D quality management requirements;
and evaluates the process functionality, customer
requirements, reliability, safety, manufacturability, and
failure modes of the development and design.

1.2
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The purchasing department introduces key materials
based on the nature of the purchased materials and
the approval of the production parts, organizes, if
necessary, relevant departments to conduct on-site
inspections and evaluations on suppliers based on the
nature of purchased goods; and assesses suppliers’
ability to supply the target products required by the
Company on a continuous and stable basis. The
purchasing department supervises suppliers and,
according to the quality data of each supplier, requires
it to rectify and improve the quality of goods in a
timely manner or otherwise reduces order, imposes
penalties or removes it from the list of qualified
suppliers.

The quality department conducts sampling inspection
and acceptance of the purchased materials entering
the factory according to the inspection standards and
the approval requirements of the production parts;
and isolates and disposes of unqualified goods. The
quality department also monitors the quality data of
incoming materials, analyzes abnormal data, instructs
and supervises suppliers to improve their quality of
supplied materials.

The manufacturing department conducts skills
training for employees on the job; production
staff carries out operations according to standard
operating procedures and self-inspection according to
checklists. Test engineers carry out functional tests
on equipment according to the test project list. The
quality department oversees the production process
and product testing process.

Test the product according to the test standard.
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(8)  The quality department deals with customer quality
problems and complaints after after-sales feedback,
organizes relevant departments to analyze the root
causes, and corrects and improves related quality
problems. According to the feedback and escalation
mechanism, the quality department reports the
quality problems, corrects and continuously improves
the quality work of relevant departments.

The Company established an ISO9001 quality control
system, documenting and standardizing the relevant
quality control processes and methods from sales to after-
sales. In addition, the relevant human resources were
supplemented, thus the quality work of each department
was gradually standardized and detailed.

In the future, the Company will optimize its quality control
system, adjust and improve its processes in accordance
with the actual situation of the Company, as well as
establish and perfect the visualization standards for
incoming raw materials, semi-finished products and finished
products, in order to further improve quality control.

Hongbo Mining, as the Company’s subsidiary for crude oil
production, has always deemed engineering quality as the
lifeline for its existence and development and inculcated the
management goal of “building top projects with excellence
in every detail” in the mind of every employee. Besides
strictly complying with national standards and quality
specifications for the petroleum and natural gas industry,
Hongbo Mining, in the light of the latest industry standards
every year and its own operational characteristics, has
amended a number of engineering quality management
systems including the Well Drilling Engineering Quality
Management System ((#&  Ti2E £ 12 41/Z)), the Well
Testing Engineering Quality Management System (Al
TiRE &5 HE)), the Geological Well Logging Quality
Management System ({ith & g2 H & 2 & 1B # E)), the
Downhole Operation Quality Management System ({3
TYE2£E £ 1 #|E)) and the Fracturing Engineering
Quality Management System ((BX TEE £ EE §1F)),
analyzing equipment requirements, operational procedures,
acceptance standards, information quality and others one
by one to enhance the position management and internal
control system.
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In respect of product quality management, Hongbo Mining
has always asked their employees to focus on the three
dimensions of “safety, quality and speed”, where managers
have the whole picture in mind and pay attention to details
as well throughout the project by directly controlling
major processes, supervising key links, eliminating all
hazards, and strictly enforcing acceptance standards. It has
focused on the technical disclosure before construction
and acceptance of conditions for commencement of
construction, further promoted workplace standardization
and emphasized process control in engineering. It has put
in place a “three inspections” system — self-inspection by
the construction teams, mutual inspection by collaborative
entities, and special inspection by the supervision
department, to ensure its effective implementation
based on clear accountability. In line with the principle
of “fairness, justice and openness”, Hongbo Mining
has put the construction teams under comprehensive
oversight and management, conducted an appraisal on
them in extensive aspects including materials, manning,
construction progress, project quality, work safety and
environmental protection, and given rewards to excellent
construction teams, with clearly defined punishments for
failure to meet construction quality standard and violations
to operational requirements. Through the combination of
rewards and punishments, Hongbo Mining has urged the
engineering teams to learn from other’s strength to offset
its weakness. Through these measures, Hongbo Mining
has a fairly comprehensive quality supervision system in
place.

Hongbo Mining has taken the following specific measures
to control product quality:

(1) engaging globally recognized third-party agencies to
perform product testing;

(2) increasing product quality testing frequency and
conducting product quality testing every half year;
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(3) increasing standby weighing equipment for sales to
improve weighing accuracy;

(4)  requesting the quality inspection authority to calibrate
its measuring equipment on a regular basis to
increase measuring equipment accuracy and avoid
measuring errors.

In addition, Hongbo Mining has strictly complied with
relevant regulations including the Measures for the
Administration of the Crude Oil Market (/& Jf 5 & I #¥
7)) and the Administrative Measures for Oil Prices (/3
BH&E L)) for product pricing and sales.

Privacy Protection and Customer Relationship

By taking customer’s success as its own responsibility,
customer demand as its goal, and customer satisfaction
as its standard, the Company is committed to providing
customers with all-round and excellent customer services.
Our main customers are semiconductor chip manufacturers
and solar cell manufacturers.

In terms of customer satisfaction, during the reporting
period, we mainly understood our customers’ satisfaction
through regular phone calls and on-site visits by our field
service engineers, managers and directors, and addressed
and resolved the concerns of the customers concerned
accordingly after learning about them. During the reporting
period, we received verbal commendations from many
semiconductor and solar customers, such as delivering
machines for production ahead of schedule and supporting
customers’ product production in all respects. In addition,
Hongbo Mining is striving to build healthy customer
relationship, listen to customers’ opinions and suggestions,
and achieve continuous improvement in its service quality.
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The Company insists on protecting our customers’ privacy.
At present, our field service department has access
to some confidential information of customers in their
daily work, such as customers’ products, processes and
production plans. To protect the privacy of customers, our
service personnel have signed an information confidentiality
commitment with customers, and will strictly abide by the
confidentiality provisions of customers, such as not carrying
camera equipment and storage devices into the customer’s
office and confidential areas, and not inquiring about and
disseminating customers’ private information.

As for customer complaints, given that the Company's
customers are relatively concentrated, with service
personnel stationed on-site for main customers, customers
mainly make oral complaints on-site. After receiving
a customer complaint, the person in charge from our
service department will handle the problem according to
its severity and urgency, and our relevant departments
will provide support as well. Our service department will
make explanations to customers according to the specific
situation of customer complaints. For product problems,
we will coordinate and handle them internally. For example,
product design problems will be handled with the product
department and engineering department, and product
quality problems will be handled with the production quality
department, until the product design requirements are met.
To the largest extent, problems may be reported to the
head of the entire product line depending on their severity
and urgency. In order to enhance our customer service
quality, our service department has developed a customer
complaint record sheet to effectively track problems,
record their handling progress and close them for review.
We are striving to resolve customer complaints in a more
systematic and complete manner.
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During the reporting period, Hongbo Mining, a subsidiary
of the Company, did not receive any relevant complaints
from customers. Also, Hongbo Mining is committed to
protecting customer privacy in accordance with the law and
has included a confidentiality clause in contracts, among
other measures.

During the reporting period, the Group did not have any
significant violation to the Company regarding product and
service liability and privacy matters. The Group did not
involve advertising and labeling in the process of providing
products.

Collaborative Supply and Orderly Management
Our suppliers include processing parts, standard parts,
and electrical parts production suppliers. In the selection,
bidding and inquiry process of suppliers, we have
strict requirements on their environmental protection,
labor, safety, quality and other aspects. Suppliers with
corresponding risks will be segregated. We will also
take the said into account in the supplier performance
assessment.

During the reporting period, the Group (excluding Hongbo
Mining) had a total of 456 suppliers, including 370 in
Eastern China, 49 in Southern China, 19 in Northern
China, 14 in other regions of China, 4 in Hong Kong,
Macao, Taiwan and abroad. Of these, 456 suppliers have
implemented supplier access practices.

The service providers of Hongbo Mining, a subsidiary of the
Company, are divided into engineering contractors (23 in
total, including 5 in Xilin Gol League and 18 outside Xilin Gol
League) and material suppliers (87 in total, including 18 in
Xilin Gol League and 69 outside Xilin Gol League (excluding
sporadic materials purchased on the e-commerce platform))
by service type.
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With highly valuing the responsibility management
on its engineering contractors and material suppliers,
Hongbo Mining has strictly implemented its admission,
maintenance, management, post-service evaluation and
removal procedures on service providers. Hongbo Mining
has strictly controlled the environmental and social risks
that may be involved in the performance of its service
providers. During the commercial research, Hongbo Mining
focused on examining the relevant qualifications, and strictly
examined the qualifications of special operations, flame
retardant and explosion-proof, limited space operations,
and construction enterprises, as well as certifications for
quality management system, environmental management
system, occupational health and safety management
system, which might be involved in various projects. The
HSE contract will be signed immediately after confirming
the signing of the master contract with the engineering
service provider. Careful screening is conducted to ensure
the product quality of each supplier which involves national
standards, industry standards and some enterprise
standards as well as the American Petroleum Institute
("API") certification of key materials. While eliminating
the introduction of products that are uncertified, dateless
and produced by a nameless factory, Hongbo Mining also
adheres to the principle of not purchasing products that are
unsanitary, substandard or not environmentally friendly. In
addition, the environmental performance of the products
will be considered when selecting suppliers so as to
ensure the products we purchase meet the requirements
of the relevant environmental indicators, and give priority
to environmentally friendly products under the same
conditions.
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The orderly processes for Hongbo Mining's supply LEBEEERREESFHE
coordination management system include: MIZBHE

BRE BEHERLEE

o Conducting strict preliminary review, with a focus

on obtaining the background information of the ROMEM-ERE - -EBEe%
enterprise, such as the strength in technology, BEHEEN - FEBERT
management, capital and other aspects. Hongbo TREBIMEEBEHMK
Mining has established a service provider assessment FRES R R FI &)/ NE - BB
group with members comprising the heads of its B #ZELIX AEEH=E
various business departments to select service 5% NEEF AR B E R
providers through tender and negotiation based on %

the principles of quality first and fair competition;

e In light of the accumulated experience and market s WHERFHKBRBERNTS
conditions over the years, analysing the cost structure 718 TR AERK -
in detail, formulating reasonable price range, and HlEAENEHHE  HEK
eliminating malicious competition through low price; BEEHRE

e Signing HSE contracts with engineering contractors e HIRBABEEZHSESH

T BEMAREBRENL
management system, and organizing on-site ZEBERRD EHAZR

RN SONSE NS
R

MAARNLZZEH

and including them in Hongbo Mining's safety

engineering contractors to attend the meetings on %
safety convened by the safety and environmental =z
department of Hongbo Mining on a regular basis;

e Focusing on strengthening process tracking o EHEHB(ILARERH RO
and enforcing comprehensive super vision by FEEBE  HREEET
implementing comprehensive management on 2REE FERBRE®D
service providers to ensure high-quality services and EIEE
products;
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Further improving the requirements of construction
safety and product quality, and urging service
providers to renew ideas and upgrade equipment,
in order to advance with the times to achieve
technological progress and increase production
efficiency;

Conducting graded evaluation and regular quality
assessment of the products or services provided,
continuously improving the awareness of
responsibility and service ability of suppliers and
striving to build a sustainable service chain and supply
chain to achieve win-win and mutual development
with the suppliers;

Carrying out year-end inspection on major product
suppliers and visiting them to register and verify
basic information, inspecting their management
systems and having face-to-face communication
with managerial personnel in order to get a truthful
understanding and comprehensive assessment of
their business operation and reduce the operating risk
to a controllable level,

Procuring within a radius of approximately 1,500
kilometres surrounding the oilfields and from
qualified oilfield equipment manufacturers which
hold API certification and have been approved by
China National Petroleum Corporation and Sinopec
Group, based on the principle of mainly sourcing from
suppliers possessing certifications of ISO9001 quality
management system, ISO14001 environmental
management system and OHSAS18001 health
management system and complementing it with
local procurement of small spare parts, with all
service providers being confirmed in the Company’s
service provider database under a well-documented
procedure-based system;
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° Strengthening internal control by optimizing the
Company’s material purchase process and strictly
approving the purchases, as well as optimizing the
responsibility system for excess or waste of material
storage to further deepen the concept of reasonable
procurement and proper use of materials in various
departments.

1.4 Community Services and Contribution to the

Society

The Group is committed to developing a platform for
communication with local community in line with the
guideline of “mutual benefit, win-win and common
development”. In terms of employment, the Group actively
arranged employment for the local community, with some
employees coming from the local community. The Group
did not carry out any other charity activities during the
reporting period.

Through the cooperation with the local governments, non-
profit organizations and non-governmental entities, the
Group has built a positive image within the local community,
created a harmonious social environment and made
contribution to the overall development and harmonious
improvement of the community. The Company’s subsidiary
Hongbo Mining has established the public relations
department serving as the interface of communication to
listen to and understand their expectations and concerns,
increase mutual understanding, respect local traditions and
customs, and actively promote community engagement,
thereby delivering value on different dimensions including
job creation, environmental protection, poverty alleviation,
and tax payment and driving and promoting local economic,
social and cultural development.
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1.5 Internal Control and Anti-corruption

Internal Control Management

In accordance with the Guidelines for the Internal Control
of the Group ({{bZ A& ZEHIELE#E5])) and based on its
operating characteristics and management requirements
of different entities thereof, the Group sorted out and
optimized its current systems and processes with the
guidance of risk management and the principle of efficiency
and usefulness, so as to steadily promote the construction
of its internal control system and maximize its risk
prevention capability and operation management ability.

The Group has established a strict internal control process
to manage and supervise finance, procurement, inventory,
sales, fund management, human resources and other
aspects. Meanwhile, the Group has formulated detailed
processes and specifications to ensure all business
operations in line with relevant laws and regulations and
the Company's systems.

Anti-corruption

The Group strictly complies with laws and regulations
relating to anti-corruption, anti-extortion, anti-fraud and
anti-money laundering including the Criminal Law of the
People’s Republic of China ({2 A R £ 1 B il 3%)), the
Anti-money Laundering Law of the People’'s Republic of
China ({2 A R £ F B & % %)) and the Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance (P L= 8§ B & f11)). According to the
requirements of modern enterprise system, the Group has
proceeded in a way which combines clean governance and
business growth by building an ideological and institutional
firewall against corruption, which clearly provides the rights
and obligations of the shareholders’ meeting, the board of
directors and the management under a check and balance
mechanism where the decision making, management and
supervision functions are relatively independent from one
another, and inculcating correct values. The Group has
formulated the Regulations on Anti-corruption Management
({=JEHEE M E) and the Integrity and Reporting
Management System (&R 122 3 & I2 #I /£)). Its major
decisions were made under the principle of democratic
centralism to eliminate “rule by the voice of one man
alone” or backroom dealing, and enforce coordination,
mutual supervision, and synergistic collaboration.
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The Group has established a comprehensive top-down
system, which requires to keep improving the systems in
various aspects such as corporate operation, procurement,
sales, project budget and final accounting, capital and
finance and strengthening corporate self-discipline and
internal control mechanisms. The Company’s subsidiary
Hongbo Mining requires service providers and contractors
to sign statements of honest practice to prevent
commercial bribery while encouraging employees to file
complaints or blow the whistle, through e-mail and the
designated hotline, directly by passing the immediate
leadership for non-compliance identified. If the non-
compliance is proven to be true, the responsible person
will be dismissed immediately, subject to further sanctions
through litigation if the circumstance is severe. This
represents an approach of combining process control and
violation punishment to prevent non-compliance.

The Company conducts investigations and inspections on
business processes that are subject to risks. The Company
conducts sample checks on finance, procurement, human
resources, and other aspects to timely identify and rectify
non-compliance.

As for reporting channel and handling procedures for
corruption, the Company has established strict reporting
mechanisms and procedures. Employees are able to report
anonymously or in real name through reporting channel.
The Company will strictly protect the privacy and rights of
the whistleblowers. All reports are to be investigated and
verified by the Company. Once the violation is validated,
involved person will be dealt with in accordance with laws
and regulations and subject to accountability.

Complaint Reporting Email:
PDT-tousu@pdt-techs.com

In order to protect the privacy of the whistleblower, the
Company maintains the identification thereof confidential
and no individual information thereof will be divulged.
Meanwhile, the whistleblower will be protected and cared
to ensure free from suppression and retaliation.
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The Group makes continuous innovation in education
methods and carries out in-depth education of honest
practices. On one hand, the Group has provided special
coverage of anti-corruption in the section headed “Basic
Literacy and Business Etiquettes of Employees” in the
induction training materials and training video for new
employees. On the other hand, the Group has distributed
the Employee Handbook, which clearly prohibits deliberate
fabrication, leakage of confidential information, corruption,
embezzlement, misappropriation, dinner invitations, and gift
exchanges among employees to improve employee loyalty
and integrity.

During the reporting period, the Group has carried out
training on contract signing compliance and established a
complete set of standard processes for contract signing
and seal approval, to avoid corruption and improve its risk
prevention awareness and capability.

During the reporting period, the Group experienced no
litigation brought against it or its employees on corruption
charges, and there were no corruption-related violations
that had a significant impact on the Company.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION, ENERGY
CONSERVATION, AND EMISSION
REDUCTION

Earth is the home for human survival. Protecting the Earth's
environment, reducing resource consumption, and optimizing
the utilization of resources are the incumbent obligations of
the Group as an enterprise citizen. The Group has always
strictly followed the laws, regulations, and policies on resource
preservation and environmental protection, including the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China
and the Energy Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of
China.

The Group has been committed to fulfilling its environmental
responsibilities by increasing investment in energy conservation
and emissions reduction as well as environmental protection,
to increase resource utilization efficiency, reduce pollutant
emissions, and mitigate the impact on the ecological environment
in the operating regions.
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The Company continues to strengthen its environmental and
energy management. During the reporting period, the Group
did not have any environmental pollution and ecological damage
accidents, or waste management violation events.

2.1 Emissions Management

The Group has strictly complied with the Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China ({#F & A
RAMBIZRIFIRE X)), the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution
(KR EARKELME KRG EAZE)), the Law of the
People’'s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control
of Environmental Pollution Caused by Solid Wastes ({7 =
AR AN B E 88 B Y05 2 IRFEF A E)), the Water Law of
the People’s Republic of China ({1 #E A K £t F1 B 7K %)),
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention
and Control of Water Pollution ({FZE A & H 1B K55 20
JA7%)), the Environmental Impact Assessment Laws of the
People’s Republic of China ((FFZE A R £ MBFIRIFE £
{&7%)), the Administrative Regulations on Environmental
Protection for Construction Projects ((ZE %18 B IR B R &
& 12 (&%), and other related laws and regulations. The
Group will continue to promote the concepts of energy
conservation, consumption reduction, and environmental
protection to reduce emissions at the source. We will
always maintain the long-term goal of promoting the
process of emission reduction, waste management, and
environmental protection, and ultimately realize the concept
of a recycling economy and follow the path of sustainable
development.

PDT Xuzhou, the Company’s subsidiary, has formulated
the System of Maintenance Management for the
Operation of Factory Equipment ({75 iR & 17 4 & &
4 (R B 12§ £ ), Regulations on Safety Management of
Hazardous Chemicals ({/& k21t 2 @ % £ E I 4 7F ), and
other management systems related to emissions, which
respectively specify the treatment process of exhaust gas,
waste, and other emissions, as well as the whole process
of chemicals from purchase, storage, claim, use to dispose
of, for the purpose of controlling the management and
disposal of emissions strictly.
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Hongbo Mining, the Company’s subsidiary, has formulated
Rules on Environmental Protection Management ((ZR3E (R
& B ¥ 7 %)), Management System for Protecting 21 Oil
Region Environment ({21)f [& IR 3E R & B 12 51 E)), Bye-
laws for Handover in Oil Well Operations (/i #1322 #+
#1 81)), Bye-laws for Well Drilling, Withdrawal after Well
Completion and Handover (& % #& H 58 3 #35 X # 41
A1) and Hongbo Mining Hazardous Waste Safe Disposal
Management Rules ({ A EREXBRENLZEEE BB
7£)). The Management Rules have clear provisions in six
major aspects such as environmental protection measures,
environmental impact assessment, “three simultaneous”
management, environmental hidden danger management,
environmental monitoring and environmental performance
evaluation. The Management System for Oil Region is
tailored to specific oil regions, including vehicle route
planning, daily environmental health maintenance and
garbage collection in well site, storage of materials and
waste & scraps, and deployment of impervious cloth, and
ensures that various departments and teams fulfill their
due responsibilities. Bye-laws for Handover standardize the
environmental management requirements for handover and
withdrawal after completion.

2.1.1 Waste Management

The Group complies with the management policies
on the Implementation Plan for Domestic Waste
Classification System (& & L1 o B4l E & i
7 22) issued by the State in its daily operations,
classifies and disposes of waste, and has established
corresponding disposal specifications for different
types of waste.
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Meanwhile, all oil and gas exploitation projects of
Hongbo Mining are contracted, but Hongbo Mining
is responsible for supervision of waste transfer and
storage of the contractors. Hongbo Mining attaches
great importance to waste generation, reducing,
gathering, transport, storage and disposal. Typically,
Hongbo Mining signs a service contract with a project
contractor before starting the project, supervises
its waste disposal, and conducts strict acceptance
inspection of waste disposal. By promoting
technological innovation, improving management
mechanisms, adopting centralized recovery, and
improving utilization efficiency, Hongbo Mining has
been continuously advancing non-hazardous disposal
and recycling of waste.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RR L ENEARE

Hep - RIGHEE A HRFR
BEYRIRBEAEEA
A BERRZEBERERE
BHBEERNNEENERHS
REBABEBRE ZBE
XT0ERBEREVNES
HE - K& FRNEE-
RBREETIZER AR
RIER 2RI RBAER -
VEBHBEEMEERBR

HERYREBERETERS
B - RIBEFRBBRMA
HoTEEEEH S E
W mRAMBERNTE
EERMESLRERENER

{EFIA -

Waste Gas Emissions FY2024 FY2023
BEENHERIER [ T~ — B
Total hazardous waste emissions (t) B EREZEYE LB = (B8) 78.00 35.07

Oil sludge (t) A e (W8) 60.00 14.07

Acid waste liquid (t) % 1 BE R (18) 17.00 20.00

Liquid chemicals packaging (t) REB LB R e () 1.00 1.00
Intensity of hazardous wastes EEEENEERE

(kg/HK$'000 of revenue from (Fw=/ TAETHEHEM

sales and service) AR7EUEA) 0.281 0.065
Total non-hazardous waste BEEEVELALS

emissions (t) (W8) 50.57 68.70

Waste plastic products (t) BE B LR fn (R ) 3.00 2.00

Waste packaging materials (t) REEZE B EME (18) 0.67 2.20

Scrap metal (t) BEEREE (M) 0.80 1.00

Domestic waste (t) A JERI IR (E) 45.60 63.50
Intensity of non-hazardous wastes EEZEREZY)E 4+ ZE

(kg/HK$'000 of revenue from (F=/ TAETHEERM

sales and service) R 75 WA 0.182 0.110
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Hazardous Waste

Hazardous wastes generated by the Group’s pan-
semiconductor business are mainly: acid waste liquid
(nitric acid, hydrofluoric acid, sulfuric acid, phosphoric
acid, acetic acid, hydrochloric acid) and the containers
of chemical liquids. The acid waste liquid mainly
comes from the machine data simulation experiment
process carried out according to customers’
requirements. Specifically, wafers are put into the
cleaning equipment with various chemicals as the
experimental process required, and are cleaned with
chemicals during the equipment cleaning process
after the experiment. Thereafter, the acid wastes will
be collected in large buckets and temporarily stored
in the chemical hazardous waste warehouse. All the
collected waste liquids will be delivered to qualified
hazardous waste treatment manufacturers for
disposal at the end.

The Group has adopted various measures to reduce
the generation of various hazardous wastes:

o Reuse: reuse the reusable packaging containers
as much as possible to reduce the amount of
waste thereof.

o Reduce packaging: select products with less
packaging and readily recycled as much as
possible to reduce packaging waste.

o Environmental protection awareness:
strengthen environmental protection education
to enhance employees’ environmental
protection awareness, which is the basis of
reducing the generation of waste.
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The Group prioritizes the management and treatment
of hazardous waste, and we have adopted a full-
chain supervision to evaluate the entire process of
hazardous substance generation and manage the
hazardous waste throughout the entire process
covering procurement, receipt, storage, distribution,
use and disposal. The specific measures are as
follows:

° Strengthen the classification and identification
of hazardous waste. We have established
sound classification standards and identification
methods to ensure that hazardous wastes are
correctly identified and disposed of during the
treatment process.

° Establish a sound monitoring and tracing
mechanism. We have established a sound
monitoring and tracing mechanism to monitor
and trace the disposal process of hazardous
waste to ensure that the waste is disposed of
legally and safely.

° Continue to strengthen staff training and
awareness education. We publicize and
popularize the knowledge and treatment
methods of hazardous waste to employees, and
improve employees’ environmental protection
awareness and environmental protection
literacy.
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In the future, the Group will continue to explore and
research the technologies and methods in respect of
hazardous waste disposal, and further improve and
standardize the disposal process of hazardous waste.

The Group adopted the following hazardous waste
disposal management measures during the course of
its office operation:

(1)  Hazardous waste is stored in specialized
containers, clearly labelled according to the
classification of hazardous waste, and managed
by dedicated staff.

(2) Hazardous waste is stored in designated indoor
areas with functions protecting from the sun,
rain, leaks and re-entrainment of dust.

(8) Hazardous waste should be transferred to
property cleaners by adopting safe and non-
contaminating packaging materials and
methods, and taking effective measures to
prevent spillage, dispersion and breakage.
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The Group is committed to reducing waste by saving
the use of office supplies such as toner and ink
cartridges and batteries, adopting paperless network
office as much as possible and reducing use of paper
documents, reducing the use of light in office areas
during the day and night time to extend lamp life,
and replacing traditional mercury thermometers with
sensing devices for temperature measurement. It is
worth mentioning that Hongbo Mining has recycled all
waste toner cartridges by adding carbon powder and
did not generate any hazardous office waste including
waste toner cartridge during the reporting period.

In addition to the above mentioned situations at
office, another hazardous waste resulting from
the crude oil exploitation, treatment, storage and
formation testing activities of Hongbo Mining is oil
sludge, which comprises paraffin wax coagulated
from crude oil, heavy oil deposited on tank bottoms of
the gathering and transportation station, flocs formed
by cleaning agents during wastewater treatment,
and waste resulting from equipment and pipeline
corrosion. These substances are toxic to some
extent, have flammable characteristics and, if directly
discharged without proper treatment, will cause
pollution to the surrounding soil, water and air; and
if landfilled without remediation, will cause serious
pollution to underground water and seriously damage
the existing ecosystem such as trees and vegetation.
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Hongbo Mining has designated a dedicated
environmental protection officer responsible for
hazardous waste collection and disposal, having
the equipment cleansed on a regular basis and
supervising relevant personnel to transport hazardous
wastes to the gathering and transportation station
for centralised disposal, where oil sludge and other
wastes are converted to non-hazardous wastes
through a series of processes including heating,
filtration, precipitation and dehydration. This work
is contracted to a local certified hazardous waste
disposal company. Being committed to environmental
protection, Hongbo Mining has engaged a
professional team to expand the sewage treatment
system, which significantly improved treatment
capacity and reduced the adverse impact of sewage
on pipelines. Meanwhile, Hongbo Mining has taken
effective measures to reduce oil sludge, including
injecting liquid active solvents into producing wells
and washing the wax deposited on well walls and
bottoms with high-temperature liquid on a regular
basis; and washing pipelines with neutral or faintly
acid aqueous solutions to accelerate breakdown of
coaguland sediments and achieve grease and grime
removal.
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Non-hazardous Waste

The main non-hazardous waste generated by the
Group's pan-semiconductor business is the packaging
of procured materials, which mainly includes wooden
cubes, wooden pallets, wooden crates, air bubble
films, wrapping films, waterproof cloths, aluminium
films, textured paper tapes, plastic tapes, plastic
bags, countersunk hexagonal bolts, and self-tapping
nails. In terms of packaging material management,
we are committed to the recycling of resources, for
example, some packaging materials such as wooden
cubes and waterproof cloths will be recycled. We try
to reduce the use of wooden crates and use wooden
pallets for transport, so as to save wood. In addition,
non-hazardous waste generated during the operations
of the Group also includes non-recyclable domestic
waste, as well as other wastes, including plastic
packaging materials of purchased equipment, scrap
metal (such as tools, wires and parts), discarded
plastic bottles and wastepaper. We continuously
strive to optimize waste management to achieve
more environmentally friendly and sustainable
operations. The Group has taken a series of measures
to reduce the generation of various types of non-
hazardous waste:

o Reaching a consensus with suppliers to
minimise the use of disposable plastic products
and maximise the use of reusable materials,
subject to the safety of packaging materials.

° Dismantling and transforming the waste
wooden pallets to be used as packaging bases
for the shipment of the Company’s products.
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In addition, in the actual implementing process,
the Group separates non-hazardous wastes by
type, with packaging materials and scrap metal
being handed over to qualified solid waste disposal
companies, waste such as paper and plastic bottles
that cannot be reused being sent to separate drop-
off areas for recycling, and domestic waste being
stored and managed by category and being strictly
prohibited to be discharged directly into sewers
and public toilets and instead, being disposed of in
the perishable waste collection bins in office and
production sites. Subsidiaries with their own facilities
are required to establish temporary waste storage
facilities to prevent waste leakage, and waste shall
be transported to sites designated by government
authorities periodically for centralised disposal by the
relevant department.

Moreover, the Company's subsidiary, Hongbo
Mining has striven to reduce the generation of non-
hazardous wastes by tackling their sources through
multiple effective measures, including: adopting new
techniques such as using the sucker rod centraliser
and oil tube lining to reduce the eccentric wear
caused by long-term sucker rod trips on the oil tube,
extending the workover intervals of oil wells, and
reducing waste pipes caused by sucker rod fray;
maintaining, repairing and treating for corrosion
resistance pipelines and oil tube on a regular basis to
extend their service life; using neutral detergents to
extend the service life of pipelines and equipment;
repairing and reusing decommissioned pipelines, with
the decommissioned pipelines being put into use
again safely after expiration of service life accounting
for approximately 25% of decommissioned pipelines.
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The Group has always been committed to AEB—EHEHRIRERNE
exploring and practicing the concept of sustainable BUFBEEENES  RE
development and contributing to the realisation of IRIR R A ER BE R BE i B
environmental protection and energy conservation B-EEEEEYMHE &
and emission reduction. In respect of non-hazardous SEREBEERTEER 1R
waste, the Group has proposed the subsequent BT —ZF T8l :

working plan based on the current working progress:

1. To strengthen the management of waste 1. INREEVHIBEEE :
separation:

e Promoting in-depth separation of domestic o  RAMELEEN
waste for treatment, so as to realise ROBERE B
resource recovery and waste reduction. & R B U 0 g

BEYIRE o

e Enhancing the classification, storage and s MTHEEBRES:
disposal of waste during the production hnog B E Y &
process to minimise the generation of D RENE
waste and increase the utilisation of E RAREH
resources. B RE R Y B E

£ RREEIRF
RAZE-
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2. To promote green office and reducing waste:

° Advocating paperless office, double-sided
paper use and reuse of copy paper.

° Standardizing office supplies procurement
procedures by strictly reviewing and
controlling the quantity distributed,
encouraging reuse, and ensuring proper
recycling of office waste paper.

o Promoting office online and electronic
circulation to reduce the use of paper
documents.

° Reducing the use of paper and plastic
cups and promoting the use of glass cups
instead.

o Advocating reducing take-away meals,
treasuring food, and reducing food waste.

The Group is committed to reducing the generation
of various types of non-hazardous waste plastics,
waste wood, wastepaper and waste at source, and
adopts effective treatment measures for such waste
to minimise the impact on the environment and
contribute to sustainable development.
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2.1.2 Wastewater Management
The wastewater generated by the Group's pan-
semiconductor business mainly includes cleaning
water and domestic wastewater generated during
the course of daily office work, as well as the stratum
sewage generated by the Company’'s subsidiary,
Hongbo Mining in its production process.

The Group has strictly complied with relevant laws
and regulations and national, local and industry
standards including Water Law of the People's
Republic of China ({F ZE A R &£ 1 B 7K J%)), Law of
the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and
Control of Water Pollution (& A K £ 51 E /K5
#7578 7%)) and Integrated Wastewater Discharge
Standard ()5 7K 4R & BERUR 2E) (GB 8978-1996)).
By taking the measures of “locating the source,
controlling the process, utilising by different levels
and recycling” and based on the principle of source
control and recycling, Hongbo Mining collects the
sewage generated during crude oil exploitation
through the gathering and transportation station for
separation from the crude oil and sedimentation, and
then injects it back to the stratum after wastewater
treatment to facilitate oil exploitation. The whole
system is a closed loop where the wastewater can
be fully recycled, thereby achieving zero emission.

Wastewater Emissions
BEK BB R

Domestic sewage discharge (t) AR KBENE (HR)

All the domestic sewage was discharged through
professional pipelines to the sewage treatment
plant for unified treatment, and then such domestic
sewage was biologically degraded to meet the
discharge standard and used for vegetation irrigation.
The Group timely provided drinking water through
direct drinking water purification equipment to avoid
wastage.

212 EKER
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2.1.3 Waste Gas Management

The main waste gas generated during the operation
of the Group’s pan-semiconductor business is acid
waste gas, which is from the machine acceptance
experiment carried out according to the customer’s
requirements after the machine is finished. It can be
ignored as it is very small in amount and generated on
a non-continuous basis, and will be neutralized in the
scrubber.

In addition, the air pollutants generated by Hongbo
Mining (a subsidiary of the Company) from its
business operation are mainly sulphur dioxide,
oxynitride and soot resulting from natural gas
combustion of its heating furnaces and generating
units and petrol and diesel combustion.

Waste Gas Emissions
BERHEMER

Sulphur dioxide emissions (t) —a b E (88)
RE‘LWEEM=E (W)
Particulate matter emissions (t) TR e = (W8)

Oxynitride emissions (t)

To reduce the impact of its business operation on
the atmospheric environment, Hongbo Mining has
adopted the corresponding eco-friendly measures,
including adding natural gas collection devices to
all wellheads for centralized recycling; replacing oil
well maintenance equipment with oil and gas dual-
purpose boilers or pure gas-fired boilers for heating;
strengthening vehicle management by strictly
controlling the number of vehicles and reducing
frequency of use; and continuing to phase out large-
displacement and high fuel consumption engineering
vehicles in a planned way to reduce petrol and diesel
consumption.
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2.2 Use and Management of Resources 22 BRIEARERE
2.2.1 Energy Management 221 BEREE

The Group has always strictly complied with and
implemented relevant requirements of laws,
regulations and policies on resource preservation and
environmental protection, including Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China (&
£ AR AMBERIFRE L)), Energy Conservation
Law of the People’'s Republic of China ({/F Z& A
R 4L A0 B &6 49 82 JR %)) and strictly following the
Comprehensive Work Plan for Energy Conservation
and Emission Reduction during the 14th Five-year
Plan Period ([ +PUF ] &g R HE4R & TIE 7 ),
committed to becoming a resource-saving enterprise
and fulfilling its environmental responsibilities by
increasing investment in energy conservation,
emissions reduction and environmental protection,
increasing resource utilization efficiency, while taking
effective measures to reduce pollutant emissions,
therefore ensuring environmental and ecological
protection in the operating regions. The Group targets
to improve the utilization efficiency of energy in
terms of energy management, and maximize the
environmental and economic benefits of energy use
on the premise of meeting operational activities.

The energy mainly consumed by the Group during
business operation is electricity, which is mainly
applied in energy-consuming processes related to
production air-conditioning system and equipment
testing. We strictly control the use of energy:
we install meters for various energies under our
jurisdiction to effectively control energy consumption,
organize staff-wide and professional energy-saving
training and publicity activities and organize meter
checks and reading to ensure accurate measurement
and reasonable apportionment, maintain a strict
overview of energy expenses and seriously handle
violations of energy management regulations in
accordance with the rules and regulations. The
lower limit of air-conditioning temperature setting
in summer and the upper limit of air-conditioning
temperature setting in winter are adjusted according
to season changes.
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During the reporting period, the Group has taken the

following measures for energy-saving purpose:

(1)

Save electricity for air-conditioning. We strictly
implement air-conditioning temperature
control standards and make full use of natural
ventilation. The indoor temperature by air-
conditioning may not be lower than 26°C
in summer nor higher than 20°C in winter.
“Reducing by 1 hour for air-conditioning
operation per day” has been set as a part of
the energy-saving system. The air conditioner
should be turned off when nobody is in the
office.

Save electricity for lighting. The offices are
installed energy-saving lamps for lighting. The
office area with good natural lighting shall
make full use of natural light during the day. At
night, the number of lights for lighting should
be minimized in the public areas of the building
(including toilets). The lighting during the day
and permanent lighting should not be occurred.
Except for major festivals and holidays,
decorative lights may not be turned on.

Save electricity for office equipment. Power
saving mode should be set when office
equipment is not in use. If office equipment
is not used for a long time, it should be shut
down in time to reduce energy consumption
for standby. We will accelerate the elimination
of high-energy consumption office equipment.
Newly purchased electrical office equipment
must label with the required energy efficiency
label. During holidays and non-working hours,
electrical equipment such as computers should
be turned off in time.
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The production electricity consumption
department and the power supply management
department have established a linkage
mechanism to carry out accurate power
supply and shutdown of power-consuming
equipment according to the production plan,
so as to reduce the energy consumption of the
equipment on standby.

It is strictly prohibited to connect the lights
or sockets without permission. High power
electric appliances such as electric stove,
heating machine, electric cup and electric
heater are prohibited. If it is necessary to use
such appliances, it shall be approved by the
administrative department.

In addition to the above, Hongbo Mining as an oil and

gas production enterprise, its main sources of energy

consumption also include electricity for well site

equipment, gas and oil gathering and transmission,

and water filling; petrol for cars for inspection and

supervision purposes; diesel for engineering vehicles,

generators for well sites without grid connection, and

domestic heating on project site in winter; and natural

gas as domestic fuel and for winter heating and

combustion-based electricity generation.
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In daily management, Hongbo Mining has actively
responded to the call for energy conservation and
environmental protection with an aim to improve
energy efficiency. Hongbo Mining has formulated
vehicle management systems, such as the
Outsourcing Vehicle Management System ({4) & &
5 & 12 #| £ )) and Measures for the Administration
of Regenerative Vehicle of the Company ({2 &) E5 &
B & B 3t %)) to control the use of vehicles more
effectively so as to manage the consumption of
petrol. Hongbo Mining had installed GPS monitoring
system on all engineering vehicles to dispatch
vehicles reasonably and effectively, plan routes
and raise working efficiency, as well as reduce fuel
consumption. Hongbo Mining reduced domestic
electricity consumption and turned off non-essential
lighting facilities, upgraded the nighttime lighting
in the living area into sound-controlled lighting to
reduce the overall energy consumption of the lighting
system. As for the electricity consumption of oil well,
it applied measures such as intermittent operation
and lower stroke times on low yield oil pumping
wells. According to the temperature changes, Hongbo
Mining shut down the wellhead electric heating belt
in time to minimize the power consumption under
the precondition of ensuring routine production.
Hongbo Mining also formulated and published the
Special Emergency Plan for Double Control of Energy
Consumption (KB # & 15 F I8 & & 78 &) according

to the actual energy consumption.
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Energy Consumption FY2024 FY2023
BERHERR “EC B ey s
Total power consumption (kWh) BRIEEE (TEE) 9,387,483 8,790,018
Petrol consumption (t) UHEREE (8) 26.91 29.82
Diesel consumption (t) SemEREE (HE) 82.31 111.62
Diesel consumption by R EFELEHE (M)
equipment (t) 38.07 62.76
Diesel consumption by LmBEEFESORE ()
diesel powered vehicles (t) 44.24 48.86
Associated natural gas consumption 4 XA RIEFES
(10,000 normal cubic metres) (BIZEET 75 K) 216.31 182.42
Comprehensive energy RAREIRBERERE"
consumption’ (1,000 kWh) (FETEE) 34,107.20 30,211.54
Intensity of comprehensive energy 42 & B2 R M #E 8
consumption (KWh/HK$'000 of (FERETHETHEEM
revenue from sales and services)  FR#EUA) 122.70 55.57

Calculation on standard coal coefficient of this indicator performed with reference to converted standard coal coefficient data in China Energy
Statistical Yearbook ({*F B &EJR#t 5T 4 28)) and General Principles for Calculation of the Comprehensive Energy Consumption ({43 & 8EREZT & 4R A))
(GB/T 2589-2020), etc.

ZIEBEMBREB2E(hBRRA FENEGRS e EBAI (GB/T 2589-2020) % -
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2.2.2 Water Resource Management

The Group's water resource mainly used for
equipment test and daily life of its employees,
of which water for daily life of its employees
includes daily drinking and cleaning. The Company
has formulated the Management System for the
Operation, Maintenance and Repair of Factory
Equipment (KPR R B 1E 174 & R R E IR HE))
and achieving water conservation by the following
ways:

(1) Formulate water consumption plan, establish
water consumption records, set up water
consumption targets and monitor water
consumption regularly. Compare and analyse
the recording data on water consumption from
the property management staff on a monthly
basis, and take effective measures to inspect
the pipeline network once irregularities are
identified.

(2) Optimise the water consumption processes,
reduce wastewater discharge, increase water
efficiency, take a closed water recycling system,
recover recycled water resource and reduce
water consumption.

(8) Save water in bathrooms: strengthen routine
maintenance and management of water
equipment and prevent water from running for
long time; replace the manual flushing systems
for the toilets of the production workshops
where there is a heavy and frequent use with
an advanced photoelectric-response rationed
flushing system, which is able to intelligently
sense the user to leave, and ration according
to the actual need to release the appropriate
amount of water for flushing, so as to ensure a
clean bathroom, but also significantly reduce the
unnecessary use of water, thereby achieving
high efficiency in water conservation effect; put
up water-saving signs in the prominent sites
with announcing maintenance calls.
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Save water for greens: encourage recycling use
of water.

Strengthen the maintenance and transformation
of facilities: conduct regular inspection and
maintenance on water supply facilities, carefully
conduct inspection on pipe network, especially
pay attention to the usage of pre-embedded
pipes, and repair in time when problems are
found to prevent dripping and leakage.

Enhance the water-saving awareness of
employees and encourage them to start with
trivial things and actively participate in water
conservation activities.

Besides, the main sources of water consumption

from Hongbo Mining, as an oil and gas production

enterprise, also include water use for well

maintenance, water injection to supplement

producing energy and increase oil recovery, and a

small amount of domestic water. The goal of water

resource management of Hongbo Mining is to achieve

100% produced water treatment, 100% produced

water reinjection, and efficient and controlled use of

fresh water.
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In its production and operation process, Hongbo
Mining has adopted specific measures in the
following aspects to conserve water resource:

° Adopting clean production processes and
implementing water saving practices to increase
water recycling and reduce water withdrawal.

o Ensuring effective day-to-day maintenance,
keeping the pipeline network in normal working
condition, guaranteeing safe water supply, and
prevent pipeline seepage, with all anti-seepage
measures having a permeability coefficient of
less than 1.0 X 107cm?¥/s.

o Cleaning wells with treated wastewater, which
not only reduces the use of flushing fluid but
also mitigates pollution and damage to oil
reservoir, and recycling flushing fluid.

Water resource consumption

KEFHEFERB R

Fresh water consumption FEACHEE (LK)
(cubic metre)

Intensity of fresh water KBRS
consumption (cubic metre/ (LK TFHEITTHE

HK$'000 of revenue from sales AR TS A
and services)

During the reporting period, the Group did not have
any problems in obtaining suitable water sources and
there was no violation.
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2.3 Ecological Protection in Operating Regions 23 EEMFRERE

Land Rehabilitation

Hongbo Mining, a subsidiary of the Company, is mainly
engaged in the development and construction of oil fields.
Oil field development and construction will create a new
artificial ecosystem, and its environmental impact is
mainly shown as the excavated areas being not entirely
rehabilitated, leading to reduced vegetation coverage,
vegetation biomass loss, and impaired vegetation structure.
Based on the guidelines of relevant documents such as the
Guidance on Gradual Establishment of the Responsibility
Mechanism for Environment Control and Ecology Recovery
of Mine Fields (CBA & F 2R ILRFIGE M AL IRE
S E#HRIEEE §)) and the Notice on Matters Relating
to Reporting and Review of Land Rehabilitation ({8 7 48
BT ERIFEHmANE S A BEREERBA)), Hongbo Mining
has formulated and issued its in-house Land Rehabilitation
Plan ({018 28 75 2)) , which combines rehabilitation
engineering and project development with the focus on
comprehensive environment management for construction
projects by prioritizing ecology protection and implementing
ecological restoration by integrating a succession of
measures including land levelling, topsoil coverage,
forestation and grass plantation to achieve “exploiting
while rehabilitating”. All projects of Hongbo Mining have
passed the acceptance inspection of national environmental
protection authorities.
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24

Biodiversity Conservation

The Company places great emphasis on biodiversity
conservation, strictly adhering to relevant laws and
regulations such as the Environmental Protection Law of
the People’s Republic of China (/% A K £ 1 IR 5%
R X)), the Forestry Law of the People’s Republic of
China ({2 A R M B ZM %)), and the Regulations on
the Implementation of the Forestry Law of the People’s
Republic of China ({# ZE A K % M B & #MOE & e 15§
71)). The requirements for biodiversity conservation are
integrated into all stages of project development and daily
production operations. It is also the responsibility of the
Company to protect the ecological environment where we
operate. Having considered the opinions and suggestions
of experts and East Ujimgin Banner Ecology Bureau and
the location of Hongbo Mining, i.e. Inner Mongolia, Hongbo
Mining chooses to plant forages suitable for the local
soil environment and climate, such as elymus dahuricus,
caragana korshinskii, alfalfa, astragalus huangheensis and
tartary buckwheat, and aspens good for survival, protects
wild animals around the well site, strictly prohibits hunting
and lays underground pipes in living areas for irrigation of
surrounding plants.

Tackling Climate Change

The Group has been continuously paying attention to
the opportunities and challenges brought by sustainable
development and climate change. We are actively
responding to the carbon peaking goal and carbon neutrality
vision set by the national government, and leveraging our
resources as an enterprise to respond to climate change
and promote ecological civilization and high-quality green
development. The Company has established the EHS
(Environment, Health and Safety) Committee to analyze the
potential impact of climate change risks on the business.
The EHS Committee timely takes measures to mitigate and
respond to related risks, and make collective decisions in
respective of environment-related matters.
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Climate-related risks include transitional risks associated
with a lower-carbon economy and physical risks associated
with climate change impact. Transitional risks can be
categorised into policy and legal risks, technology risks,
market risks and reputation risks, while physical risks
include acute risk (mainly single events such as typhoon,
flood and other extreme weather), and chronic risk (referring
to longer-term shifts in climate pattern like sustained higher
temperatures).

In terms of physical risks, the Group pays attention to the
impact of extreme weather on production and business
operations, and identifies natural disasters, extreme
weather or adverse meteorological conditions that may
affect our business operations, for example:

(1) Hongbo Mining monitors the trend in climate change
and the occurrence of extreme weather, as well
as the impact on the area in which the enterprise
is operating. Hongbo Mining pays attention to the
realtime local weather forecast and meteorological
forecast of geological disasters issued by relevant
authorities, and will release alerts through WWeCom
group, production meetings and other channels, so as
to avoid outdoor operation and transportation during
extreme weather.

(2)  Hongbo Mining will strengthen the maintenance of
backup power generators in domestic site, gathering
and transportation station and production well site,
and practically implement the pilot operation system
to ensure the power supply for living and production
in the event of large-scale and prolonged electricity
outages due to extreme weather.

(3)  Hongbo Mining will prepare sufficient materials
necessary for production and living, mainly including
grain, oil, vegetables and diesel required for backup
power generators.
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(4)  Hongbo Mining will keep excavator on standby during
the winter to remove snow in time from roads in
case of road closure due to heavy snowfall, so as to
ensure the outward transportation of crude oil and
the availability of the roads around the well site, and
reduce the losses caused by extreme weather to
production and operation.

(5)  Hongbo Mining will analyze the geographical
regions and industry chain elements involved in the
Company’s supply chain to assess its sensitivity and
vulnerability to climate change.

(6) Hongbo Mining will assess the Company's
consumption of resources, including water, energy
and raw materials, as well as its impact on, and the
extent to which it is affected by, climate change.

In terms of transitional risks, on policy and legal risks, as
the community becomes more aware of climate change
and relevant national policies related to carbon peaking
and carbon neutrality targets are implemented, the places
where we operate may increase energy prices, set caps on
energy use, expand the coverage of paid GHG emissions
or increase other environmental regulatory requirements,
all of which could lead to an increase in the operating
costs. We will actively respond to the relevant national
policies related to carbon emissions and gradually adapt
to the requirements of carbon emission reduction during
production and operation.
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The Group has thoroughly implemented national
environmental protection guidelines and policies and
strictly controlled its GHG emissions. Carbon dioxide is the
major GHG? generated in the Company's production and
operation, which is primarily the emission from indirect
GHG (Scope 2) originated from purchased electricity.
Moreover, Hongbo Mining, the Company’s subsidiary,
generates carbon dioxide in crude oil production, collection,
transmission and processing activities, among which
Scope 1 emissions of Hongbo Mining are mainly from the
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following sources:

. GHG emissions resulting from diesel combustion for o RBKFHEEERRES
power in oil-water well maintenance activities; E’J ERB ML HREEE

E)] BE j:ﬂﬁ‘m g
e GHG emissions resulting from natural gas combustion e HEEHAEALTHARERE

for oil and gas transmission pipeline heating and

RARELNAEREE

domestic heating in winter;

A4 R E i X FERER MR

e GHG emissions resulting from well testing venting, o HEBEPAFHZE - I§Z+L
process venting and escape during production. MR R REERBEE
REE -

FY2024
“E M -

GHG Emissions

BERBHERER

Total GHG emissions BERBEERES

FY2023

—=HF

(tCO, equivalent) (W — R LHREE 10,055.10 9,399.00
Scope 1 GHG emissions? BEREHEHRES

(tCO, equivalent) (Mg — ﬁft g = 5,017.78 4,386.05
Scope 2 GHG emissions* BERBHE 2EME

(tCO, equivalent) (g = %m mEE 5,037.32 5,012.95
Intensity of GHG emissions BERBEBEEE

(tCO, equivalent/HK$'000 of (=S tmEE,/ THET

revenue from sales and service) SHE MR A) 0.036 0.024

In accordance with Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs published by the Stock Exchange, Scope 1 emissions are direct GHG
emissions from operations that are owned or controlled by the company and Scope 2 emissions are “indirect energy” GHG emissions resulting

from the purchased or acquired electricity consumed within the company.
BRI AMECHT = - RIRAREBUERERIESDTHORTE  BE1AREAAEEIEFNEBREREENAE
WER AR RIAEDHFE (BRERASKERGE) BN PFEE [HEEIR DR =R -

REEHN - BE2A

Hongbo Mining has no flare device during the process of oil and gas exploitation, therefore it does not generate any greenhouse gases therefrom,

and the greenhouse gases from well testing, process venting and exploitation escape is rather little.

REBEEXEMRRATBETENERE AU TSRAEREFEERRE S ITERERFERLENEZRERD -

Calculation methodologies for GHG emissions: energy consumption of the Company multiplies corresponding emission factors as defined in the
average emission factor of the national power grid in the Ministry of Ecology and Environment's Announcement on the Release of Electricity

Carbon Dioxide Emission Factors in 2022.
BERBHENEFNER L RRRREREERUEENERET  EREF2E4£
3 B AT BER A F o
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To reduce GHG emissions, Hongbo Mining has taken a
series of measures. Examples include gathering associated
natural gas in crude oil production and using it for heating
and electricity generation of Hongbo Mining; adjusting
thermal system parameters according to season in a timely
way to plan natural gas utilization optimally; developing
scientific working schedules with reasonable activation and
deactivation for oil wells with insufficient liquid supply to
pump oil by interval and thus effectively reduce electricity
consumption; promoting new applications such as
intelligent variable frequency control cabinet and alloy anti-
wax devices to save electricity consumption; and adding
reactive power compensators to improve the power factor
of power grids, reduce the loss of supply transformers and
transmission lines, and enhance power supply efficiency
The measures adopted by PDT Xuzhou to reduce power
consumption include: reducing the wind speed of the
220 fan filter units sitting on the ceiling of the clean room
for cleaning; adjusting the set temperature in the clean
room from 22°C to 23.5°C in summer; stipulating that the
central air conditioner can only be put into use when the
indoor temperature is above 28°C and shall be set at the
temperature of no lower than 25°C, replacing the lighting
in public corridors and other places in the office area with
automatic ones that only work during working hours to
prevent leaving the lights on after work.
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3. CARE FOR EMPLOYEES AND MUTUAL
DEVELOPMENT
3.1 Safe Production

3. WERI (XRARAER

31 Z24£E

The Group cares for every employee and is committed
to protecting their health. It strictly complies with the
requirements of the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of
China ((FFZE AR £ FEH 4 8)%)), the Work Safety Law of
Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases ({F % A
B 4L 70 B B 22 4% 5 )8 7A)) and other laws and regulations,
and pay five types of social insurances and the housing
fund for employees according to national regulations, to
protect the physical and mental health of the employees in
an all-round way and ensure a safe working environment
to avoid any occupational hazards. The Group initiates
education and training on “Responsible for Production
Safety in Enterprises” for key production management
personnel, requiring them to fully understand the Group's
safety system and to lead by example in promoting a
safe production atmosphere within the enterprise. The
Company organizes medical examination for employees at
the time of joining and leaving the Company and arranges
regular annual occupational disease examination for
employees working for more than one year. The Company
conducts safety training and education for new employees
and provides professional safety training for employees
involved in the use of chemicals. Employees are equipped
with complete safety protective measures in their work
and the EHS position has been set up for supervision. The
EHS Production Safety Committee is the department in
charge of occupational health and safety of the Company.
For the acidic liquid chemicals, the Company has developed
management systems such as the Regulations on Safety

(==

Management of Hazardous Chemicals (/& (b £ § % &
E 3125 ) and Emergency Plan for Leakage of Hazardous
Chemicals ({f& 1k 2 i )% 55 & & T8 &) to effectively

supervise all chemical related activities.
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The Company makes the effort to ensure “production
safety” and strives to achieve the following three main
goals:

o Equipment safety: ensure the safety of all mechanical
equipment, including computers and data of network
devices, etc.

° Workforce safety: ensure the safety and health of
employees, including provision of safety training and
equipment and necessary insurance and benefits for
employees and compliance with relevant labour laws
and regulations.

o Physical safety: ensure the safety of its physical
equipment, including offices, factories and
warehouses, etc. This includes taking necessary
measures, such as installing monitoring equipment,
access control, etc., to protect the asset and
employees of the Company.

The Company’s subsidiary Hongbo Mining adheres to
the guideline of “safety first, prevention foremost, and
integrated management”, always highlighting occupational
health, work safety and environmental protection as
an important part of its corporate social responsibility
and reflecting this commitment to the full life cycle of
Hongbo Mining’'s production and operation activities. It
has established a health, safety and environment (“HSE")
management system and an operating mechanism which
integrates decision management, business operation,
technical support, and regulation and incentivization.

Since FY2021, the Group did not have any violation of
China’s relevant existing labour and safety laws and
regulations or experience any major accident seriously
jeopardizing employee safety or causing employee death.
In FY2024, the number of lost days due to work injury was
0.
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Comprehensive HSE System

Our subsidiary Hongbo Mining follows the PDCA

management model, that is, Plan-Do-Check-Action,

which forms a HSE system of cycles and continuous

improvement. The main contents include:

(1)

Leadership commitment, policy objectives and
responsibilities. The top leader of Hongbo Mining has
made a top-down commitment and established an
HSE guarantee system; formulated policy objectives
and performed management, and established
the guiding ideology of the HSE management
system; established an organization to clarify the
responsibilities of different departments, different
positions, and different types of jobs.

Organization, responsibility, resources and document
management. Hongbo Mining has established an HSE
management organization, clarifying responsibilities,
authorities and affiliation; reasonably allocating
human, financial and material resources to conduct
extensive training, so as to improve the awareness
and skills of all employees.
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(3) Risk assessment and hidden danger management.
Hongbo Mining has clarified the evaluation object,
established evaluation methods and procedures,
determined the influencing factors of hazards and
accidents, selected the judgment criteria and made
records; conducted assessment and treatment of
hidden dangers in the course of production.

(4)  Safety, health and environment system management
requirements of contractors and suppliers.

(5)  Design and construction of devices (facilities).

(6) Operation, maintenance, inspection and supervision
of the HSE management system.

(7)  Change management and emergency management.

(8)  Accident handling and prevention.

(9)  System audit, review and continuous improvement.
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Hongbo Mining has formulated the Employee Safety
Manual ({8 L% %2 Ffft)), Customary Violations and
Corrective Methods (& & 14 & & & 4l IE 5 %)), Hazard
Source ldentification and Risk Assessment Control
Management System (K7 B R % 55 B8 & e 57 4 42 1 B 18
#IE)), Operation Permit Management System ({{F % #F
A] & ¥ % fZ)), Traffic Safety Management System ({32 &
Z 2= EEH|[E)), Safety Rewards and Punishment System
((Z & #2# I Z ), Special Equipment Safety Management
System ((FEXEZE2EEH E)), Emergency
Management System ({fE=EIEHIE)), etc., including 36
safety management systems and regulations, 30 job safety
responsibilities, 52 job operation regulations, 7 assessment
rules and 6 emergency plans, in accordance with the HSE
system standard framework planning.

Hongbo Mining has established a safety organization
with the general manager as the team leader, and built
an operating system guided by the decision-making
management, implemented by the management and
achieved by the operation management, so as to fully
implement the safety management among the production
team and each employee, with its functions of all levels as
follows:

° The decision-making management is responsible
for establishing and improving Hongbo Mining’s
HSE responsibility system, setting up management
institutions and personnel, organizing the
formulation of rules and operating procedures, and
establishing and improving relevant records and files;
ensuring adequate HSE investment and effective
implementation; urging and checking HSE work,
timely controlling and eliminating the source of
danger; organizing to formulate and implement its
HSE accident emergency plan, and reporting the HSE
accident timely and truthfully.
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° The management implements the systems and
procedures in the HSE management system
according to the division of labour of the departments,
and guides the subordinate departments or
employees to carry out identification assessment, risk
control and performance assessment.

° The operation management accepts the HSE
education and training, and strictly implements the
operation-level documents of this position, including
operation instructions, job operation regulations, etc.
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Strengthening Risk Management and Control

Hongbo Mining has established a dual prevention
mechanism comprising hierarchical management and
control of safety risks as well as safety hazard identification
and rectification. With the overall work policy of “full
participation, risk control, continuous improvement,
performance assurance” and in accordance with the
requirement of “double duties in one position”, Hongbo
Mining required departments at all levels and relevant
departments not only to undertake the work within the
scope of their own responsibilities, but also to assume
the management of relevant production safety targets
and perform the responsibilities of production safety
in accordance with the principles of “responsibilities
vest to those in charge” and “safety keeps abreast of
production”. Hongbo Mining also divided the HSE policy
and objectives into all grassroots units, and puts the
measures of hazards identification and risk reduction
into positions step by step, so as to truly standardize
the operation of HSE management system from top to
bottom and promote the implementation of safety and
environmental responsibilities. Hongbo Mining attaches
great importance to safety management, and the safety
and environmental protection department is responsible for
improving the building of full-time and part-time emergency
team; formulates and organizes relevant emergency drill
plans every year; identifies, analyzes and evaluates the
risks caused by hazard sources, considers the adequacy
and effectiveness of existing control measures, determines
the acceptability of risks, and compiles the accident
risk assessment reports. Meanwhile, Hongbo Mining is
equipped with registered safety engineers to carry out
its safety supervision and management work, including
industrial hot work, pipelines, temporary electricity, access
to restricted space, hoisting, climbing etc.
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Safety Education for Employees

The Company arranges safety training and education
for new employees, in addition to professional safety
training for employees involved in the use of chemicals.
All employees are equipped with full range of protective
measures during the work process. The Company has
also set up EHS position, responsible for supervision. EHS
induction training covers all new recruits of the Company.
With highly attaching importance to the improvement of
employees’ safety awareness, Hongbo Mining, a subsidiary
of the Company, has established an integrated HSE
training system based on HSE theory, which covers various
and comprehensive aspects such as HSE management
concept, job responsibility awareness and emergency
response management. Hongbo Mining also arranges
different types of safety trainings on an ongoing basis
to carry out omnidirectional promotion of HSE through
different channels, such as safety education for employee
orientation, special equipment safety learning, traffic
safety training, daily safety education, safety education
for workers from contractors and educational safety
video watching activities, so as to improve employees’
competence on production and operation safety.
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Protection of Occupational Health of Employees

The Group strengthens the establishment of employee
occupational health management system and Hongbo
Mining has established an occupational health management
accountability mechanism, which stipulates that:

° The safety and environmental protection department
is responsible for establishing and improving the
occupational health management system and
the occupational health records, formulating the
occupational disease prevention programme and
implementation plan and the emergency rescue plan
for occupational hazard accidents, and organizing
employee medical examination; while also responsible
for occupational disease prevention and statistical
management, including identifying and evaluating
occupational hazards factors, conducting promotion
and education of occupational disease prevention,
contacting the Center for Disease Control and
Prevention on a regular basis, conducting inspection
of dust, noise and other occupational hazards sites
of each construction and production department, and
promptly notifying relevant departments to implement
rectification on the unqualified items identified on the
sites.
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The administration and personnel department shall
be responsible for signing labor contracts with
employees, and shall disclose to employees the
occupational hazards that may occur during the work
process and their consequences as well as wages
and benefits faithfully, which shall be stated in the
labor contracts. The employees who are found
to be suffering from occupational hazards during
occupational health examinations shall be transferred
in time and settled properly and the labor contracts
with employees can be annulled or terminated only
after they have undergone pre-departure occupational
health examinations.

All grass-roots departments are responsible for
the implementation of the prevention and control
measures on occupational hazards. They should
carry out regular inspection, repair, maintenance and
testing of occupational hazards prevention and control
equipment to ensure their normal operation, and
receive and distribute personal hygiene and protective
equipment to employees according to regulations;
and they shall not arrange employees with
occupational contra indications to engage in tasks
with occupational hazards, and shall establish and
improve occupational health management archives of
employees.
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° Employees should strictly abide by the requirements
of the occupational hazards prevention and
management system and occupational safety
and health operational rules during the production
process, and shall be entitled to the rights in terms
of the prevention, treatment and rehabilitation of
occupational hazards.

The Group provides occupational health check for
employees before employment, on the job and before
separation and maintains their occupational health records,
in addition to providing all employees with healthy and
adequate labor protection conditions and carrying out
employee occupational health monitoring and education
campaign, thereby implementing occupational health
management in a comprehensive and well-regulated
manner. During the reporting period, Hongbo Mining
continued to entrust a qualified technical service company
to provide occupational hazard testing for on-site workers,
and to detect noise, toxic and harmful substances and
other hazardous factors. The test results all meet the
requirements of occupational health limits, with the pass
rate of 100%.
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3.2 Employment and Protection of Employees’ Rights

and Benefits

The Group puts people first, respects and protects the
lawful rights and interests of its employees and implements
an employment policy of equality and non-discrimination,
and is committed to continuously refining its democratic
system, building an excellent career development
platform for employees, advancing workforce localization
and diversification, providing employees with a fair and
harmonious work environment, and achieving common
growth of the enterprise and the employees.

Employment Policy
The Group strictly complies with the Law of Employment
Promotion of the People’s Republic of China ({1 ZE A &
0B Bt % {2 #0%)), Labor Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China ({2 AR £ F B & &) & [F %)) and
other laws and regulations on recruitment and promotion,
dismissal, working hours, etc., and has established
comprehensive employment management rules and
systems, implemented fair and non-discriminatory
employment policy, including fair and just treatment
to employees with different nationalities, skin colors,
ethnicities, genders, religions and culture background.
The employees of the Group strictly implement the
requirements of the Employee Handbook ({ & ZF 1)), and
have formulated various systems such as the Staff Reward
and Punishment Management System ({ & T #8/% & 12 |
fE)), the Staff Leaves Management System (& T /K&
& ¥ H|[Z)), the Staff Occupational Accident Management
Policy ((ET THEEMHEEH E)), the Employee
Attendance Management System ({8 T E & B H E)),
the Employee Training Management System ({8 T153I%&
12 % £ )), the Employee Transaction Management System
((B L ZEF%E®H E)), the Administrative Measures on
Echelon Personnel ({## B A & & I2 i1 5%)), the Rules for
Recommending Talents ({8 T & A 42 E)#i 7E)), the
Management System for Skill Rating of Operating Staff
((BRIEMALE TR EEFRTEEEHIZE)) and the Social
Insurance and the Housing Provident Fund Management
System ((H &R ANEE AEL BB 4 E)) with strict
implementation.
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The Company enters into labor contracts with its
employees in obedience to the laws, with a signing rate of
100%. The Company has set up an 8-hour daily working
system. The Company confirms the age of job applicants
by reviewing the identity, verifying the qualification and
checking the contribution to social insurance, and strictly
prohibits and boycotts the employment of child labor in
any form. In order to implement the paid leave system,
the Company has taken various measures such as signing
of agreements and strict supervision of work time to
eliminate forced labor. The Company has established a
staff recruitment system, to conduct reasonable and fair
recruitment of personnel that meets the requirements
of the Company's positions. Meanwhile, the Company
attaches great importance to the business ability of human
resources personnel in all levels, and has organized various
trainings related to labor policies and regulations during the
reporting period.

Confronted with the ever-changing and diversified
employment market, the Company is aware of that the
need to continually improve our recruitment practices. We
have formulated a number of recruitment and employment
procedures and approval forms to optimize our recruitment
and employment processes. We will enhance our
background investigations of candidates and ensure that
all of interviewers are provided with anti-discrimination
training. The Company is also striving to improve its
diversity and inclusivity in order to attract talents within the
Company from a wider range of backgrounds.

During the reporting period, the Group did not have any
violation relating to employee rights and other labour
regulations, and no child labour and forced labour incidents
occurred.
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During the reporting period, the Group had a total of 339
employees, with 134 employees turnover. In view of
factors such as the business scope and work environment
of the Group, it has more male employees than female
employees, but there is no discrimination against gender,
race and region.

REREHA - AEBEHF B T 339

AN REKBETII3AA - AN AEE
X(%EE - TERESRE 58
THEZRLZETH#E  BTE
TEEAIER - ik - HRERRR ©

Distribution of the Employees of the Group by Employment Type (Person)

FEEZERENEINET M (A)

196

323

m Contracted (Full-time)  m Contracted (Part-time) Employed

BRI (Z2H) BRI GRER) S M thhe

m Dispatched
HMNRIRIE

Distribution of the Employees of the Group by Gender (Person)

rEBRUEBNEINET DM (A)

51

m Male Female

5% It
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Distribution of the Employees of the Group by Ethnicity (Person)
FEEZERKREAINEISM(A)

2
18 1 2

309

H Han m Mongol  mHui Manchu ® Other
EIS Sk )3 M Hth

Distribution of the Employees of the Group by Age (Person)
FEERFRIAINEIIMAN)
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m20-30 m31-40 m41-50 Above 50
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Distribution of the Employees of the Group by Region (Person)
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Democratic Management

The Group has established a sound mechanism of
democratic management with the labor union as the
main body under the assistance of the administrative and
personnel department, which emphasizes on giving play
to the employees’ function in democratic management,
democratic participation and democratic supervision, and
publishes all matters related to the rights and benefits of
their employees, such as soliciting employees’ advices on
the Group's related management system and feedbacks
on holiday arrangements of the Group. The Group insists
on implementing democratic procedures, strengthens the
disclosure of factory operation through multiple channels
such as departmental meetings and regular meetings of the
Company, special meetings for business discussion, face-
to-face conversations, internal publications and WeChat
platform, encourages the employees to participate in the
discussion and receives opinions from the employees.
During the reporting period, no opinions were received
from employees.

Hongbo Mining, a subsidiary of the Company, issues the
breakdown of their current month’s leave, leave days taken
in the previous month and the remaining leave days of the
year to each employee on the 27th day of each month. The
Company adheres to the distribution system with labor-
based distribution dominant and a variety of distribution
modes coexisting with fair grading. The Company pays on
or before the 5th day of each month with the wage strips
recording it on time; The Company conducts satisfaction
surveys twice and 1 employee discussion every year to
collect all the advice from employees on the spot.
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Rights and Benefits Protection

The Group is committed to protecting its employees’ rights
and benefits and has a well-established mechanism for the
protection of employees’ rights and interests, including
remuneration and benefits, health insurance, working hours
and leave system.

The Group has established a sound, protective and
competitive system of remuneration and benefits and
built a system of remuneration management based on job
values, personal ability and performance, which geared
to achieving effective interaction between corporate
performance and employees’ income. The Group is
committed to optimizing their remuneration structures with
innovative incentives and remuneration communication
mechanisms to make allocation fair and scientific. The
Group has complied with national social security, employee
welfare and other relevant regulations by making corporate
contributions to social securities such as pension, medical
care, work-related injury, maternity, unemployment and
housing provident fund with a social security coverage
rate of 100%. The Group also provides group accident
insurance in addition to the national social insurance, giving
further accident assurance for our employees. In terms
of holidays, in addition to the paid holidays, annual leave,
marriage leave, maternity leave, paternity leave and other
holidays stipulated by the country and the region, the Group
also provides lactation leave for female employees, that
is, one to two hours of lactation leave per day for female
employees with child less than one year old.
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The Group attaches great importance to the job satisfaction
and incentives of its employees. In order to understand
the needs and feedback of employees, and improve and
refine the Company’'s management and services according
to employees’ suggestions, the Group conducts employee
communication meetings regularly. We also provide
incentives such as bonus and promotions based on the
performance of employees to encourage employees to
achieve a better performance in their work.

During the reporting period, the Group did not have any
violation relating to the employee remuneration, working
time, equal opportunities, anti-discrimination and other
welfare matters.

3.3 Employee Training and Career Development

The Group supports talent cultivation, attaches importance
to facilitating talent education, pays attention to the
improvement of professional ability and comprehensive
quality of their employees, establishes a career
development platform that enables mutual development
of the Company and its employees and adheres to the
guidelines of “providing quality training to facilitate
development”. The Company has formulated the Employee
12 HI )

to clarify the summary and sharing of the training effects as

Training and Management System ({8 L3

well as the management of training certificates.

3.3
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We have formulated training plans based on the advices
and recommendations from the employees, providing
the employees with planned trainings related to
corporate culture, professional knowledge, post skills and
comprehensive quality. The trainings target to improve
working skills and professional quality of our employees, so
as to fulfill the development needs for both the Company
and the staff. Meanwhile, we also attach importance to the
enhancement of employee’s comprehensive development,
including professional knowledge, communication skill
and career skill. In addition to face-to-face trainings, the
Group also offers other trainings in various forms such as
self-learning, special seminars, exchange sessions and
job rotation, in order to enhance the training efficiency
and effects and continuously improve the employees’
knowledge and working initiatives.

Hongbo Mining, a subsidiary of the Company, has
developed the Skill Rating Management System for
Operating Staff ((ER{EMA B THESHFTTEEHE))
with the aim of improving the staff's operating skills, which
formed a comprehensive training system with multiple
layers.

Our training covers a wide range of engagement, including
all staff, middle management and senior management.
During the reporting period, the training program of the
Group covered 90% of the employees, with each employee
receiving an average of 17.5 hours of training.
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Average hours of

Percentage of

training (hour)

ZI PR (DNE)

employees trained

ZIEEEDL

By rank Leadership
and management
REERERE
General staff
TWMET

REMRE D

Male
Bt
Female

gk

By gender
I RIE 5

Based on the training needs collected from different
departments, the Group formulates a training plan for all
employees at the beginning of every year and implements
such plan quarterly throughout the year on a priority basis.
After the completion of relevant professional and personal
improvement trainings, the Group collects feedbacks from
the trained employees in a timely manner. The trainings
during the reporting period were well received, which in the
opinion of our employees actively provided supplemental
knowledge and skills improvement for the employees’
career development.

During the reporting period, trainings organized by the
Group included general trainings, safety trainings and
professional technical trainings and other trainings.

99% 14.4
88% 18.4
92% 17.5
83% 17.5
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General Trainings

‘A
Business negotiation (2 sessions) Problem analysis and solving (4 sessions)
R (2 5) I RE AT B R (4 HA)
Effective meetings (2 sessions) Project management
=g (28) HHER

Knowledge and product introduction of solar cell industry

KEZBeE 1T HE AN M E T4

Interviewing skills

EESs35]

New employee orientation trainings (12 sessions)
T8 T ABIEI(128)

Presentation skills

HERD

Safety Trainings
Z 25

Protection and emergency response for chemical use
L2 on i FA D) & B e =

chamber operation standards
chamber fE ¥ 1Z %

Occupational hazards and emergency plans

BERETHESAR

Management specifications on electricity
use in workshops

ERAEEERE

Management Regulations on the Special Equipment
and Personnel Safety, Management Regulations on
Fire Safety, Application and Acceptance Procedures for
Maintenance and Alteration of Additional Work
(FREREIRAERZEZERREEMZZERHRE)
CGRIE TR B ENUE R BRBURIE)

Management regulations on tools
TAEERE

Management regulations on equipment maintenance
RiBEEEERT

Management requirements
EIBRE

Instruction training on operation of electrical spark tester

BAIERAE R IEREEE
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Professional Technical Trainings

BERIERE

Solutions to common electrical problems

ERTREEREN A

Continuous Process Improvement,
Processing for Field Defect

(BESERIZES T REEKF)

Trainings for ISO internal trainer

RELER=E]

ISO9001 (Internal auditor training)
ISO9001 (N B 153l)

Production process control

EEBREE

Key concerns of grooved/chain machine trainings

s R e ERTE IR

Trainings on attention points involved in inspection of
incoming raw materials

RAEHR BT B FEIE

Appearance Standard 180-00002-000-p01 in PDT
Standard Document
PDT 42 % 32 {4 180-00002-000-p01 N 122 #E

Trainings on database use

Process quality control checkpoint trainings

SR B A 5 A BREEEHRE R
Trainings on database update Operation requirement trainings
BRI A TERZKIFI

Appearance standard for welding of plastic parts Checklist update trainings
BRI R INBIRE RE B EHEI

Professional Technical Trainings (Hongbo Mining)

BERIMRE

i (R1EREE)

Special operation trainings (height climbing,
pressure vessel, welding, high and low pressure)

FREEXRE (BS  BHRRE  BE  SEE)

Hydrogen sulphide protection technology trainings

PRI By E R A3

Well control trainings

#T/Liﬁ*”

Level 3 drilling supervision trainings

g&i%#gkfxi:‘z*”

HSE management position trainings
HSE & 32 i iz 15 31

Special trainings on high-tech enterprise
SR g a1t

Trainings for key personnel in charge of onshore oil
and gas exploration and production safety
management personnel

EFAMAARAREIZEEEANLELEE
EEABE

EERBRERQT / F£#,2025

191



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R wgkERRE

192

With rich content, strong practicality, original training
methods and high interaction, our training courses obtained
remarkable effects and widely recognition and reception
from the staff.

Employee Promotion Mechanism

The Group, in view of employees’ career development
needs and in the light of the characteristics of different
types of talent, is committed to improving its two-channel
career development system where employees can choose
to develop towards the managerial or specialised direction,
and establishing platforms and mechanisms geared to
“unleashing and utilising the talent of everyone”. In this
regard, it has put in place fair and scientific assessment
methods to ensure that high-calibre employees stand
out while continuously expanding the room for career
development for employees and providing them with a
career development ladder in management and professional
skills and the corresponding resources to support the talent
development.

The Company will provide technical post promotion,
management post promotion, cross-department transfer/
recruitment and other different promotion channels. The
broad potential development and opportunities we provided
enables our employees to select a suitable development
channel for themselves in accordance with their personal
interest and competence. With respect to the particular
practice of employee promotion, the Company has
established a clear promotion process to ensure a fair,
equitable and transparent employee promotion. We wiill
evaluate and assess our employees on their performance,
contribution, and professional quality, and make promotion
decisions based on the promotion criteria and processes.
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Hongbo Mining, a subsidiary of the Company, formulated
the Administrative Measures on Echelon Personnel ({#%
Bx A B &I E)) in relation to the employee promotion
management system, which strictly made a clear echelon
boundary between middle management and junior
management as well as screened and defined the backup
personnel at each level of management. During the
reporting period, in accordance with the professional title
assessment document of the Human Resources and Social
Security Bureau and the requirements of the Assessment
Conditions of Professional and Technical Qualification
in Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region ((W % & B4
@ & i E RS E A& 1)), Hongbo Mining submitted
professional title assessment materials for five qualified
employees, specializing in geological engineering and
environmental engineering, which made the professional
and technical skills of employees reach a new level. As
of the end of the reporting period, Hongbo Mining had
5 employees for special operations and 11 employees
for safety management. The rate of employment with
certificate reached 100%.

In the future, we will improve the employee promotion
mechanism from the following aspects:

(1) improvement in promotion criteria and processes:
we will further improve the promotion criteria and
processes to ensure fair, equitable and transparent
criteria and concise, efficient and convenient
processes.

(2) broadness in promotion channels: we will further
widen the promotion channels, and our employees
will be provided with more promotion opportunities
and potential development to achieve their self-worth
and dreams.

(3)  enhancement in training and development: we will
enhance the training and development of employees,
promoting their professional quality and working
skills, so as to advance the competitiveness and
success rate of employee promotion.
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(4) feedback and summary in promotion result: we
will regularly provide feedback and summary on
the promotion result of our staff to understand the
effectiveness of the promotion mechanism and the
improvement direction, so as to further improve the
employee promotion mechanism.

3.4 Employee Care

194

The Group cares about the life and health of its employees. We
celebrate employees’ birthdays and provide condolences and
assistance to sick employees in order to make them feel the
warmth and care from the Company. We also organize regular
staff fitness activities to improve employees’ physical fitness
and work efficiency. We organize related activities on occasions
of holidays as well. Meanwhile, the Group focuses on team
building and culture building of our staff, and actively promotes
the construction of the department. We will regularly organize
staff activities, such as dinners and team building, to enhance
communication and co-operation among our staff. In order to
improve the living standards of families of employees with
difficulties, the Group gradually implements employee assistance
programs to care for employees with difficulties, establishes
a regular mechanism for visits and condolences to employees
in difficulties, carries out the activities of “sending warmth and
giving love” and sets up a system for helping employees with
major illnesses, thus gradually forming a sustainable poverty
alleviation system with full coverage, strong support and multi-
party participation.
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APPENDIX — INDEX TO THE ENVIRONMENTAL, [figf — E8BXMAEE (de8RE
SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE AR &iE5I)AAESI
OF THE HONG KONG STOCK EXCHANGE

Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content of the Report

(B - HEaRERHBEESD BERAR

Subject Area A. Environmental = Z5EA. R1E
Aspect A1: Emissions BT A1 : HE Y

Al General Disclosure 2. ENVIRONMENTAL

—MRIXER PROTECTION, ENERGY
CONSERVATION AND EMISSION

Information on: REDUCTION

FRABERIRERBYN MAKRIHHES BEEREEEEYNE 2. RERE DR

HFE :
2.1 Emissions Management

(a) the policies; and 2.1 e & 38

(@) BUE: Kk

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

b) BTHBETABERZENHERER LA

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

AR -

Note: Air emissions include NO,, SOx and other pollutants regulated under national laws and
regulations.

2 BERIENEEASEY WA REMZETEERBORENTEY
Greenhouse gases include carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide, hydrofluorocarbons,
perfluorocarbons and sulphur hexafluoride.

BRERBEE SR Fi SCER  SERILAY  2RERESAEALEH -

Hazardous wastes are those defined by national regulations.

BEEBEEMIERZROIMAEE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content of the Report
(RIR - HERERBEES]D BERE

Al.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. 2.1 Emissions Management
A1 HERRE SR AR BE P BUR - 20 E

Al1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions 2.1 Emissions Management
(in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

Al2 EBEE(EBE1) REREE (BE2) REREBANE CABETE) (0 218D ER
BR)EE(WMASEEEMN  BERETE)

A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, 2.1 Emissions Management
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

Al3 FEXAZEEVESE UBAE) X (WER)BE (WMABEEEN - 215K ER
HIER AT E

Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, 2.1 Emissions Management
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

A4 FEABREEZEVES UBAE) X (WER)BE (WMASESEMN - 215K ER

BIERMETE
A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. 2.1 Emissions Management
A1.5  HEAFTET VB E B IR R AR ESE L B IR AT AR P58 o 2.1 BER B I8

A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, 2.1 Emissions Management
and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

A6 HIARBAEEREEEEVNAE  REAMIZARERERAED 218K ER
BRI 5 o
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content of the Report

(RE - HERERHREESD BERAR

Aspect A2: Use of Resources BT A2 : R A

A2 General Disclosure 2.2 Use and Management of
— R R Resources
228 REARER

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and
other raw materials.

BRERER(BERIR - KREAM R ) BBUR -

Note: Resources may be used in production, in storage, transportation, in buildings,
electronic equipment, etc.

i ARUTARAEE - f#fF B& BT BEFRHEF-

A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas 2.2 Use and Management of
or oil) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production Resources
volume, per facility).

A2.1 RENESHERER SEEER(WE - f308) @FE (UTETRE 228REARER
RHat8) RBE (MASES B - BARBAH) -

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production 2.2 Use and Management of
volume, per facility). Resources

A22 RFEKERZE(WMABESEN  SERETE) 228 RERRERE

A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to 2.2 Use and Management of

achieve them. Resources
A23  HRALFTE] M AIREIR(E Az B IE R A= EliE L B FT RN A 25 o 228 RERAREE

A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for 2.2 Use and Management of
purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Resources

A2.4  HEAUCKEGERKR ERIBEAEE  ARARTI VAR mERERAE 228 REARERE
B BRI EREREY 8K -

A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if 2.1 Emissions Management
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

A25  BINEFTReEMENEs (UEAE)R(ER) SEEBR(hE - 2.1 e & 1R
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content of the Report

(RE  -HERER|EESD BERE

Aspect A3: Environment and Natural Resources EE A3 : BIER XRER

A3 General Disclosure 2.3 Ecological Protection in
— AR R Operating Regions

23FE LA RRRE
Policies on minimising the issuers’ significant impact on the environment
and natural resources.

WRBEITABRERRAERERNENZENBR -
A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment 2.3 Ecological Protection in
and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them. Operating Regions

A3l HAEEERBHRBLRRAAERNEAZENCROERABEYENTTY - 23 ELHERRE

Aspect A4: Climate Change BH A4 : F{Z%E 1t

A4 General Disclosure 2.4 Tackling Climate Change
—RIKE 24 EHRIRE

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

AN EHEER AR HBETAEEXENEARKEREENRE

A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have 2.4 Tackling Climate Change
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken
to manage them.

A4l HIERRAIREEHBRTAELEFENEARBRABEE @ REHTH - 24BHEREEL
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content of the Report

(RE - HERERHREESD BERAR

Subject Area B. Social T Z£EB. &
Employment and Labour Practices EfE & % T &R
Aspect B1: Employment EEB1 : &%

B1 General Disclosure 3.2 Employment and Protection of
— R Employees’ Rights and Benefits

32EERE THE=ERE
Information on:
BTN EE BEREA  TESSE - RE - FEKe 2
[RBRARIA R B At 5738 R Ag A Y

(@)  the policies; and

(@ Xk

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

b) BTHBEITABERZENHERERZ LA

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

BYER) o
B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (e.g. full-time or part-time), 3.2 Employment and Protection of
age group and geographical region. Employees’ Rights and Benefits

B1.1 R BEEE (WEBEERE) FRAJNKRSDHNESAK - 32REREITRDRE

B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. 3.2 Employment and Protection of
Employees’ Rights and Benefits
B1.2  ®&RMA - FiRER RivREISHESRKLE - 32EERE ILHE=RE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content of the Report

(RE - HERERHREESD BERAR

Aspect B2: Health and Safety B B2 : 2 FEHZ %2

B2 General Disclosure 3.1 Safe Production
— IR SNREEE

Information on:

ERREHZ2THERERMRERBERBELREN

(@)  the policies; and

(@ BE: Rk

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

b) BTHBEITABERZENHEREE LA

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.

BYER) o

B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past 3.1 Safe Production
three years including the reporting year.

B21 BE=F(PEERFE)SFRAITHAABRLX- SIREHEE

B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. 3.1 Safe Production

B22 HIBEAIEHE- BIREEE

B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and 3.1 Safe Production
how they are implemented and monitored.

B23  HAMRMNBEEREREZ2EN  URERATRERTE - BIREHEE

200 PRODUCTIVE TECHNOLOGIES COMPANY LIMITED / Annual Report 2025



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RR L ENEARE

Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide

(RE - HERERHREESD

Aspect B3: Development and Training B B3 : 2 & K %3l

B3

B3.1

B3.1

B3.2

B3.2

General Disclosure

—REE

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging
duties at work. Description of training activities.

ERRTEERTIERENMNBRKENBE - it iE7ES

Note: Training refers to vocational training. It may include internal and external courses paid

by the employer.
i BIEREEI UREARINBOHANINDRIE

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category
(e.g. senior management, middle management).

ZUHRIREERR (NEREREE HREEBEZ) IASNXIEER
D e

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and
employee category.

R REEERIE D  BREETKX I FIRE -

Content of the Report
BEAR

3.3 Employee Training and Career
Development

33E THIIRBEERE

3.3 Employee Training and Career
Development

33E THIIRBXERE

3.3 Employee Training and Career
Development

3IBTHIIRBEERE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content of the Report

(RE - HERERHREESD BERAR

Aspect B4: Labour Standards EE B4 : & T %8|

B4 General Disclosure 3.2 Employment and Protection of
— AR R Employees’ Rights and Benefits

32EENRE THEmIRE
Information on:

BN IEE T ko845 TH -

(@)  the policies; and

(a) B Rk
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

b) BTHBEITABERZENHEREE LA

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

B E K o
B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child 3.2 Employment and Protection of
and forced labour. Employees’ Rights and Benefits
B4.1 s MIBEHINERARSET RAKISLT - 32EERE IH=RE

B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. 3.2 Employment and Protection of
Employees’ Rights and Benefits
B42 HMAEZERBRERBAREGRABBRAKIRN LR - 32EMRE TH#=ERE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide

(RE - HERERHREESD

Operating Practices =
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management /E

B5

B5.1

B5.1

B5.2

B5.2

B85

553

B5.4

B5.4

EEEH
HB5 : HtEFEEE
General Disclosure

—MRIXEE

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.

EIEHEEAIRE ML SRR

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

iR S HHEEHEA -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how they are
implemented and monitored.
A R R R e e g Al
AEHIRITRER A -

RMERTEREBEINHERZRE  AEE

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks
along the supply chain and how they are implemented and monitored.
MR HRHEESERGHNIRREREGRARNES - ARB@ERT
REERTE -

Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable
products and services when selecting suppliers and how they are
implemented and monitored.

e 200 TR BROE R (R (R % IR IR EE mn IR TS V1B 1] -
BB AE e

ARBBEAITR

Content of the Report
BEAR

1.3 Collaborative Supply and
Orderly Management

13 EwHR EREF

1.3 Collaborative Supply and
Orderly Management

13 EHR EREF

1.3 Collaborative Supply and
Orderly Management

13 EIHRA EEAF

1.3 Collaborative Supply and
Orderly Management
1.3 EHR BEREF

1.3 Collaborative Supply and
Orderly Management

1.3 EHR EEAF
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide

(RE - HERERHREESD

Content of the Report
BEAR

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility BEB6 : Em S E

B6

B6.1

B6.1

B6.2

B6.2

B6.3

B6.3

B6.4

B6.4

B6.5

B6.5

204

General Disclosure

—REE

Information on:
AREMREERMBRENERELT 2
FEH

B

RERALREE AR

(a)  the policies; and

@ K R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

b) ETHBETABERZENHERERRARM

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.

AR -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recall for safety
and health reasons.

EEXRDEXERRBTRLEERFEEHAMALKRNED

Number of products and service-related complaints received and how
they are dealt with.
BEEBNERMREHIRFHE AREHE A -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual
property rights.

R E R RENBEETHENED -

Description of quality assurance process and product recall procedures.

i E SR TERERERBKREF
Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they
are implemented and monitored.

HiE B EEMRERLRBE - URERRTRERTA -
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1.2 Ensuring Quality and Deepen
Service

1288RE RBERE

Not applicable

i

1.2 Ensuring Quality and Deepen
Service

1288RE RERL

1.1 Rising to the Challenge
and Pursuing Innovation-driven
Development

T1BRE BIFaIE

1.2 Ensuring Quality and Deepen
Service

1288RE RFRL

1.2 Ensuring Quality and Deepen
Service

12E8RE RBERL



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RR L ENEARE

Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content of the Report

(RE - HERERHREESD BERAR

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption BHEB7 : R &5

B7 General Disclosure 1.5 Internal Control and Anti-
— R R corruption

15NIEEHR RRERX
Information on:

BRI LR - IR - MEFROLRER

(@)  the policies; and

(@ X Rk

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

b) BTHBEITABERZENHERERZ LA

relating to preventing bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

B R -

B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought 1.5 Internal Control and Anti-
against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the corruption
outcomes of the cases.

B7.1 RERBAHBETASNEEEREVEELANETHARENHEER 15AFEHR REER
FrELAESR o

B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, 1.5 Internal Control and Anti-

how they are implemented and monitored. corruption
B7.2 P EEMEREBWZT - ARBERITRERTE 15REEHR BEER
B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. 1.5 Internal Control and Anti-
corruption
B7.3 fimEFRETIRHNORETHE - 15NZEEHR BRERR
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content of the Report

(RE - HERERHREESD BERAR

Community it &
Aspect B8: Community Investment EHEBS8 : #t ERE

B8 General Disclosure 1.4 Community Services and
— MR Contribution to the Society

14RBHER FEES
Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take
into consideration the communities’ interests.
RN EL2ER T REEMTHETENRREXLEZSSEE (M
B2 A & A BUR -

B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, Explained
labour needs, health, culture, sport).

B8.1 EIERERE(NHE  REEH HIFK @R - 8g5) - O

B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Explained

B82 THEEIHEMBAER(MEENRRE) O
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Bz B AR S

KPMG

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO

THE SHAREHOLDERS OF PRODUCTIVE
TECHNOLOGIES COMPANY LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda and continued in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Productive
Technologies Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 215 to 320, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow
statement for the year then ended and notes, comprising material
accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2025 and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”)
together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the consolidated financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

BIUIGBMBEEREERRARARL
Al iR =R

(RERZAMK T I RFEHEFENEFR
AVT))

BR

Az e (A TEEIRM) EEAIIERNE
215 ER0EMEEFMZRERAA UATH
WIEXAR) MENBAR CATHREIRE
) WEREMEHRE M BERREER
Z_RF=A=1+HHKREHBHR KA
BEZRALFENGRERR HABRaER
HtrmlaR GARSZHRNELR
ERER UEKKHE BEEASTBEERE
Bt BB R -

BZHRR  ZEREVBHREAERETES
Ao g ((ERERMALAE)) BAENCER
MBREENGAEEEMF SRR T
ERER_ZE_RF=RA=+—HHNKEEH
BRAMBEZB LFENGEAMBERIRK
FAERERE  WEERBB(RAGRH) B
BERZOBHE -

BEROER
HMERBEFE S ASEMO(ERET
ERDN((BFRBTE ) ETRET - BHAE
ZEEUTARNEECEARE [ZHAH
Bal R I BB E AR E T |80 e —
FEA - RIBFBFAGAMASBMH(ERES
FHEBRETRD CATEEIFRL) L RER
MEHEREREMBRRNEAHENE
RER RMABURESE VYERETEL
BRERARTAFNEMERERET -
BAEE BAMESHNETBREELETER
EEWRRMANET B RIEHER -
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B XA RS

KEY AUDIT MATTER

BT FER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement, FE#RBTEEERBERMANEEHE 25
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial ¥ AHIG AR ERENBA ZAEENEIE -
statements of the current period. The matter was addressed in the GELEBEIEERMFEFEBGATERRL
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements asa HEERBETEEN - BT SHELS
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a IBIRHEBHNER

separate opinion on this matter.

Assessing potential goodwill impairment

& TE R Bl E AT

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the FE2HiFEMEHRFN T 17 RE275EHME

accounting policies on page 275.

The Key Audit Matter

S -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

MREHEE

On 18 August 2022, the Group acquired the entire equity
interest in Shanghai Rena Trading Co., Ltd. and Rena Solar
Technologies (Yiwu) Co., Ltd., as well as certain sales
contracts, the solar IP licensing arrangement, the non-
competition arrangement, the transitional services agreement
and the transitional trademark license agreement (the
“Acquisition”). The group of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed under the Acquisition constituted a newly acquired
business of the Group (the “Acquired Business”).
RZZEZZFNA+N\R ESEKELHERMESFERE
ERARKIRMAGRERR (BR) AR AR Z 2 ARE - AR
ETHESRN KRGEHEABERTIRY:  THFLH B
ERR TS 2 BB IR Al ek (BB E]) - WESE1RIA
THEABERMAEGEEFNBEXESE —BHKEEY
(TP igERs ) -

BAWETNAEEZSEE

Our audit procedures to assess the potential
impairment of goodwill in relation to the acquisition
included the following:

Bt B EE R 2B ERB T (AR ETIE
FFEEATEIE

° assessing the design and implementation
of the key control over the management’s
impairment assessment on goodwill;

e FHMEEMAEREEREBRER A ERITHINE
TR E

° assessing management’'s identification
of CGUs and the allocation of assets and
liabilities to these CGUs with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;

e ZERMTEHERNER THEBREHRSE
EXBUNBRIAREENMABEXZTHEE
ABUR D
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued) REBFEMNASER B

Assessing potential goodwill impairment (continued) B TE B 2Rl (E A (18)

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the AR F4FAMEHRENF 17X FE275BHE
accounting policies on page 275. TR o

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

HAEETEE BMHET M EEZEE

Goodwill arising from the Acquisition amounted to HK$265.6 e assessing the external valuer's competence,

million which represented the excess of the consideration capabilities and objectivity;

paid over the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and o  FFEIMNEBHERANEE - e H R EEIE

the liabilities assumed of the Acquired Business. ° obtaining and inspecting the valuation report
U B8 55 78 7= A 7 22 265,600,000 78 7T © A B AE R H TS prepared by the external valuer;

ERFTBIE T BRI EERFTREABENAABENITS ° BB REEIINPEEMEREOGEERS

° involving our internal valuation specialists to
assist us in evaluating the appropriateness
of the valuation methodology adopted in the
impairment assessment with reference to
the requirements of prevailing accounting
standards and the reasonableness of the
discount rate used in the cash flow forecast by
benchmarking against other similar companies
in the same industry;

e SIABRMIRBHERR  BEBEMBERT
G ERW BRI R EN R AGE
FERBEEN - WBRERFRAMBURNFE
T8 AERESRBAFAERARRENS
e G
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued) REBFEASER B

Assessing potential goodwill impairment (continued) B TE B 2 E 7S (18)

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the AR F4FAMBEHRENF 17X FE275BHE
accounting policies on page 275. FTBE °

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BAMESTNMEEZEE

The Key Audit Matter

HAEEITEE

Management assessed impairment of goodwill as at 31 March
2025 with reference to a valuation report prepared by an
external valuer. The recoverable amount was determined by
management by preparing the discounted cash flow forecast
for the relevant cash generating units (“CGUs"). This involves
significant management judgement and estimation including
forecast revenue growth rate, profit margin and discounted
rate adopted. During the year ended 31 March 2025, the
Group recognised an impairment loss on goodwill of HK$67.6
million, which relates to the Acquired Business.
EEE2ZIMEEMRENGERS  FH_T_0AF=
A=T—BHEERERBL EEERAGRUEERESES
BEU((REELEN)NURBSREUETE T KE S -
by REXNEIRE ARG BEMMRANTERAR AL R
L FEERMRE #HE_ZET_RF=HA=1T—HILFE "
& 5 [ Bt P W B 35 765 7 2R 7 R (BB 18 67,600,000 7 7T ©
We identified assessing potential goodwill impairment as
a key audit matter because of the assessment of potential
impairment of goodwill are inherently subjective and require
significant judgement and estimation which increase the risk
of error or potential management bias.

MR EEREREARES FHIL  FIELERHE KME
o MUEENTHERIEEERERENRER - BMETE
BERERESNRERETEE -
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challenging the reasonableness of forecast
revenue growth rate and profit margin with
internal business plan and external industry
statistics, if available; and

B3 A BF S IS 5T 8 R AN EDAT HE Sr At B (JA AT
F)HEBARARREERMBEERSIE MR D
RN

assessing the reasonableness of the
disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of the impairment
assessment of goodwill with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

VR R A CIE e

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRS as issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

FEMBHEERREXBENRS L
52

EEFHEMERAE HMEERERETHE
RERANZIES  ETEREEE MR
REB I BEI RS -

B GEEMBHRRNBERE NMREEME
B RS AHZEEMERERTAMER
HEEEWR °

BAEBMEEAMBRROET  RMANE
TEMEEMER  HiBiEd  EEHEAM
FEERBEGEMBBRIBMALERIER
TARTHROBEAGEEAEBHEUTFE
ERERRAANER

ERNFZMEHITHIE MREMARSEA
EEFEERERRL  RMAFTEREZSE
- fEESE  BPPREBEMERSE -

i

\

EFRGEMERRARENRE

EXFAERBEBTEGTMASRMH(ER
MBEREEN) RBECRARGIDBREEE
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BB HRROBRETFERNKFFRERM
EYMERERRAFAFTHAIMEFER -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B Az BER S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TS A% BEM ¥R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Commmittee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B XA RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’'s report is Chu Man Wai (practising certificate number:
P04995).

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

27 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

Z,_\_, |:| \/
]\\/\|:| Z:E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE =%

Revenue
Cost of sales and service

Gross profit

Investment loss, net

Other net gains
Administrative expenses
Impairment loss on goodwill
Taxes other than income tax

Research and development expenses
Selling and marketing expenses
Exploration expenses, including dry holes
Impairment loss on trade and other

receivables

Loss from operations

Finance income
Finance cost

Net finance income/(costs)

Loss before taxation

Income tax

Loss for the year

LION
HE MRBRA

E7

BREBEFR

H 3 W as

TR X

BEREREE
RT3 LASM B IR
BRI

HENREHFAX
WK - BiREHt

TR MK R R e L A B UURRIR 2
B 518

REBR

BE WA
B & R

BEWA(RA) FHE

BB AT B 1R

PRt

FEBER

10

—HFE=ZA=T—RBIEFE GBI

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—HLEE

2025 2024
—E_RF —ENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
278,829 543,638
(214,870) (461,435)
63,959 82,203
(42,853) (44,225)

7,491 21,720
(112,553) (186,661)
(67,622) =
(19,285) (22,168)
(112,483) (1563,270)
(24,094) (40,211)

(856) (764)

(2,958) (1,218)

,,,,,,,, (311,254) (344,594)
18,491 20,114
(11,037) (24,881)
,,,,,,,,,,, 7.454 RN ol)
(303,800) (349,361)
(9,254) (12,770)
(313,054) (362,131)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

. = N/
=IAN ==
I A = g e NN

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) &2 =2 - RA4% = A=+—H L& E GABTIIR)

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—HLEE

2025 2024
—E-RE —E PO
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT T
Attributable to: FEAL -

Equity shareholders of the Company A &l#E 5% 8 (303,814) (347,484)
Non-controlling interests eI IR M (9,240) (14,647)
Loss for the year FEER (313,054) (362,131)

Loss per share BREE
— Basic — B HK$ (4.105 cent) HK$ (4.689 cent)
(4.105 781l (4.689 711l
— Diluted — 88 HKS$ (4.105 cent) HKS$ (4.689 cent)

(4.105 &l ) (4.689 78111

The notes on pages 224 to 320 form part of these financial statements. TN E 224 B EFE 320 BN B2 S0 7%
HE MBS ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSSAND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
reBm M AR E W S

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) &2 =2 - A4 = A=+—HILFE GABTIIR)

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—HLEE

2025 2024
“EBC-HEF —ZT-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Loss for the year FEER (313,054) (362,131)_
Other comprehensive income for the FEHMZENE (RBEER
year (after tax and reclassification ENOBRAER)
adjustments)
Items that may be reclassified AJRERABEN 7 HEEm ZEA -

subsequently to profit or loss:

Foreign currency translation differences NS I BT = E (7,777) (29,684)
Other comprehensive income for the year £ E Hth 2 W N L (29,684)
Total comprehensive income for the year FE2H K EEE (320,831) (391,815)
Attributable to: PG -

Equity shareholders of the Company ZAN/NSI L 35 (311,235) (375,890)

Non-controlling interests IR R (9,596) (15,925)
Total comprehensive income for the year FE2H W EHE (320,831) (391,815)

The notes on pages 224 to 320 form part of these financial statements. TN E 224 BEEFE 320 BN B2 S 7%
HE MBS ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

NN R

At 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) R =2 - H&=F=+—H (LAETIIR)

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Construction in progress

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Right-of-use assets

Interest in associates

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Other non-current assets

Current assets

Inventories

Trade receivables

Bills receivables

Other receivables

Prepayment

Other current assets

Restricted cash

Time deposits with maturities over
three months but within one year

Cash and cash equivalents

At 31 March At 31 March
2025 2024
R-ZZ-HF T4
=ZA=1+—H0 ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT T
FIRBEE
e 14 394,300 410,491
ERETE 15 9,739 6,999
EREE 16 109,953 123,882
kS 17 198,010 265,632
ERAEEE 18 30,540 36,900
R A B RER 20 140,743 207,293
FEBRBEREALEEYERD
PREE 21 169,780 102,764
HinIERE & E 22 16,126 39,431
1,069,191 1,193,392
REBEE
rE 23 437,883 463,279
JE 5 BR 3K 24 97,539 93,532
JEW E 15 24 5,498 8,440
H A fE W SR IE 24 33,288 31,192
TR IR 35,281 56,994
H A mEh & E 19,955 45,686
PR HIER 21(a) 211,781 199,182
FHBE A=A E—FLRD
T HTF K 77,784 133,049
ReRBLFEY 25 330,960 398,391
1,249,969 1,429,745
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

NN R P

At 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) R =2 - H&=F=+—H (LAETIIR)

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Contract liabilities

Bank and other borrowings
Lease liabilities

Other current liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Provisions

NET ASSETS

RBAE

P A5 R R % L At B AN TR
ERAE
RIT R E A E K
HER®E

HiRERE

RBEEFE

HREERRBEE

FRBEE

EXERBAE
B

EEFE

At 31 March At 31 March
2025 2024
R-ZZ-HF T4
ZA=1—H ===
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT THTT
26 390,555 423,388
30,841 54,506
27 333,106 261,100
29 7,892 11,191
8,142 11,655
o 770536 761,840
479,433 667,905
1,548,624 1,861,297
29 10,404 14,029
30(b) 193 7,086
31 87,729 81,951
o 98326 103,066
1,450,298 1,758,231
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AR ISR S 5%

At 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) R =2 - H&=F=+—H (LAETIIR)

At 31 March At 31 March

2025

R-Z-hHF

=B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT T

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEARRFE

Share capital fi& 7 32(c) 74,013 74,013
Treasury shares E1F R H (999) (1,347)
Reserves i 32(d) 1,399,371 1,699,687

Total equity attributable to equity ZAAFEZRREGERETE

shareholders of the Company 1,472,385 1,772,858
Non-controlling interests IR (22,087) (14,122)
TOTAL EQUITY K 1,450,298 1,758,231

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 R-ZE_AF AT+ tHESEEZSHER
June 2025. RS -

Liu Erzhuang 2| =t
Directors &%

Tan Jue Eiff

The notes on pages 224 to 320 form part of these financial statements. TN E 224 BEEFE 320 BN B2 S 7%
HF MBS ©
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CONSFQI/_IPATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
XV EL TIE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) &2 =2 - A4 = A=+—HILFE GABTIIR)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
KRERERRER

Non-
Share Treasury Share Specific Exchange Other Accumulated controlling Total
capital shares premium reserve reserve reserve Total interests equity
e ERRG BE SERE HERE it &t FRRER BHAH
HK$'000 HK$'000 ' HK$'000 HK$'000 ' HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHL T : T BT TH
(note 32(c)) (note 32(d)(ii)
(Hf3E32(0)) (Ht= S0 (H3E320) (1

Balanceat31March 2023 ~ R=B==%

ZA=t+-R&R 75193 (1,535) 4,209,913 7,558 (19,713) (115,583 (1,948,984) 2,206,849 (5,386) 2,201,463
Changes in equity for the year EZ-Z =M%
ended 31 March 2024: ZA=t-HLEE
ZREEE:
Loss for the year FEER - - - - - - (347484 (347,484) (14647)  (362131)
Other comprehensive income £t 2 Az - - - - (28,406) - - (28,406) (1,278) (29,684)
Total comprehensive income ~ 2ENHEE - - - - (28,406) = (347,484) (375,890) (15,925) (391,815)
Contributions to a subsidiary ~ JEF Mk R —Fd
from non-controlling interests ~ HBAREE - - - - - - - - 7,189 7,189
Insurance of shares Bk 320) 128 (128) - - - - - - - -
Equity settled sharevased  EREERHFIFRS
transaction 28 = 412 = = = 35,772 - 36,184 = 36,184
Appropriation of safety TRRREEES
production fund - - - 535 - - (535) - - -
Utilisation of safety FRZ24EES
production fund - - - (653) - - 553 - - -
Purchase of own shares BEEFRH 32c) (1,308) - (93482) - - - - (94,790) - (94,790)

Balance at 31 March 2024 ~ W=Z=M%
=A=t-B&H 74,013 (1,251) 4,116,431 7,540 (48,119) (79811 (2,296,450) 1,772,353 (14122) 1,758,231

Changes in equity for the year HZ -5 %%

ended 31 March 2025 SA=t-ALEE
ZREEE:

Loss for the year FEER - - - - - - (303814)  (303814) (9.240)  (313,054)
Other comprehensive income £t 2 El g - - - - (7.421) - - (7421) (356) (1,11
Total comprehensive income ~ 2ENEHEE - - - - (1.421) - (303,814) (311,235) (9,596) (320,831)
Contributions to a subsidiary ~ SERE &R~

from non-controlling interests ~ HBAREE - - - - - - - - 1,631 1,631
Equity settled sharebased ~ EREERHTFRS

transaction 28 - 252 - - - 11,015 - 11,267 - 11,267
Appropriation of safety REEEERS

production fund - - - 953 - - (953) - - -
Utilisation of safety FRR2EEES

production fund - - - (939) - - 939 - - -

Balance at 31 March 2025 ~ R=Z-%%
=R=t-B&H 74,013 (999) 4,116,431 7,554 (55,540) (68,796)  (2,600,278) 1,472,385 (22,087) 1,450,298

The notes on pages 224 to 320 form part of these financial statements. FHNE 224 BEEFE 20 BT AZET
K KA B D
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE =%

Operating activities

Net cash used in operating activities

Investing activities

Payment for the purchase of property,

plant and equipment

Payment for the purchase of
intangible assets

Payment for the purchase of
right-of-use assets

Proceeds from sales of property,
plant and equipment

Decrease/(Increase) in time deposits
with maturities over three months

Payment for other investments

Proceeds from the Stonehold
investment

Dividends received

Proceeds from sales of other
investments

Net cash generated from investing
activities

222

REEH
RERDER RS FE
REED

BEWME BELRENK
BEETEENK

BEFREEEMNK
HEME - BEREED
FR18 38
FEBE A=A N LN EHRER
(35 0)
HA AR
3k B Stonehold ¥ & K FT15 7178

BB S
HEH R & PSR

RETFHELECREFH
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25(b)

“HFE=ZA=T—RBIEFECAUBTITR)

2025
—B-RE
HK$°000
FTEx

2024
—TleF

HK$'000
TET

,,,,,,,, (132,321) . P
(48,573) (26,617
(2,677) (2,201)
(926) (3,208)

6 11
46,677 (120,290)
(97,791) (291,739)
- 35,672

- 378
109,012 669,852
5,728 261,858
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE =%

Financing activities

Proceeds from advances and
borrowings

Purchase of own shares

Repayment of advances and borrowings

Capital element of lease rentals paid

Interest element of lease rentals paid

Interest paid

Proceeds of subsidiaries from
non-controlling interests

Other cash outflow arising from
financing activities

Net cash generated from financing
activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash
and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the reporting period

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes

Cash and cash equivalents at
the end of the reporting period

The notes on pages 224 to 320 form part of these financial statements.

—HFE=ZA=T—RBIEFE GBI

2025 2024
—E-RE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
& EE
R EBRRERTEHRIE
25(c) 335,549 260,499
EEa & RH 32(c) - (94,790)
EEBRKERK 25(c) (258,375) (61,631)
ENHEERENER LS 25(c) (5,949) (11,872)
ENEERSNFEH S 25(c) (284) (1,231)
EARFLE 25(c) (9,763) (5,087)
PY=ELS Hxﬁs = [T B A J A
Fr {5 3/ 38 1,631 7,189
BMEEBEECHEMRESRE
- (182)
METBELECRSER
62,809 92,895
ReRESZEEMCAD) EM
HE (63,784) 152,246
KEHI2RERBASEEY
398,391 262,848
HNEERSBH 2HE
(3,647) (16,703)
REHARZREREASEEY
25(a) 330,960 398,391

WA BRI °

TIHNE 224 EEFE 320 AWM RZZEN T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE TR I A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fk S AR - BB LI R)

224

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Productive Technologies Company Limited (the “Company”),
is an investment holding company, which was incorporated in
Bermuda and continued in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The Company's registered office is located
at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and its head office and principal
place of business is located at Unit 5507, 55/F., The Center, 99
Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong.

The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are engaged
in the business of productivity-driven equipment applied in
semiconductor and solar cell businesses. It also operates an oil
and gas production project in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC").

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance
This financial statement has been prepared in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards, issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. This financial statements also complies with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Material accounting policies adopted by the Group
are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards that are first effective or available
for early adoption for the current accounting period of the
Group. Note 2(c) provides information on any changes in
accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current accounting period reflected in this
financial statements.
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2 NMATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2 EBEXEHBE®
(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (b) FIB#HEmMAEEE

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2025 comprises the Company and its subsidiaries
and the Group's interest in associates.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except that
the following assets and liabilities are stated at their fair
value as explained in the accounting policies set out below:

—  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (see
note 2(g)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS Accounting Standards requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

226

(c)

(continued)

In determining the appropriate basis of preparation of the
financial statements, the directors of the Company have
reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections prepared by
management based on estimations of future cashflow,
taking into account of the plan for transformation to
business of advanced processing of equipment and the
availability of financing, which cover a period of twelve
months from the reporting period end date. They are of the
opinion that the Group will have sufficient working capital
to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due
and committed future expenditures within the next twelve
months from the end of the current reporting period and
that there are no material uncertainties in this respect
which individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued the following amendments to
HKFRS Accounting Standards that are first effective for the
current accounting period of the Group:

o Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements — Classification of liabilities as current or
non-current ( “2020 amendments ") and amendments
to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements
— Non-current liabilities with covenants ( ‘2022
amendments’)

° Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases — Lease liability
in a sale and leaseback

° Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows
and HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures —
Supplier finance arrangements

None of these developments have had a material effect
on how the Group’s results and financial position for
the current or prior periods have been prepared or
presented. The Group has not applied any new standard
or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fk S AR - BB THIR)

2 NMATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2 EBEXEHBE®
(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (d) HELEIRFEZERELZR

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries
are included in consolidation financial statements from the
date on which control commences until the date on which
control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised
income and expenses (except for foreign currency
transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same
way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is
no evidence of impairment.

For each business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests (“NCI") either
at fair value or at the NCl's proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s net identifiable assets. NCI are presented in
the consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. NCI in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between NCI and the equity
shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

228

(e)

(continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it
derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary,
and any related NCI and other components of equity. Any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary is measured at
fair value when control is lost.

In the Company's statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(l)(ii).

Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group or the
Company has significant influence, but not control or joint
control, over the financial and operating policies.

An interest in an associate is accounted for using the
equity method. They are initially recognised at cost, which
includes transaction costs. Subsequently, the consolidated
financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income (“OCI”) of those
investees, until the date on which significant influence or
joint control ceases.

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee. For
this purpose, the Group's interest is the carrying amount of
the investment under the equity method, together with any
other long-term interests that in substance form part of the
Group's net investment in the associate.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e)

(f)

(g)

Associates (continued)

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-
accounted investees are eliminated against the investment
to the extent of the Group's interest in the investee.
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains, but only to the extent there is no evidence
of impairment.

In the Company's statement of financial position, an
investment in an associate is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 2(I)(ii).

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of businesses is measured
at cost less accumulated impairment losses and is tested
annually for impairment (see note 2(I)(ii)).

Other investments in securities

The Group's policies for investments in securities, other
than investments in subsidiaries and associates are set out
below:

Investments in securities are recognised/derecognised
on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investment. The investments are initially stated at fair value
plus directly attributable transaction costs, except for those
investments measured at fair value through profit or loss
(FVPL) for which transaction costs are recognised directly
in profit or loss. For an explanation of how the Group
determines fair value of financial instruments, see note
33(g). These investments are subsequently accounted for
as follows, depending on their classification.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(g) Other investments in securities (continued)
(i) Non-equity investments

230

Non-equity investments are classified into one of the

following measurement categories:

amortised cost, if the investment is held
for the collection of contractual cash flows
which represent solely payments of principal
and interest. Expected credit losses, interest
income calculated using the effective interest
method, foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

FVOCI — recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the investment is
held within a business model whose objective
is achieved by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Expected credit losses,
interest income (calculated using the effective
interest method) and foreign exchange gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss
and computed in the same manner as if the
financial asset was measured at amortised
cost. The difference between the fair value and
the amortised cost is recognised in OCI. When
the investment is derecognised, the amount
accumulated in OCI is recycled from equity to
profit or loss.

FVPL if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised cost
or FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair value
of the investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Other investments in securities (continued)
(ii) Equity investments

BAE TTHIR)

(g)

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVPL, unless the investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition the group makes
an irrevocable election to designate the investment at
FVOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes
in fair value are recognised in OCI. Such elections
are made on an instrument-by-instrument basis,
but may only be made if the investment meets the
definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective.
If such election is made for a particular investment,
at the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in
the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred
to retained earnings and not recycled through profit
or loss. Dividends from an investment in equity
securities, irrespective of whether classified as at
FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as

other income.

(h) Property, plant and equipment

(h)

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, which
includes capitalised borrowing costs, less accumulated

depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(1)(ii)).

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, then they are

accounted for as separate items (major components).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is recognised in profit or loss. Any related
revaluation surplus is transferred from the revaluation
reserve to retained profits and is not reclassified to profit or

loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation
of items of property, plant and equipment less their
estimated residual values, if any, using the straight line
method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally

recognised in profit or loss.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

232

(h)

(i)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative
periods are as follows:

— Buildings and structures 40 years
— Machinery and equipment 5-14 years
— Motor vehicle 5-8 years
— Others 3-5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are
reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate.

Oil and gas properties for the relevant area are amortised
on a unit-of-production basis. Unit-of-production rate is
based on oil and gas reserves estimated to be recoverable
from known reservoirs.

Exploration and evaluation costs
Geological and geophysical costs are charged to profit or
loss as incurred.

Costs directly associated with an exploration well are
initially capitalised as exploration and evaluation assets
until the drilling of the well is complete and the results
have been evaluated. These costs include employee
remuneration, materials and fuel used, rig costs and
payments made to contractors.

Costs directly associated with appraisal activity undertaken
to determine the size, characteristics and commercial
potential of a reservoir following the initial discovery of
hydrocarbons, including the costs of appraisal wells where
hydrocarbons were not found, are initially capitalised as
exploration and evaluation assets.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i)

(i)

Exploration and evaluation costs (continued)

If no potentially commercial hydrocarbons are discovered,
the exploration and evaluation asset is written off through
the profit or loss as a dry hole. If extractable hydrocarbons
are found and, subject to further appraisal activity (e.g., the
drilling of additional wells), it is probable that they can be
commercially developed, the costs continue to be carried
as exploration and evaluation assets while sufficient/
continued progress is made in assessing the commerciality
of the hydrocarbons.

Regular review is undertaken for each area to determine
the appropriateness of continuing to carry forward
accumulated capitalised exploration and evaluation
expenditure. To the extent that capitalised exploration
and evaluation expenditure is no longer expected to be
recovered, it is charged to profit or loss.

No amortisation is charged during the exploration and
evaluation phase.

When the technical feasibility and commercial viability
of extracting natural resources become demonstrable,
the relevant capitalised expenditure is first assessed
for impairment and (if required) any impairment loss is
recognised, then the remaining balance is transferred to
property, plant and equipment — oil and gas properties.

Intangible assets (other than goodwvill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised in profit or
loss as incurred. Development expenditure is capitalised
only if the expenditure can be measured reliably, the
product or process is technically and commercially
feasible, future economic benefits are probable and the
Group intends to and has sufficient resources to complete
development and to use or sell the resulting asset.
Otherwise, it is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
Capitalised development expenditure is subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

234

(j)

(k)

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill) (continued)
Other intangible assets, including patents and trademarks,
that are acquired by the group and have finite useful lives
are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses (see note 2(I)(ii)).

Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible
assets less their estimated residual values using the unit-
of-production method, if any, and is generally recognised
in profit or loss. Unit-of-production rate is based on oil and
gas reserves estimated to be recoverable from known
reservoirs. Other intangible assets are amortised on a
straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives as
follows:

— Solar IP license 15 years
— Non-competition undertaking 5 years
— Brand name 3 months
— Others 4-10 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are
reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group as a lessee assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. This is the
case if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and
to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from
that use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1:||||

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2 EXEEE®
(k) Leased assets (continued) (k) HEZE(E)

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-
lease component(s), the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for leases that
have a short lease term of 12 months or less, and leases of
low-value items such as laptops and office furniture. \When
the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value item,
the Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a
lease-by-lease basis. If not capitalised, the associated lease
payments are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is recognised using
the effective interest method. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability, and are charged to profit
or loss as incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date, plus
any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore
the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses (see note 2(I)(ii)).
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k)

236

Leased assets (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, if there is a change in the Group's estimate
of the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or if the Group changes its assessment
of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured
in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset
has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a lease
modification, which means a change in the scope of a
lease or the consideration for a lease that is not originally
provided for in the lease contract, if such modification is
not accounted for as a separate lease. In this case the
lease liability is remeasured based on the revised lease
payments and lease term using a revised discount rate at
the effective date of the modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined
as the present value of contractual payments that are due
to be settled within twelve months after the reporting
period.
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2 NMATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Credit losses and impairment of assets

(1)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments, contract

assets and lease receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECL"s) on the financial assets
measured at amortised cost (including cash and cash
equivalents and trade and other receivables).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Generally, credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls between
the contractual and expected amounts.

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following rates if the effect is material:

— trade and other receivables: effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof; and

— variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are the portion of ECLs
that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporting date
(or a shorter period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months); and

— lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that result
from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL
model applies.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

238

()

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments, contract
assets and lease receivables (continued)
Measurement of ECLs (continued)

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following,
which are measured at 12-months ECLs:

— financial instruments that are determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

— other financial instruments (including loan
commitments issued) for which credit risk (i.e.
the risk of default occurring over the expected
life of the financial instrument) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract
assets are always measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition and when measuring ECLs,
the Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative
and qualitative information and analysis, based on
the Group’s historical experience and informed
credit assessment, that includes forward-looking
information.
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2 NMATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(1)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments, contract
assets and lease receivables (continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have
a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

— significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— a breach of contract;

— the restructuring of a loan or advance by the
Group on terms that the Group would not
consider otherwise;

— it is probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is
written off to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when
the Group otherwise determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a reversal of
impairment in profit or loss in the period in which the
recovery occurs.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

240

()

(ii)

Impairment of other non-current assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other
than property carried at revalued amounts, investment
property, inventories and other contract costs,
contract assets and deferred tax assets) to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any
such indication exists, then the asset’'s recoverable
amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for
impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together
into the smallest group of assets that generates
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or
cash-generating units (“CGU"s). Goodwill arising
from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or
groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the
greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal. Value in use, is based on the estimated
future cash flows, discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying
amount of an asset, or CGU exceeds its recoverable
amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.
They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to
reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in
the unit CGU on a pro rata basis.
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2 NMATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
() Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Impairment of other non-current assets (continued)
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reserved. For other assets, an impairment loss is
reversed only to the extent that the resulting carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation
or amortization, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the
Group is required to prepare an interim financial
report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial
reporting, in respect of the first six months of the
financial year. At the end of the interim period,
the Group applies the same impairment testing,
recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at the
end of the financial year (see note 2(I)(i) and (ii)).

(m) Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net

realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula

or the specific identification method and comprises all

costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs

incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location

and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the

ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of

completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the

sale.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(m) Inventories (continued)

242

(n)

(o)

(p)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all
losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the
period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any
reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as
a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
non-refundable consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue (see note 2(v)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration and only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are initially measured at their transaction
price. Trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and other receivables are initially measured
at fair value plus transaction costs. All receivables are
subsequently stated at amortised cost (see note 2(I)(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition.

PRODUCTIVE TECHNOLOGIES COMPANY LIMITED / Annual Report 2025

A TTHIR)

2 EXEHBEG

(m) &

(n)

(o)

(p)

(#)

P & 5 5 O R T (B 72 7E 52 AE B
WAHBBAER S H - FEM
MERA SR FERBELAEFE
ERENSBEHEMRXNEBERESE
HFEER S L - 78 8 [ M
R B 2 BE 0 15 7 B O A R R
REER/I LN FEHRRD -

BHERE

BB P A5 B R AR AE B W AR
SXNTARERE RERELN
BE(RME2V) °

FE W AR 5% K B b FE W 5K E
FEU IR AR B BB &SR
B ENEFR LR EEREREE
B RNE R AR B HAFE A B T DAERR

BEEAREMAKE D HEIK
ERNTREZXZERTE-

S E AR E MHRKER D # FE W AR R
REMEYRBBNEZIZ AR EE

MR ZRAGE - A EKGKIA
H & 10 8 sH AR B Bk (5B RE 20)
(i))

BERELEEY

RekBReFEVRERTER
RFBERE  FRNRITMEA
TREBENEHER UAKLARE
BEKAENCHERASBEEEE
EPEBRIKR IEBAKR=ME
AREIEMEEHMEREERE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=IAN
NN

VSRR B R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (K %A sEEE4h -

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(q)

(r)

(s)

Trade and other payables (other than refund
liabilities)

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value and subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at invoice amounts.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequently, these
borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Interest expense is recognised in
accordance with note 2(x).

Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans
Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the
related service is provided. A liability is recognised
for the amount expected to be paid, if the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay
this amount as a result of past service provided by
the employee and the obligation can be estimated
reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans are expensed as the related service
is provided.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(s) Employee benefits (continued)

244

(ii)

(iii)

Share-based payments

The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share-
based payment arrangements granted to employees
is generally recognised as an expense, with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the vesting
period of the awards. The amount recognised as
an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of
awards for which the related service and non-market
performance conditions are expected to be met, such
that the amount ultimately recognised is based on the
number of awards that meet the related service and
non-market performance conditions at the vesting
date. The equity amount is recognised in the capital
reserve until either the option is exercised (when it
is included in the amount recognised in share capital
for the shares issued) or the option expires (when
it is released directly to retained profits). For share-
based payment awards with non-vesting conditions,
the grant-date fair value of the share-based payment
is measured to reflect such conditions and there is no
true-up for differences between expected and actual
outcomes.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when it recognises restructuring
costs involving the payment of termination benefits.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(t)

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax
It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
it relates to a business combination, or items recognised
directly in equity or in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and
any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable in respect
of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or
receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected
to be paid or received that reflects any uncertainty related
to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax
also includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts
used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised
for:

— temporary differences on the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences;

— temporary differences related to investment in
subsidiaries, associates and joint venture to the
extent that the Group is able to control the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable
future;
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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(t)

Income tax (continued)
— taxable temporary differences arising on the initial
recognition of goodwill; and

— those related to the income taxes arising from
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to
implement the Pillar Two model rules published by
the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities and
right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses,
unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which they can be used. Future taxable
profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant
taxable temporary differences. If the amount of taxable
temporary differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred
tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for
reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered,
based on the business plans for individual subsidiaries in
the Group.

Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date
and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that the related tax benefit will be realised; such reductions
are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits
improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(u)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessment of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the liability.

A provision for warranties is recognised when the
underlying products or services are sold, based on historical
warranty data and a weighting of possible outcomes
against their associated probabilities.

A provision for onerous contracts is measured at the
present value of the lower of the expected cost of
terminating the contract and the expected net cost of
continuing with the contract, which is determined based on
the incremental costs of fulfilling the obligation under that
contract and an allocation of other costs directly related to
fulfilling that contract. Before a provision is established,
the Group recognises any impairment loss on the assets
associated with that contract.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle
a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another
party, a separate asset is recognised for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually certain. The amount
recognised for the reimbursement is limited to the carrying
amount of the provision.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(v) Revenue recognition
Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises

248

from the sale of goods, and the rendering of services in the

ordinary course of the Group's business.

Further details of the Group's revenue and other income

recognition policies are as follows:

(i)

(ii)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group is the principal for its revenue transactions
and recognises revenue on a gross basis. In
determining whether the Group acts as a principal or
as an agent, it considers whether it obtains control
of the products before they are transferred to the
customers. Control refers to the Group's ability to
direct the use of and obtain substantially all of the
remaining benefits from the products.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer at the amount
of promised consideration to which the Group is
expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties such as value
added tax or other sales taxes.

Dividends

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the
date on which the Group's right to receive payment is
established.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v) Revenue recognition (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method. The “effective interest rate” is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset. In calculating interest income, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount
of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired).
However, for financial assets that have become
credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition,
interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then
the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross
basis.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the
Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as income in profit or loss on
a systematic basis in the same periods in which the
expenses are incurred.

Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an
asset are deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and consequently are effectively recognised in
profit or loss over the useful life of the asset by way
of reduced depreciation expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2 EBEXEHBE®
(w) Translation of foreign currencies (w) IMEBRE

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
respective functional currencies of group companies at the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities that are measured based
on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at
the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign
currency differences are generally recognised in profit or
loss.

However, foreign currency differences arising from the
translation of the following items are recognised in OCl:

— an investment in equity securities designated as at
FVOCI;

— a financial liability designated as a hedge of the net
investment in a foreign operation to the extent that
the hedge is effective; and

— qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that the
hedges are effective.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including
goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition,
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign
operations are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
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2 NMATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(w) Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

(x)

(y)

Foreign currency differences are recognised in OCI| and
accumulated in the exchange reserve, except to the extent
that the translation difference is allocated to NCI.

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or
partially such that control, significant influence or joint
control is lost, the cumulative amount in the exchange
reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to
profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. On
disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
the cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating
to that foreign operation that have been attributed to the
NCI shall be derecognised, but shall not be reclassified to
profit or loss. If the group disposes of part of its interest in
a subsidiary but retains control, then the relevant proportion
of the cumulative amount is reattributed to NCI. When the
group disposes of only part of an associate or joint venture
while retaining significant influence or joint control, the
relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified
to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.

Related parties
(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family,

is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iif)

is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group's parent.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(y) Related parties (continued)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

252

(b)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same Group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a Group of which the other entity is
a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a Group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with
the entity.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(z)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
most senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance
of, the Group's various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments
have similar economic characteristics and are similar in
respect of the nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of customers,
the methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material
may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

Key s

(a)

ources of estimation uncertainty are as follow:

Oil and gas properties and reserves

The accounting for the oil and gas exploration and
production activities is subject to accounting rules that are
unigue to the oil and gas industry. Engineering estimates
of the oil and gas reserves are inherently imprecise
and represent only approximate amounts because of
the subjective judgements involved in developing such
information. There are authoritative guidelines regarding the
engineering criteria that have to be met before estimated
oil and gas reserves can be designated as “proved” or
“probable”.
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

(a)

254

Oil and gas properties and reserves (continued)
Proved and probable reserves estimates are updated at
least annually and take into account recent production and
technical information about each field. In addition, as prices
and cost levels change from year to year, the estimate of
proved and probable reserves also changes. This change is
considered a change in estimate for accounting purposes
and is reflected on a prospective basis in relation to
depreciation rates.

Future dismantlement costs for oil and gas properties
are estimated with reference to engineering estimates
after taking into consideration the anticipated method
of dismantlement required in accordance with industry
practices in similar geographic area, including estimation
of economic life of oil and gas properties, technology
and price level. The present values of these estimated
future dismantlement costs are capitalised as oil and
gas properties with equivalent amounts recognised as
provisions for dismantlement costs.

Despite the inherent imprecision in these engineering
estimates, these estimates are used in determining
depreciation expense, impairment loss and future
dismantlement costs. Depreciation rates are determined
based on estimated proved developed reserve quantities
(the denominator) and capitalised costs of producing
properties (the numerator). Producing properties’
capitalised costs are amortised based on the units of oil or

gas produced.
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

(b)

Impairment losses of non-financial assets

If circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a non-
financial asset may not be recoverable, the asset may be
considered “impaired”, and an impairment loss may be
recognised. The carrying amounts of non-financial assets
are reviewed periodically in order to assess whether the
recoverable amounts have declined below the carrying
amounts. These assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
their recorded carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment. When such a
decline has occurred, the carrying amount is reduced to
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit containing goodwill is the greater of the fair
value less costs to sell and the value in use. It is difficult
to precisely estimate selling price because quoted market
prices for these assets or cash-generating units are not
readily available. In determining the value in use, expected
cash flows generated by the asset or the cash-generating
unit are discounted to their present value, which requires
significant judgement relating to level of sale volume,
selling price and amount of operating costs. Management
uses all readily available information in determining an
amount that is a reasonable approximation of recoverable
amount, including estimates based on reasonable and
supportable assumptions and projections of sale volume,
selling price and amount of operating costs.
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4
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 BWARSEBEE
(a) Disaggregation of revenue (a) BAHZD

The amount of each significant category of revenue
recognised is as follows:

EHRAZTEEZRADBSRAL

I

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—HLEE
2025 2024

—E_FHHE —EOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FABT

Revenue from contracts with BB HRELENE 155 EEA
customers and recognised at pointin  FIE P A LW A - R E i
time within the scope of HKFRS 156 B 25#ER

— sales of equipment (note (i) — R E (PFEE)
— sales of crude oil (note (ii)) — BEUhHE (F=EGi)
— rendering of services — AR

Cost of sales and services $HE KRS AR
— sales of equipment — REHEE
— sales of crude oil — FOMHE
— rendering of services — AR

Notes:

(i) Revenue from sales of equipment mainly represents sales of solar
cell and semiconductor cleaning equipment. The amount of revenue
represents the sales value of equipment and parts to the customers,
net of value added tax. There are six major customers with whom
transactions exceeded 10% of the revenue from sales of equipment.
During the year ended 31 March 2025, revenue from sales of
equipment to each of these six customers, which is under reportable
segment of semiconductor and solar cell, amounted to HK$30.9
million, HK$16.2 million, HK$15.4 million, HK$14.3 million, HK$13.0
million and HK$10.7 million, respectively.
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105,510 368,646
155,205 157,663
18,114 17,329
(81,495) (338,940)
(117,988) (111,208)
(15,387) (11,287)
63,959 82,203

BEHERAEEEHEEAGESE
R RS AR o WA S EE
HEFEFHZERTHHEEREN
BRIEERENEE BARETER
FHRRSBREZEHEKRAI0% o
HE_T_RAF=-A=+—AL*HF
E - RERZANBR P HE BN
AN ZEBABRFERRAIGER
M A] 2 3 9 &) 9 5l 430,900,000 74
JT ~ 16,200,000 JT * 15,400,000 %
JT * 14,300,000 7T * 13,000,000 %
7T % 10,700,000 3 7T ©
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SN NIRRTl N

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(continued)

(a) Disaggregation of revenue (continued)
Notes: (continued)

BAE TTHIR)

4 WARSBEE (2

(a)

(ii)

The amount of revenue from sales of crude oil represents the sales
value of crude oil extracted and supplied to customers by one
subsidiary of the Group, net of value added tax. The sales prices
is determined by the Dated Brent crude oil price with discount
with range from HK$15 to HK$23 per barrel during the year ended
31 March 2025. There are three major customers with whom
transactions exceeded 10% of the revenue from sales of crude oil.
During the year ended 31 March 2025, revenue from sales of crude
oil to each of three customers, which is under reportable segment of
oil and gas and others, amounted to HK$60.6 million, HK$50.1 million
and HK$44.5 million, respectively.

(b) Segment reporting
The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are

organised by a mixture of both business lines (products and

services). In a manner consistent with the way in which

information is reported internally to the Group’s most

senior executive management for the purposes of resource

allocation and performance assessment, the Group

presented the following two reportable segments. Details

of the Group's reportable segments are as follows:

Semiconductor and solar cell: this segment operates
in research and development, manufacturing and
sales of advanced processing equipment for solar cell
and semiconductor industries.

Oil and gas and others: this segment invests and
operates upstream oil and gas business, LNG
business, and generates income from processing
of oil and gas and LNG, as well as investing and
managing energy-related and other industries and
businesses.

(b)

WA 7 (%)
GERECH)

(ii) RAEERASBEREASEE— B
B R 7B B PE T B 6 RO
EENKREETHEANSE -BE=-F
—HEE=ZA=+—BLFE HE
BREEHI5BTE23B T TIEN
i FOB R KERRE - B=2F
FEZFHNXRZBBRRBHEERA
10% HE-_TE-_AF=A=+—
AEEE REMZ=-GEFHE
FERRMA (% E WA BB R R E

fth Bl 2 3 5 56) 5 Bl 460,600,000 75
JT * 50,100,000 7% 7T 5 44,500,000 7%
77: o

7 EbR &

AEBERSMBERHLER
EH P {5R 35 75 ?(EDD&HE%Z)
K- RTEERERD @E&?EIE
HAEATAAEEZ ZFRITHRE
BAEBEZHEHMNAN  KAEHEH
E2HTIMERZ2HDE - K
SEF2WmHOMPRFFFAT

DH

R AR5 BEE M -
@%ﬁ%

ITEREMTIR
%m&%%o

[pz)
LB M B
% R T 3%

[ ]
e
:

o HRREM Uk RIREW
R LA RER  LINGX
% - W 850 Tom R K& LNG LA
NIRE N E IR 5L IR A B K H
ITR R REE WS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1:||||

(B =B

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

258

(continued)

(b) Segment reporting (continued)

(i)

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group’s senior executive management monitors
the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each
reportable segment on the following basis:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets
and current assets with the exception of deferred tax
assets. Segment liabilities include all liabilities with
the exception of deferred tax liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to revenue from sales
and services generated by those segments and the
expenses incurred by those segments or which
otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation
of assets attributable to those segments. Segment
profit/loss includes investment income/loss.

The measure used for reporting segment profit/loss
s "EBITDA" i.e
depreciation and amortisation”.

“Earnings before interest, taxes,

In addition to receiving segment information
concerning EBITDA, management is provided with
segment information concerning interest income
and expense from cash balances and borrowings
managed directly by the segments, depreciation and
amortisation, and additions to non-current segment
assets used by the segments in their operations.
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A TTHIR)

4 WARSBEE (2

(b)

(i)

2 EHEE ()

DEEE BERER
7%.%1%”*32@%&5""%??
PRER NEBZ&RST
BEBABRBIATEEY
BRI 2¥ "*BfﬁZ%ii
BENBEETER:

PHEEBEMBREN &
Eﬁﬁé&m@]éﬁg‘ﬂ_
EEFHREE ’“*BEE
BREERBABINNAE
BE-

WARBXT2RZEDF
Fﬁé%Zﬁﬁ%&ﬁ&ﬁ‘%%)\&
E%%ﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁ?iZﬁtﬁiiﬁil
REDBEET EREH
MELZEMAXXDEEA
EHHW- BB EE
BERE KRS FEE -

REHD I FE, BB
%mﬁﬁﬁmmmAy

[BRFIE - BiIE - %%&ﬁﬁﬁ
AI&EF] -

BRIEIR B BEBITDAK &
HERI EREBERME
BEOMEEERE 2R
R K %#Zﬂ%uﬁzi\&ﬁﬁ
X BHEELRFTEMIE
MEBDHEEITE B
RABZDEER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE TR I A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B& ZA5ERAIN - AT R)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 WARZEBE®E (B
(continued
(b) Segment reporting (continued) (b) #EBHE (&)

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) (i) »HEE BEERAEEB(E)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with BEREEHBAED + ARE
customers, as well as information regarding the EZERER-TNF
Group's reportable segments as provided to the =R=+—HLEFERAE
Group's most senior executive management for the Exm{THEEASREI
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of ETHEEBERRT D IE
segment performance for the years ended 31 March BHNEBAAEEZ2HDE
2025 and 2024 is set out below. BERFNEAT °

Semiconductor and

solar cell Oil and gas and others Total
YERRABEEN BRR L -
Year ended 31 March Year ended 31 March Year ended 31 March
BE=A=t-HL%E HE=P=1t-ALEE HE=A=1-HLEE

2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
bt T NF EEiay 717 Eebebiay TN
HK$'000 [GICYUN  HKS'000 EEGTEIN  HKS'000 [N
TER BT TiEx TAL TER TR

Revenue from external customers —~ SMEBRPIA (Hiz)

(note) 123,624 385,975 155,205 157,663 278,829 543638
Investment gain/(loss) REKE/ (BB) 18,883 (5,305) (61,736) (38,920) (42,853) (44,225)
Reportable segment loss (EBITDA) 27 #3518 (EBITDA) (187,083  (233918) (4,336) (7663)  (191,419)  (241571)
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH (34,303) (32,318) (72,997) (69,1120 (107,300)  (101,430)
Interest income FIBHA 1 333 17,607 18,151 17,618 18,484
Interest expense FlERZ (4,955) (6,020) (126) (340) (5,081) (6,360)
Impairment oss on goodwill BEREEE (67,622) - - - (67,622) -
Impairment loss on trade and FEMRERFA R H At e Y1

other receivables REEE (2,958) (1,218) - - (2,958) (1,218)
Reportable segment assets TE2RAPEE 997,367 1139406  1791,231 1980276 2788598 3,119,682
(including interest in associates) (BERBEARNESR) 32,661 13,946 108,082 193,347 140,743 207,293

Additions to non-current segment  FRREFETE S E

assets during the year 19,761 8,973 60,378 14,01 80,139 22,984
Reportable segment liabilities TERHHEE (933,908)  (1,011,432) (404,199) (342,933)  (1,338,107)  (1,354,365)
Note: Bt 5
Revenue from sales and services reported above represents EXFEHREE KRB W AIER
reportable segment revenue generated from external customers. BINBEP 2 A 28D WA o REF
There was no inter-segment revenue during current or prior year. BERBEFEHES BREWA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IN= bR b

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1:1||

(B =B

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(continued)
(b) Segment reporting (continued)
(ii)

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues,
profit or loss, assets and liabilities

A TTHIR)

4 WARSBEE (2

Semiconductor and
solar cell
YERRABESH
Year ended 31 March
BZ=A=1-

2025
“EC-hE
HK$’000
THT

ShERE FHA

Revenue from

external customers 123,624

BILFE
2024

i3

HK$'000
TET

386,975

(b)
(ii)

T EBER & ()
A2/ BYA - HE &

EREEZHEK

0Oil and gas and others
HRREAM

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t-HLEE
2025 2024
ZECRE eeimlis
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THT

155,205 157,663

Total
@t
Year ended 31 March

BE=A=t-HLEE
2025 2024
—E-RE el
HK$'000 HK$'000
T ST

278,829 543,638

Semiconductor and

solar cell 0Oil and gas and others Total
YERRAGESH HRAREM @zt
Year ended 31 March Year ended 31 March Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+-HLFE HE=A=+-HALFE HBE=A=1+-HLFE
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
CECTHE eeleliESN —Z-TF Embdelilal —F-FF e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHT TET THT TR THT
Reportable segment 2R HER
loss (EBITDA) (EBITDA) (187,083) (233,918) (4,336) (7,653) (191,419) (241,571)
Depreciation and ER#H
amortisation (34,303) (32,318) (72,997) (69,112) (107,300) (101,430)
Interest expense FERE (4,955) (6,020) (126) (340) (5,081) (6,360)
Consolidated loss B AER S BB
before taxation (226,341) (272,256) (77,459) (77,105) (303,800) (349,361)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR MR R M

1:1|||

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B& ZA5ERAIN - AT R)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(continued)
(b) Segment reporting (continued)
(ii) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues,
profit or loss, assets and liabilities (continued)

Assets

4 WARSBEE (2

(b)

Reportable segment assets AIZH/HIBEE

Elimination of inter-segment 53 20 [ B W R IR ¥ 8E
receivables

Consolidated total assets e BERE

Liabilities

Reportable segment liabilities AZHKHHEE

Deferred tax liabilities BEEHIEAE

Elimination of inter-segment 73 2P [ FE 5 RIB ¥ 88
payables

Consolidated total liabilities e BIEERR

(iii) Geographic information
The external customers and non-current assets
(excluded deferred tax assets, right-of-use assets,
financial instruments and interests in associates) are
located in the PRC.

2 EHEE ()

(i) TE2HRIPRA -BH &
EREEZHER(E)

At 31 March At 31 March

2025 2024
REZ-HF [Nelutis
=ZA=1+—0 ==

HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T T
2,788,598 3,119,682
(469,438) (496,545)
2,319,160 2,623,137

At 31 March At 31 March

2025 2024
N-ZEBE_REF i
=Z=A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
THExT FHETT
1,338,107 1,354,365
193 7,086
(469,438) (496,545)
868,862 864,906

(iii) HEER

ShBEPRIERBDEE (T
BRECHEEE ER%
BE TRIARRBER
Al ) BN R E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NN RS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Br ZA5ERAIN - ALY R)

1:1|||

5 INVESTMENT LOSS, NET 5 KREBRSEAE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—HLEE

2025 2024
—E-RHE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
JOVO investment (note) NEKE (FIFE) - 794
Fund investment (note) EeRE (Miz) 22,680 (3,984)
Dividend income g B U A - 378
Share of gain/(losses) of associates FE(REE & R AR e (E18)
(note 20) (Mt3E20) 7,512 (28,497)
Impairment losses of associates B N RIREBE
(note 20) (Bt E (20)) (73,045) (14,534)
Others HA - 1,618
(42,853) (44,225)
Note: B aE -

BERERBE—Z_AFR_FT_MF=A
ST-HUEFENSERENAABEED R
HE R A -

These amounts represent fair value changes and/or disposal gains or losses of the
various investments during the year ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

6 OTHER NET GAINS 6 HMtBKEI

Year ended 31 March
BE=HA=1t—HLEE
2025 2024

—E"EHEF —ENF

HK$'000
FEx

HK$'000
THET

HEWE - BFE R&EFEE

Net loss on disposal of property,

plant and equipment (38) (27)
Government grants XA #78 B) 6,899 14,495
Others HAth 630 7,252

7,491 21,720
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NN R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B& ZA5ERAIN - AT R)

1:1||

7 TAXES OTHER THAN INCOME TAX 7 MFABRUMHRIE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—HLEE

2025 2024
—E-RHE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHT
Resources tax (note 1) BIR% (HEaE1) 9,385 9,460
Petroleum special profit levy (note 2) AR R s R (FsE2) 8,087 10,332
City construction tax IRE) 724 942
Education surcharge A M AnFR 724 842
Water resources tax IKERTR 365 592
19,285 22,168
Notes: BsE -
(1) Resources tax was calculated based on the revenue from sales of crude oil (1) BRTE R ARIR R e 85 S WA R 6% B B 51
and tax rate of 6%. HGH -
(2) Petroleum special profit levy was charged at 20% to 40% based on the (2) AR ES R EEKEERNR
sales of crude oil at prices higher than a specific level. JH 3 B 20% = 40% ©

8 EXPLORATION EXPENSES, INCLUDING DRY 8 ®iEX X SEEH
HOLES

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEFE

2025 2024
—E-HEF —EZEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Staff cost BT 856 764
Exploration expenses, including dry holes were related to the HHERYT  BfFnHd BABRERE
exploration activities conducted by Hongbo Mining. REFEEEER -
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AR MIE SRR M T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F %A sEER4h -

9 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

(a) Net finance income/(costs)

Interest income

Net gain on bank financial products
Foreign exchange loss, net

Interest on bank and other borrowings
Interest on lease liabilities

Accretion expenses (note 31)

Others

Total

(b) Staff costs

Salaries, wages and other benefits

Equity settled share-based
compensation (note 28)

Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plan

264

B WA
RITIEHE B R
PE 3 B 1R

R1T R EABE TR 2 F))

HEREBZAE
IR (MHEE31)
Hitp

5t

e TEREMET

A TTHIR)

9 KRRAEGIR
B Bt A S R ASHIRR(READ

(a) BEWRA(FKE)FE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—HLEE

2025 2024
—E_FHE —EPOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FABTT
17,618 18,484
873 1,630
(2,133) (15,047)
g (4,931) (5,129)
(150) (1,231)
(3,567) (3,295)
(256) (179)
7,454 (4,767)
(b) BEIHZK

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE

VAR HE 45 30 DA IR {0 A T B

#r B (K 5£28)

E R BURKET I K
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2025 2024
—E-RF —E_NE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAETT
176,041 219,682
11,267 36,184
12,418 12,221
199,726 268,087




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SN NIRRTl N

i}

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fk S AR - BB THIR)

9 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (continued)

(b) Staff costs (continued)

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in
the PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement scheme (the “Scheme”) organised by the
relevant local government authority for their employees.
The Group is required to make contributions to the Scheme.
The local government authority is responsible for the entire
pension obligations payable to retired employees. The
Group has no other material obligation to make payments
in respect of pension benefits associated with this scheme
other than the annual contribution described above.

The Group has no forfeiture of pension scheme
contributions (i.e. contributions processed by the employer
on behalf of the employees who have exited the scheme
prior to vesting of such contributions). As at 31 March
2025, no forfeited contributions under the pension scheme
of the Group is available for deduction of contributions

payable in coming years.

9 FRRAIGN(

(b)

ETHZE (&)
RETBEBBEEBHRANEER
AEEREREZ2EBAMBLT
T #4 B 4 A B TE BB (SR IRET
2 ([st8)) - NEE ARG EE
HER - T BT AR B AR
REEXNEHEARE R EX
Pt ey FE R RSN NRE B &
shat 8% R H RIS 18 F A E
MROEMEREE -

7R 5 18 36 4 08 W AT A 2R IR 48 A A
SR (VBB ERRBERGEER
BRIRHZAE AEEZRER
REMHEF) R-F-_A%F=A
=+—8 AEBEZERKRBHG
278 T I £ o pOR W 3R] A
RIWBARRF E 2 R ©
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Br ZA5ERAIN - ALY R)

9 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (continued)
(c) Otheritems

266

9 FRMAIGN(A)

(c) HMIEH

—F-HF
HK$'000
TR

Year ended 31 March

BE=ZA=1T—HILEE

2025 2024
—T o
HK$'000
TAT

22,287 22,083
2,157 1,833
71,172 65,496
11,684 12,018
1,528 1,990
199,483 450,148
2,642 15,763

Amortisation 5
— intangible assets — B EE
— other non-current assets — B IEREEE
Depreciation e
— property, plant and equipment — W% - BE k&G
— right-of-use assets — EREEE
Auditors’ remuneration % SE B &
— audit services — ZEH RS
Cost of inventories* (note 23(b)) BFERA (M5E23(b)
Impairment loss on inventories FEREEE
W Cost of inventories includes HK$81,847,000 (2024: HK$100,209,000) W

relating to staff costs, depreciation and amortisation expenses, which

amount is also included in the respective total amounts disclosed

separately above or in note 9(c) for each of these types of expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE TR I A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B& ZA5ERAIN - AT R)

10 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 10 FEBEXRAZFHRER
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit (a) HEBmEXALBEE :

or loss represents:

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—HLEE
2025 2024

—E_FHE —EPOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FABTT

Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax El#i%i1E — FHEFEH

Provision for the year FERE - =
Current tax — the PRC BPEARIE — AP
Provision for the year FEEE 16,288 17,841
Over-provision in prior year BEFEBERE (217) (163)
Deferred tax ERERIE
Origination and reversal of temporary £ B Z=Z8H) & 4 & B @

differences (6,817) (4,908)

9,254 12,770
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE TR I A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Br ZA5ERAIN - ALY R)

10 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)
(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and (b) BB ETFERHIER SR
accounting loss at applicable tax rate: B EENE R -

10 RERIRAZMABER ()

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—HLEE
2025 2024

—E_RF —E_NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Loss before taxation B F5 A& 18 (303,800) (349,361)

Notional tax on profit before taxation,  IZMREBEZ A E AR RHEH
calculated at the rates applicable to BRI A A B R A IR

profits in the countries concerned (59,017) (69,834)
R&D expenses super deduction T 8 B 2 mnET A A0 (9,026) (11,109)
Effect of non-taxable income BARBMARZE (4,884) (2,832)
Effect of non-deductible expenses A HBRAYNEE 9,126 10,427
Effect of unrecognised tax losses RERHIEEIERN 2 73,272 86,281

Over-provision in prior year BEFERERE (217) (163)
Actual tax expense ERRIERAS 9,254 12,770

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Cayman Islands,
Bermuda and the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI"), the
Group is not subject to any income tax in Cayman Islands,
Bermuda and the BVI.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as
the Group’s operations in Hong Kong had no assessable
profits for the year. The provision for Hong Kong profits
tax is calculated at 16.5% (2024: 16.5%) of the estimated
assessable profit for the years.

The provision for PRC current income tax is based on a
statutory rate of 25% (2024: 25%) of the assessable profit
as determined in accordance with the relevant income tax
rules and regulations of the PRC.

Productive Technologies (Xuzhou) Limited (“PDT Xuzhou")
is recognised as a high and new technology enterprise
and is eligible to enjoy a preferential tax rate of 15% until
December 2027.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE TR I A

11 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F %A sERE5h

11

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)

of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the

Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of

Directors) Regulation are as follows:

Executive directors
LIU Erzhuang

TAN Jue

LIU Zhihai

Non-executive director
CAO Xiaohui

Independent non-executive directors
CHAU Shing Yim

GE Ajji

WANG Guoping

Total

Executive directors
LIU Erzhuang

TAN Jue

LIU Zhihai

Non-executive director
CAO Xiaohui

Independent non-executive directors
CHAU Shing Yim

GE Aj

WANG Guoping

Total

HTES
8-t
&l
A

FHTES
EZR

BUFHTES
Bk
Bk
8T

st

HTES
Bl—it
&l
A

FHTES
EZR
BUFHGES
Bk

Bk

8T

5t

BAE TTHIR)

EETM

BE=MDER) RHIE2H

RIZEE N BERDISE 383(1) 5k R A A (4,

B0 BT

EEHHOT :
Year ended 31 March 2025
HE-E-REZA=T-ALER
Salaries, Retirement ~ Share-based
Directors’ allowancesand  Discretionary scheme  compensation
fees  benefits in kind bonuses  contributions expenses Total
e BER HRBAER
Ezhe ENlg BERAL  BAGTEER T LR @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TER TER TR ThR
- 2928 11,844 - (78) 14,694
- 2139 - 91 - 2,230
- 380 - 2 - 382
300 - - - - 300
300 - - - - 300
300 - - - - 300
900 5,447 11,844 93 (78) 18,206

Directors’
fees

EEhg
HK$ 000
TER

Salaries,
allowances and

benefits in kin
=

HK$'000
FiEn

“MEZR=T-BI4E

Discretionary
honuses

2z
HK$'000
Tt

Retirement
scheme
contributions

2
HKS 0
i

Share-based
compensation
eXpenses

YAy ==
MR
HK$'000
i

HK$'000
A7

= 3,508 21810 = 20427 45,745
= 2331 = 90 = 2421
= 865 = 46 = 901
300 = = = = 300
300 = = = = 300
300 = = = = 300
900 6,700 21810 136 20427 49973
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Br ZA5ERAIN - ALY R)

1:1||

12 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 2 REFMAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments during HE-_ZT-_AF=-A=1+—HLEFE"
the year ended 31 March 2025, two (2024: two) are directors AfusEaFMALTHFEERMAAL(ZE
whose emoluments during their appointment as a director of ZHF W) EE HEEBAAQF
the Company are set out in note 11 above. The aggregate of the SEMEZHBEN EXHIFE1 - Al
emoluments of the five highest paid individuals are as follows: e MALTZHMEOT

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1T—HLEFE

2025 2024

—E-HF —T O

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Salaries and other emoluments e N H A Er B 9,630 12,752
Share-based compensation expenses LARRAD A BT B0 37 B A =2 191 20,427
Discretionary bonuses EIEIEAL 12,476 21,802
Retirement scheme contributions IRIRETEI R 242 236
22,539 55,217

5 (CZT_WF :5f) &ZEFHFMAL

ZEFHMNFATEHRNR :

The emoluments of the five (2024: five) individuals with the
highest emoluments are within the following bands:

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+t—HLEE
2025 2024
—ZT-NF
Number of

—E-HEF
Number of

individuals individuals

A N

HKS$

1,500,001-2,000,000
2,000,001-2,500,000
2,500,001-3,000,000
14,500,001-15,000,000
45,500,001-46,000,000

BT

1,500,001-2,000,000
2,000,001-2,500,000
2,500,001-3,000,000
14,500,001-15,000,000
45,500,001-46,000,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN
#reh

13 LOSS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

VSRR B R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (K %A sEEE4h -

13
Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share is based

on the loss attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of

the Company of HK$303,814,000 (year ended 31 March

2024: HK$347,484,000) and the weighted average of
7,401,288,000 ordinary shares (year ended 31 March 2024:
7,409,930,000 shares) in issue during the year, calculated

as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

Issued ordinary shares at 1 April

Effect of shares repurchased EEEROZE
Effect of equity settled share-based EmEEROTRZHH
transaction (note 28) 52 (M13E28)

Weighted average number of ordinary HR=A=+—H/ LB
shares at 31 March hnEFE 8

Diluted loss per share

There were no potential dilutive shares for the years ended
31 March 2025 and 2024, and the diluted loss per share is
equal to the basic loss per share.

KA —BEZETHNERARK

BAE TTHIR)

SRR

(a) EREXERE
FEESREARBEEEETNU
AAAEBEZRREEMNE
303,814,000 T (BLE=F
“WME=ZA=+—HILFE:
347,484,000/ 7T) REFANBEBEITE
38 [i% B9 O 4 - ¥5 £7,401,288,000
BEHEz—FE-_WF=A=+—H
IE4E & ¢ 7,409,930,000 %) A 4k
B RENT

TREBRMETLTE

2025
—E-FHEF
‘000
TR

7,401,288 7,519,302

- (109,967)

- 595

7,401,288 7,409,930

(b) FREFER
BE—_ZE_AFR-_ZE_NF=
A=+—BLEFEBREFMERE
BERGD WEREISBEESRN
FARERELE -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Br ZA5ERAIN - ALY R)

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 V¥ BER®KE
Buildings  Machinery
and and Motor Oil and gas
structures  equipment vehicle  properties Others Total
BFRER HBERRE AE RAREE Hith @zt
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt zE THT FET THT THT THT THT
Cost: A
At 1 April 2023 RZZE-_=FMA—H 107,565 83,384 13,595 917,309 32,598 1,154,451
Additions NE 2,815 309 177 2,585 1,466 6,852
Reassessment of provision BEER 31 - - - 1,100 - 1,100
Transferred from construction ~ # B 7R T2
in progress - - - 16,781 310 17,091
Disposals & - - (147) - (36) (183)
Exchange adjustments X AT (3,690) (2,863) (467) (31,462) (1,116) (39,598)
At 31 March 2024 R-Z-MF
=A=+—H 106,190 80,830 13,158 906,313 33,222 1,139,713
Additions NE 15,415 3,389 232 3,621 350 23,007
Reassessment of provision REER 31 - - - (747) - (747)
Transferred from construction ~ # B 7R T2
in progress - - - 37,651 1,609 39,260
Disposals e - (186) - - (714) (900)
Exchange adjustments i AT (1,873) (1,426) (126) (15,242) (579) (19,246)
At 31 March 2025 R-ZZ_RF
=A=+—H 119,732 82,607 13,264 931,596 33,888 1,181,087
Accumulated depreciation: ~ EiHFE :
At 1 April 2023 R-Z-_=FNA—H (30,496) (62,189) (7,246) (565,806) (21,627) (687,364)
Charge for the year AEETH (2,678) (4,356) (1,022) (55,163) (2,277) (65,496)
Written back on disposals HEERE - - 140 - 5 145
Exchange adjustments R 1,041 2,127 274 19,308 743 23,493
At 31 March 2024 iy
=R=1+—H (32,133) (64,418) (7,854) (601,661) (23,156) (729,222)
Charge for the year AFEEXH (4,056) (3,800) (924 (59,865) (2,527) (71,172)
Written back on disposals HERE - 177 = = 679 856
Exchange adjustments ERTAEES 566 1,136 33 10,614 402 12,751
At 31 March 2025 RZE-RE
=A=+—H (35,623) (66,905) (8,745) (650,912) (24,602) (786,787)
Net book value: BREFE
At 31 March 2024 R-ZZE-mF
=R=1+—H 74,057 16,412 5,304 304,652 10,066 410,491
At 31 March 2025 RZZZhE
=RA=+—H 84,109 15,702 4519 280,684 9,286 394,300
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B& ZA5ERAIN - AT R)

15 CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 15 &8 I#E

HK$'000

THT

At 1 April 2023 R-ZE_=FMA—H 2,454
Additions NE 21,709
Transferred to property, plant and equipment EEEYE  BERRK (17,091)
Exchange adjustments RIS (73)
At 31 March 2024 RZZBEZME=A=+—H 6,999
Additions NE 42,125
Transferred to property, plant and equipment EEEYE  BERK (39,260)
Exchange adjustments PE 5 38 & (125)
At 31 March 2025 R-ZE_RF=A=+—H 9,739
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F %A sEER4h -

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

274

Cost:

At 1 April 2023
Addition

Exchange adjustments

At 31 March 2024
Addition

Exchange adjustments

At 31 March 2025

Accumulated amortisation:

At 1 April 2023
Charge for the year
Exchange adjustments

At 31 March 2024
Charge for the year
Exchange adjustments

At 31 March 2025

Net book value:
At 31 March 2024

At 31 March 2025

A
RZZ==FWA—AH
NE

B 5 3%

RZZB-mF=A=+—H
NE
[E 5%

R-E-_RE=F=+—H
EHE &
R-ZZE-=FmMA—H
AEELH

B
RZE_mNF=A=1+—H
AEFLH

i 5, 3%

R-ZE-RF=A=+—H

BEFE:
R-E-_NFE=A=1+—H

R-E_RF=A=1+—H

Cooperation
right

At
HK$'000
FET

A TTHIR)

16 ELEE

Software

L3
HK$'000
TR

Non-

Solar competition

IP license undertaking
ARG REAR THF
ERHA R
HK$'000 HK$'000
AT TER

Brand
name

RRER
HK$'000
FET

Total

@5t
HK$'000
TET

34,270 3,345 43,349 87,260 1,124 169,348
= 2,842 = = = 2,842
(1,177) (171) = - = (1,348)
33,093 6,016 43,349 87,260 1,124 170,842
= 8,806 = = = 8,806
(584) (105) - - - (689)
32,609 14,717 43,349 87,260 1,124 178,959
(12,152) (154) (1,686) (10,180) (1,124) (25,296)
(1,106) (635) (2,890) (17,452) = (22,083)
415 4 - - - 419
(12,843) (785) (4,576) (27,632) (1,124) (46,960)
(1,202) (743) (2,890) (17,452) - (22,287)
227 14 = = = 241
R L P B A B P RN D DT N
20,250 5,231 38,773 59,628 = 123,882
18,691 13,203 35,883 42,176 = 109,953
AEEZEHTHNERBERTATHE

The amortisation charge for the year is included in “Cost

of sales”, "Administrative expenses” and “Research and

development expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit

or loss.
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17 GOODWILL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE TR I A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B& ZA5ERAIN - AT R)

17 &8

HK$'000
THET

Cost: 2%
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025 R—ZE-_=F1™AH—H -
—EoNF=RA=+—HK
—E_hF=A=+—H 265,632
Accumulated impairment losses: RItRERE :

At 1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024

RZE-_=FWA—BK

—T-WHF=A=+—8H -

Impairment loss BIEEE (67,622)
At 31 March 2025 RA—_F-_A¥=A=t—-H (67,622)
Carrying amount: BRMEE :

At 31 March 2024 R-ZZFE-_ME=A=+—~H 265632
At 31 March 2025 RZZBE-_RAF=A=+—H 198,010

On 18 August 2022, the Company and Valuevale Investment
Limited (“Valuevale”) (the “Purchaser”) acquired the entire
equity interest in Shanghai Rena Trading Co., Ltd. and Rena Solar
Technologies (Yiwu) Co., Ltd., as well as certain sales contracts,
the solar IP licensing arrangement, the non-competition
arrangement, the transitional services agreement and the
transitional trademark license agreement (the “Acquisition”).
The group of assets acquired and liabilities assumed under the
Acquisition constituted a newly acquired business of the Group
(the “Acquired Business"”). Goodwill arising from the Acquisition
amounted to HK$265.6 million which represented the excess
of the consideration paid over the fair value of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed of the Acquired
Business.

RZZE__FNA+NB  ARQAH
BEAKEARAR ([BEA)D (B
FHDUREEBEMESBREMLADF
R AR (BZE) BRARZ
ERHE  ARETHESN A5k
MBERT AL THRFLTHE  BE
AR R BEmET HaE ((WEE
EE]) WESHEETHBABERAN
AEPEAEARBR A S E —HI IR
BUmKBER]) - WEEEELARDE
265,600,000/ 7T + A E SR ERB D AT
Wit B 3 765 & BT AR A 28 Bl & 7 IR AR HE
BENAABENIED o

EERBRERDT / F£H2025 275



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR

W, \

Y e

1:||||

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Br ZA5ERAIN - ALY R)

17 GOODWILL (continued)

276

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing
goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the CGU of Acquired Business in the
Acquisition.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based
on value-in-use calculation. These calculations use cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a five-year period. The key assumptions used in
estimating the recoverable amount are as follows:

17 B8 (&)

BEREENELTELENHHEE
=
HMESREWESERMKEEBHER
SEAEBM -

ReELEMZ O RIRE-M
BEZFAEMETE - ZFiEHERR
BEREEEMEZ D FRMERERE
ZEeREFAMAE - ARG AT
El &N ERBEMOT ¢

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEFE

Compounded average growth rate

in revenue during the forecast
Average gross profit margin

during the forecast period
Growth rate beyond the forecast period
Pre-tax discount rate GIRIELEEES
The impairment loss of HK$67,622,000 recognised during the
year ended 31 March 2025 relates to the Group's solar cell
cleaning equipment manufacturing activities based in the PRC
which was arising from the Acquisition. As the CGU has been
reduced to its recoverable amount, any adverse change in the
assumptions used in the calculation of recoverable amount
would result in further impairment losses.

The circumstance that led to the recognition of the impairment
loss during the year ended 31 March 2025 is the slower-than-
previous-years growth in the forecasted revenue for the Acquired
Business, resulting in a decrease in the recoverable amount of
this Acquired Business, which in turn led to the impairment this
year (year ended 31 March 2024: Nil).
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TR EAR & T E %

TERIERRS 2 1 2 B K

BRAPRNERES FHRER

24.6% 30.7%
18.1% 19.5%

2.0% 2.2%
14.4% 14.5%

HE_Z_AF-A=+—HILEEH®

BB 518 67,622,000 78 7T L2 AN £ ]
MR EZ KIGEE BB AR ARG
BHEB ZEFHARESEEELE -HR
AeEXEMEREEAMKEEE 5
AT Uk 515 B8 AT AR R 8% 2 AT () S Fl)
18 B — R E TR o

BYEREZE_ZT_RAF=A=+—H1L
EE&EEWWE}EHTEE’UIE; R FTIREE R
BRTFERW AR R EFHRE  BRZ
BRI ATl E S R L - 8
HAFEEBAREBE_FT_MF=
A=+—BLLFE : &) -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SN NIRRTl N

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B& ZA5ERAIN - AT R)

18 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Land

+i
HK$'000
FET

18 ERERE

Leasehold
property
HEME

HK$'000
THT

Total
st
HK$'000
THT

Cost: B

At 1 April 2023 R-Z-_=%FA—H 9,827 46,948 56,775
Additions HNE 3,208 4,315 7,523
Decrease s - (5,527) (5,527)
Exchange adjustments ELAE (330) (1,693) (1,923)
At 31 March 2024 RZZ-ZWME=A=+—H 12,705 44,143 56,848
Additions NE 926 6,022 6,948
Decrease B - (9,986) (9,986)
Exchange adjustments B 5 5% (224) (730) (954)
At 31 March 2025 Ty e = . 1 340739449 77777777777 52856
Accumulated depreciation: 2iHE

At 1 April 2023 RZE-_=%FNA—H (1,171) (12,455) (13,626)
Charge for the year AEETH (336) (11,682) (12,018)
Written back on disposals HERE - 5,249 5,249
Exchange adjustments B 5 55 % 40 407 447
At 31 March 2024 RZZ-ZWME=A=+—H (1,467) (18,481) (19,948)
Charge for the year AEFETH (353) (11,331) (11,684)
Written back on disposals HERD = 8,954 8,954
Exchange adjustments B 5 3% 26 336 362
At 31 March 2025 RZFZR%=A=t-B 794 (20522)  (22316)
Net book value: BREFE

At 31 March 2024 RZE-NFE=A=1—H 11,238 25,662 36,900
At 31 March 2025 RZZE-h$¥=A=+—H 11,613 18,927 30,540

EERBRERDT / F£H2025 277



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE TR I A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Br ZA5ERAIN - ALY R)

19 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 19 RBATRZIRE
The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries TXEHINEFELERAEENFES &
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the EXBENHRBARMNFE BREEH
Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise BASN - PRSI 19 R E AR -
stated.
Effective percentage of
equity attributable to
Particulars of issued the Company
Place of incorporation registeredand AN FEGERERE DL
Name of company and business paid up capital Direct Indirect  Principal activity
ERTEMR
RRER e L R A BRERNFE EE B IEED
Xilin Gol League Hongbo Mining PRC RMB434,920,000 - 100%  Exploration, development,
Development Company Limited production and sale of crude ol
(“Hongbo Mining")*
ANBHRERBRRRE AR AT M AR 434,920,00070 0 FE SEREERM
([RmEmsx])
Productive Technologies (Shanghai) PRC United States - 100%  R&D and sales of equipment for
Limited (“PDT Shanghai")* dollars ("US$") semiconductor
20,000,000
EEERTERRERRAA t 20,000,000 7T FEEXENTMEREE
([LEEEs)) (ESH);

PDT Xuzhou? PRC US$30,000,000 - 100%  Manufacturing and sales of
equipment for semiconductor
and solar power

RNEEE H 30,000,000 7T FEER KRG R ENEER
HE

278 PRODUCTIVE TECHNOLOGIES COMPANY LIMITED / Annual Report 2025



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=IAN
NN

VSRR B R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (K %A sEEE4h -

19 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

#

Name of company

LAER

Productive Equipment Technologies

(Shanghai) Co., Limited
("PDT Technologies”,
formerly known as Rena
Shanghai Trading Co., Ltd.)*
FEEERREREARLA

([EEENE R LERNES

BREERA)

Rena Solar Technologies (Yiwu)
Co., Ltd. ("Rena Yiwu")*

W AGERR (ZS)ERAT
((H@zs])

Think Excel Investments Limited
(“Think Excel”)

Think Excel Investments Limited
(['Think Excel])

Valuevale

EEs

Xinkai Semiconductor Equipment
(Xuzhou) Co., Ltd. (“Xinkai")*

DELEREE(GM) ERAEAR

(Tst))*

Place of incorporation

and business

R EANES S

PRC

PRC

Gl

the BVI

ARRLES

Hong Kong (“HK")

FE(BH))

PRC

P

Particulars of issued
registered and

paid up capital
ERTEMK
BRERMFE

RMB200,000,000

AR 200,000,0007C

EUR$ 1,600,000

1,600,000 7C

US$1

(E

HK$100,000

100,000/ 7T

RMB 183,000,000

AKH183,000,0007C

The Company was established as a limited liability in the PRC.

BAE TTHIR)

19 RBATZ®/E (5

Effective percentage of
equity attributable to
the Company
FAREERERRADL

Direct Indirect  Principal activity

=3 B IEED

- 100%  R&D and sales of equipment
for solar power

INCEEGIDEYE

- 100%  R&D and sales of equipment for
solar power
AR RS RIEE
100% - Investment holding
REHER
100% - Investment holding
REER
- 69.2%  R&D and sales of equipment for

o)
CVDRIHE R &

# FZARRRPBEKZHBEREERT °
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Br ZA5ERAIN - ALY R)

20 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES 20 REBIEATIMER

At 31 March At 31 March

2025 2024
RIB-HF Atemigs
ZA=1—H ==l

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT THTT

Weipin Weipin 108,082 193,347

Britech (Note (a)) BRAT B (PN 5 (a)) 32,661 13,946

140,743 207,293

Notes: BEE

(@) On 29 November 2022, Valuevale, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the (a) RZZBZZF+—A=+NB ARAZE
Company, entered into the agreement for Britech Semiconductor Equipment MEAREES REAT L EEE LM (L)E)
(Shanghai) Co., LTD (B%ATBE =B B2 5 4% (_£)8) AR A A)) (“Britech”), which BARAR ([RALEE]  HEFEEIEOR
is engaged in manufacturing and sales of equipment for semiconductor. EREE)FI LIRS o BB L ip - BE
Pursuant to the above agreement, Valuevale agreed to contribute RMB17.5 ARE MK KR E A EHE AR 17,500,000
million (in equivalent of HK$20.0 million) to the investee. By 31 March 2025, 7t (38 & ®20,000,000/87T) HZE T
Valuevale has completed its capital injections with amount of HK$20.0 —RF=A=+—H EEAETKLEAR
million. As at 31 March 2025, Valuevale holds 23.96% equity interest upon 20,000,000 THEE - RZZT_HF=A
completion of all equity contribution in Britech. =+—H - BA#EMAFIETKE  BEA

5 H 23.96% H)ARAE ©

280 PRODUCTIVE TECHNOLOGIES COMPANY LIMITED / Annual Report 2025



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE TR I A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B& ZA5ERAIN - AT R)

20 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 20 REIEAFIMER (&)
Summarised financial information of the material associates, EEMEBREZELAE - WE
adjusted for any differences in accounting policy, and reconciled ERA SRR AR BR T (B ¥ B8R 2 8 K
to the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements, ERNRMBERBERBENR T :

are disclosed below:

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2025 2024
BZ
—E-RE
=A=+-8
LFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TFHET
Revenue WA 488,144 468,249
Gross loss £ (36,019) (58,287)
Total comprehensive income B (33,108) (60,659)
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20 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

282

Current assets mENE E
Non-current assets EMBEE
Current liabilities mEN A&
Non-current liabilities EmBEE

Net assets of Weipin Weipin 2 & EEF A

Group's effective interest REE 2 BERER
Group's share of net assets

of the associate

I
1)

Goodwill

Carrying amount in the consolidated RErE W EHRER ZREE

financial statements

The Company assessed impairment of interest in Weipin as at
31 March 2025 with reference to a valuation report prepared by
an external valuer appointed by management. The recoverable
amount of the interest in Weipin was determined based on the
higher of value in use and fair value less cost of disposal. The
valuation method was unchanged as compared with last year.
As at 31 March 2025, certain impairment provision amounting to
HK$73.0 million was recognised.

For value in use, the Company used best-low scenarios with
75% and 25% possibilities applied separately to best and low
scenario to reach value in use (year ended 31 March 2024: 75%
for best scenario and 25% for low scenario). These calculations
used cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management of Weipin covering a five-year period.
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AEBEEBEAREEFE

20 RHRELATMES (8

At 31 March At 31 March
2025 2024
N-BE-RHE
=BR=t+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
THExT FHETT
14,949 21,236
92,663 122,198
75,254 80,571
53,636 49,719
(21,279) 13,144
35.5% 35.5%
(7,554) 4,666
115,636 188,681
108,082 193,347

RARELREHREREZEMNINBEE
MAmEzBERS  RZ2T_HF=
A=+—H8 ' ARQ & FH R Weipin Z 1
TR E ° A Weipin Z # 2% 2 7] W [0l 5 58
TIREEREEE AR BER B EKA
MEFHNRSEMETE - GEFEHRA
FHR - RZTE_HAF=A=+—H8 -
TEsR 4 TR B % 4% 73,000,000 % 7T ©

HERAEEMS ARAFEARE —
BEFZAE 25l R 75% &% 25% H) #i
EPGER R ERKERSE - LERER
BEBEE-Z-_NF=A=+—A1L
FE REXLBEA75% R REE
FAEFEF25% ML XK) - ZEFFTHE T E
HAEAWeipin BIEBHEZ RERE
My BB RE 2 ReneBAED -
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20 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Under the best scenario, the Company did not consider the
cash flows beyond five-year period, while referred to the market
multiplier of comparable listed companies as the exit multiple
to calculate the terminal value at the end of five-year period.
Enterprise Value-to-Earnings Before Interests and Taxes multiple
of 23.55 (year ended 31 March 2024: 21.70) was adopted after
considering the discount for lack of marketability (“DLOM") of
46.01% (year ended 31 March 2024: 40.30%).

Under the low scenario, the Company used a growth rate of
2.01% for cash flows beyond the five-year period which was
consistent with the forecasts included in industry reports. The
growth rates used did not exceed the long-term average growth
rates for the business in which Weipin operates.

The cash flows in sustainable growth method were discounted
using a discount rate of 16.96% (year ended 31 March 2024:
15.26%), which was pre-tax and reflected specific risks relating
to the relevant segment.

For fair value less cost of disposal, Enterprise Value-to-Sales
multiple of 1.1 was adopted after considering the DLOM of
46.01%.

20 MBE

LFBMER (&)
BREHFERE  ARANUEZEEAFTH
BERRESRE MBEAELR EN
/“ﬂmmi@iﬁwﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬂﬂirﬁﬁu&
HEHUAFERKRE - AR REE
46.01% (BRZE=T-—_MF=/F=+—
HIEFE : 40.30%) BB = 35 7 B 1%
IR ((R=WmERBEMBEE]) BEM
2355 (BE_Z-_MF=A=+—H1t
FE:21.70) EXEEBEERAKR SRR
M EE -

BIBEERE  AAa S AFHERNE
EMERA201% B RE - HEITHE
WERTH AR —B - T AR REL
LR 3R Weipin £8 & BT 78 3 75 SR 80 7Y &= HA
1 ©

AFBEERSEZPNEERENEA
16.96% (BZ=_F_MF=H=+—H
IEFE £ 15.26% ) KIBE IR = BLIR o ATIR
FAMBEIRE SRR ATI R EG D 5
HEER R E R -

RAREBEREREXNANE REE

46.01% KV IR = T 35 7 48 14 RS 3R 18 5K 40
TTHEXEEEHERNER -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Br ZA5ERAIN - ALY R)

21 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Non-current assets IRBEE
Fund investment HEKE

Notes:

On 8 June 2020, Valuefort Investment Limited (“Valuefort”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and general partner of IDG Capital Project Fund II, L.P.
(the “"Fund”) entered into a subscription agreement for the admission of Valuefort
as a limited partner of the Fund. Pursuant to the agreement, Valuefort committed a
total capital of US$20 million (equivalent to approximately HK$155.05 million) in the
fund, which had been fully called as of 31 March 2025.The fair value of the Fund
investment as at 31 March 2025 was HK$169.8 million.
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21 BARBIBPOAREIIRZ SR

B'E
At 31 March At 31 March
2025 2024
R-ZZ2-HF
=A=+-—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FET

169,780 102,764

Wi

RZFE_ZFFANANB AR2RAZ2EWEAQR
Valuefort Investment Limited ([ Valuefort |) £2 DG
Capital Project Fund Il, LP. ([ZE &) EBEE
AR —IBRE R - AR ValueforttEAZE S
RBEREZ A - RiIEHZE « Valuefort BRI E R 48
#820,000,000 % 7T (48 & B 47 155,050,0007% 7T) °
BE_ZT-_AF=A=1+—8 ZESCTBHED -
ZEEREN-_E_RF=A=1—HZAREE
/169,800,000 7T ©
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22 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 22 HiEREIEE

At 31 March At 31 March
2025 2024
RIZE-HF Aemuies
=A=+—H =A=+—H

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Prepayments for construction in progress £ T#2 7 Ja {5 4,806 25,375

Performance deposit BaiEe 4,095 6,018

Expenditures on public facilities A R R 5 S 7,225 8,038

16,126 39,431

23 INVENTORIES 23 &8
(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of (a) GENBERREESHEFEER
financial position comprise: 7

At 31 March At 31 March

2025 2024

R-ZE-AHF

=A=+-8
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Spare parts and consumables Btk 5 FEm 209,360 211,180
Work in progress T2 98,814 103,787
Finished goods 2K 11,450 28,456
Goods in transit Ea gl 118,259 119,856
437,883 463,279
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23 INVENTORIES (continued) 23 FR (&)
(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories (b) BRBEAZTHFALBZNFEE
recognised as an expense and included in profit EHESWUT :

or loss is as follows:

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—HLEE

2025 2024
—E-RE —E PO
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Carrying amount of inventories sold HEFENRAEE 199,483 450,148
24 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 24 BUIRFRREMERKRIEA

At 31 March At 31 March

2025 2024
RZ-ZB-RHE
=a=+-8
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT THET
Trade receivables, net of allowance b RER BB 2 IR BR 3R
for doubtful debts 97,539 93,5632
Bills receivables FE W =% 5,498 8,440
Other receivables H b 8 SR IE 33,288 31,192
136,325 133,164
All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be FFr 75 JE 52 B 3 B L At JE s 5 78 8 HA 8 A
recovered or settled within one year. —F AU E S °
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24 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

25

As of the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of
trade receivables, based on the invoice date (or date of revenue
recognition, if earlier) and net of allowance for doubtful debts, is

as follows:

Within 1 month 11E A A

1 to 6 months 1Z2618A
7 to 12 months 7E212{@A
Over 1 year 1A E

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising
from trade receivables are set out in note 33(a).

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

Cash at bank and on hand RITRFHEIRE

24 BEEFREEMEBERRIE (&)
BEREMK BEXZAH (NER
W B WMER) RINK REERED

FEM PR R BRER D ATLAT -

At 31 March At 31 March

2025 2024
R-ZBE-RHE
=RA=t—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT
16,504 27,302
18,878 52,230
26,833 1,104
35,324 12,896
97,539 93,632

BRAASEEERRREBBRRELZ
EERBRHE — S BENHIEE33E) °

25 HeRASEFEVPRAMBR LT

ERVH

(a) RERBELEEYWEE:

2025
N-_E_-_RE
=A=+—H

At 31 March At 31 March

HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAT

330,960 398,391
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il

25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 25 HEeRASEEVPRAMBRERE
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued) EFEH®
(b) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash (b) BREFEEELEEREEZ

generated from operations: BLHE R -
2025 2024
—E-RE —ZE 04
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT T T
Loss before taxations FrEi Rl &R (303,800) (349,361)
Adjustments for: AR -
Depreciation of property, Y - R RERETE
plant and equipment 9(c) 71,172 65,496
Depreciation of right-of-use TREZENE
assets 9(c) 11,684 12,018
Amortisation of intangible assets 2 & E# s 9(c) 22,287 22,083
Amortisation of other non- HM3EmE & =g
current assets 9(c) 2,157 1,833
Warranty provision IRFER A (2,502) 6,663
Impairment loss of Inventories ~ FEREEIE 9(c) 2,623 15,763
Impairment loss of trade P M52 B R B L A e LKL
and other receivables B 2 RBEEE 2,958 1,218
Net financial costs FEE A 10,164 23,252
Net realised and unrealised BRBEREAAEE
(gains)/losses on financial PR SR EER
assets at FVPL B KRB
(W), BiEFH 5 (22,680) 1,194
Share of losses of associates FEAG S & R R ES 1R 5 65,533 43,031
Impairment loss on goodwill R EEE 67,622 —
Net loss on disposal of property, HEWE - FiE K&
plant and equipment REFEE 6 38 27
Equity settled share-based LA B # 45 5 30 DARR {7
transaction REWNRZZ 9(b) 11,267 36,184
Changes in working capital: LEESEE :
Decrease in inventories FERD 34,302 38,621
Increase in trade and other P M52 B R % L b i Ui
receivables FRIAE N (9,061) (45,248)
(Decrease)/Increase in trade JE A5 BR R N EL b B A
and other payables ;B CR D),/ (72,420) 46,276
Decrease in contract liabilities EHaERD (23,665) (121,557)
Net cash used in operating EEBEA RS FEE
activities (132,321) (202,507)
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25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities

25 BERBEFEMRAMBREE
E¥®H W
(c) BEZBELZRMEHEK

Bank and
other Interest Lease
borrowings payable liabilities Total
®ITR
HitfER ERFE HEARE @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TER TER
(Note 27) (Note 26) (Note 29)
(M&E27) (Ffi 3 26) (Bt F29)
At 1 April 2024 R-ZZE-MEWmA-A 261,100 9,244 25,220 295,564
Changes from financing BERSHRESRT .
cash flows:
Proceeds from bank and RERTREMER
other borrowings P55 335,549 - - 335,549
Bank horrowings repaid BERITEN (258,375) - - (258,375)
Interest paid ERHE - (9,808) - (9,808)
Capital element of lease ENHEEREH
rentals paid BREH - - (5,949) (5,949)
Interest element of lease ENHERERN
rentals paid FEHRD - - (284) (284)
Total changes from HERSRELDAE
financing cash flows LTI (e (6233 61133
Exchange adjustments ExiemE (5168)  (705) (1852 (7,725)
Other changes: Hitt 2 :
Net increase in lease FRHEEEREMER
liabilities during the year - - 1,01 1,01
Interest expenses FIERX 9a) - 4,931 150 5,081
Total other changes Eegpes 0000000 -4 1161 6,092
At 31 March 2025 R-Z-HE
=H=+—H 333,106 3,662 18,296 355,064
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25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

25 BERBEFEMRAMBREE
E¥H®
(c) REZBELEZEBEEHEK (B)

activities (continued)

Bank and
other Interest Lease
borrowings payable liabilities Total
BT R
HbfE FERTA S MEARE e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAEL BT TET TAET
(Note 27) (Note 26) (Note 29)
(Fizx27) (Fi5E26) (F¥5E29)
At 1 April 2023 R-BE-=£NA—H 63,970 9,594 34,222 107,786
Changes from financing REREREZH
cash flows:
Proceeds from bank RERITERZ
borrowings FriS 708 260,499 - - 260,499
Bank and other borrowings B & R1T R EME X
repaid (61,631) = = (61,631)
Interest paid ERHE - (5,087) - (5,087)
Capital element of lease ENEEREH
rentals paid BAHH - - (11,872) (11,872)
Interest element of lease ENHEEREM
rentals paid FMEHH - - (1,231) (1,231)
Total changes from HERSREEDHEE
financing cash flows 198868 (6,087) (13103 7 180,678
Exchange adjustments EieAE 7y B9 (11e6) (3,296)
Other changes: Hitt 5 :
Net increase in lease FRHEEEREMFR
liabilities during the year - - 4,036 4,036
Interest expenses FER% 9a) - 5,129 1,231 6,360
Total other changes Aegpes 00000000 = ol Nl 10,396
At 31 March 2024 RZB-WE
=ZA=t-H 261,100 9,244 25,220 295,564
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25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 25 HeRBACEEDRAMBA LR
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued) EEH®
(d) Total cash outflow for leases (d) #HEBESGTHEE
2025 2024
—E-RE —E_POF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET T
Within operating cash flows REERSTREN 220 151
Within financing cash flows REERSMEA 6,114 13,104
6,334 13,265

These amounts relate to the following:

2024

—ENF
HK$'000
THT

Lease rentals paid ENEERS 6,334 13,255
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26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 26 FEfT AR B K it FE T R IR

At 31 March At 31 March
2025 2024

R-Z-5F

=A=+-—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEx T
Trade payables FERR K 148,650 234,371
Taxes other than income tax payable B FE < FT 1S FR DA SR B IE 61,098 54,752
Income tax payable FEfFFR 1S Ht 15,035 17,787

Cooperation sharing payable EBN—RBE=H2EEDK

due to a third party 83,032 58,752
Interest payable FETFI S 3,662 9,244
Others H At 79,078 48,482
390,555 423,388

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled
within one year or are repayable on demand.

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade
payables, based on the invoice date (or date of recognition, if

earlier), is as follows:

P FE AN R R B b FE 5 SRR TR —
FREFTHIARERER -

BERSHR REZZAH (HER
BH - MER) BNBRRERERSTAOT :

At 31 March At 31 March

2025 2024

R-ZE-AHF T

=A=+-0 [P

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHTT

Within 1 year —F R 91,631 213,289
Over 1 year but within 2 years —FUEEZFA 48,841 11,459
Over 2 years but within 3 years ZFEREBE=FRA 3,777 1,144
Over 3 years =FUE 4,401 8,479
148,650 234,371
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27

28

AR MR R M

1:||||

(B =B

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

A—FRAFIREK

Within 1 year or on demand

27

— Short-term bank loan, secured (note) — EBERITE R Gk
(P 3E)
— Short-term bank loan, unsecured — RHRITE R - EIE

— Other loan, secured (note)

Note:

As at 31 March 2025, bank loan of RMB161.9 million was secured by restricted
cash of HK$205.7 million; bank loan of RMB42.3 million was pledged by charging
rights; and other loan of RMB22.3 million was secured by goods in transit (As at
31 March 2024: RMB156.7 million was secured by restricted cash of HK$199.2
million).

EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted a share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme”) on 6 August 2021 whereby the directors were
authorised, at their discretion, to select any eligible participant
(other than any excluded participant) for participation in the Share
Award Scheme. The vesting of the awarded shares is subject
to the satisfaction of non-market and service period conditions
specified by the Board or the administration committee in the
award notice issued to each of the respective grantees.

— HMER - A (HE)

28

BAE TTHIR)

SRITREMER

31 March 31 March
2025 2024

—EZHRE

=B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT THTT
222,251 172,853
86,690 88,247
24,165 -
333,106 261,100

GEX

R-ZFE_AF=ZA=+—"H RTERARK
161,900,000 7T PA % B %1 3 & 205,700,000 7 7T {E
# IRITER AR 42,300,000 AR REEE
Ko H 4 & XA R 22,300,000 7T A FE 18 & ¥ {E 1K 3
(R=Z=-—m&=A=+—8 : AR%¥ 156,700,000
JC LA SZ IR %137 £ 199,200,000 78 jT I ) -

LIRERBELELIRRS BRI
]
ARBR—F-—FN\ANBEA—E
B ZBata (R RBEE]D &
It ERERERN B Ea?ﬁf?cﬁ/\éﬁ%
28E (T REEEMRKRIIN2EE) 2ER
0 2B 8 - BERONEBANS
FEUTRREETETEARAMNE
EyB AT 5B IE T 45 M ARG BARR 54
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28 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

294

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

On 7 October 2021 and 14 January 2022, the Company granted
60,120,000 and 17,379,000 award shares to 10 employees and
15 employees of the Group, respectively, without compensation,
pursuant to the Share Award Scheme. During the year ended 31
March 2023, the Company revised the vesting condition for both
non-market and service period in relation to the above awards
shares. As a result, one of the employees returned 25,000,000
awards shares and exercised 12,000,000 awards shares during
the year ended 31 March 2023.

On 1 August 2022, 27 September 2022, 10 March 2023 and
15 March 2024, the Company granted 28,509,000, 61,415,094,
24,549,980 and 24,668,228 awarded shares to 14 employees,
1 employee, 45 employees and 41 employees of the Group,
respectively, without compensation, pursuant to the Share
Award Scheme. During the year ended 31 March 2024, the
Company revised the vesting condition for both non-market and
service period in relation to the above awards shares.

In connection with the implementation of the Share Award
Scheme, the Company has consolidated a structured entity
(“Share Scheme Trust”) and its particulars are as follows:

Structured entity

Principal activities

EEieER EFEXRE

Share Scheme Trust

28 LIR#ERRIELRNSERNIK

2 (E)
RZZEZ—F+AEtAR=ZZ=_=F
—A+MmAB ARARER DB T
EloRmAEBNI0ZEER K154
& 8 & {8 1% F 60,120,000 f% 2€ B i% 19
17,379,000k Bz fh - BLEZF
= =A=Z+—HLEFE XX H
& 5] L it 22 B AR 19 3F 1 35 & AR % 23
REVE BT - Al B —FEEB
RBE-_Z-_=F=A=+—HIF
S % 3 25,000,000 % 22 B AR (5 2 17 1E
12,000,000 Az SR 15 ©

R=_ZE-_—_FNA—H - ZFE=—FAh
A-++HB —ZTE-_=%=A+HBHK
—E-_ME=ZA+HA  AQARE
fip ZEEE D Bl RAAEEA14%E B
B -1%EE 45%EERMNZREREE
8 # ¥ 28,509,000 8% * 61,415,094 %
24,549,980 % K 24,668,228 % 4% ) i%
BeREBE-_ZT-_WMF=A=+—81
FE - ARASE] L REIRDIETH
Ko R 765 HA R 9 53 B AR 44 o

ARERKDZBE  ARFEE
EBAR—EAsBLtER (ROERE
D) HFBWT

Administering and holding the Company’s shares acquired for the Share

Award Scheme which is set up for the benefits of eligible participants

of the scheme
B ErEIEE
BENARE RS
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28 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
The awarded shares granted on 7 October 2021,14 January
2022, 1 August 2022, 27 September 2022, 10 March 2023 and
15 March 2024 were valued at HK$0.99, HK$1.10, HK$1.20,
HK$1.16, HK$0.93 and HK$0.34 per share, respectively, which
was the market price of the ordinary shares at each grant date.

The details of the movements of the outstanding awarded shares

were set out below:

Outstanding at 1 April KA A—BEARITHEE

Granted during the year FRFR M
Exercised during the year FRTHE
Forfeited/lapsed during the year FREZI KK

Outstanding at 31 March

R=ZA=+—BHRTRE

BAE TTHIR)

28 ERERALDEMEERNHE
2 ()
RZZEZ—F+HAtHA - ZT==—F—
A+mE - —E-_—_F\A—H ==
——HFAA=ttH -—E=_=F=F7
TAEER-_E-_NE=ZA+HRBREALE
Bk HEBED A RER0.99E T - 1.10
BT 1.208 7T 1.1678 7T * 0.938 7T
2034 TT IR SR B M E@E
BRTI{E -

MR R

AHBESIT

2025
—E-HE
‘000
TR
125,443 173,886
- 24,668
(28,695) (59,688)
(33,922) (13,423)
62,826 125,443
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29 LEASE LIABILITIES 29 HEAR
At 31 March 2025, the lease liabilities were repayable as follows: R-ZE-_RAF=A=+—8 ' ENHHE
EaEMOT
31 March 31 March
2025 2024
—E-RE —ZE P04
=A=+-0 [PEEEREE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHxT T T
Within 1 year FAE T m— 7892 11,191
After 1 year but within 2 years —FNAEBEZFA 9,114 7,538
After 2 years but within 5 years ZFUNEERFA 1,290 6,491
o 10404 14,029
18,296 25,220
30 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 30 FEMERARAZHER
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) #E Bt Z& Y Bl B # 18
financial position represents: fE -

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEFE

2025 2024

—E-REF —EOE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT T

At the beginning of the reporting period 7%k & Hi %] 17,787 20,124
Provision for the year FEEE 16,071 17,678
Income tax paid =N (18,365) (15,801)
Exchange adjustments b 5 B (458) (4,214)
At the end of the reporting period Rk EHR 15,035 17,787
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30 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:
(i) Movement of each component of deferred tax
assets and liabilities
The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities
recognised in the statement of financial position and
the movements during the year are as follows:

Provision
forassets  Property,
retirement  plantand  Intangible
obligation  equipment assets
HEERE % HER
SHERE R BVEE
Note  HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
i B TEn TEn

30 FEMBRARAZMER (0

(b) EREEHELZEEREE:

Accruals

EHE A
HK$'000
TEn

(i) EZEHEEEREENSHE
BER D KB B
A B 765 R 50 2R P FE R A 3R A
ME(BE) BEAKBS
NERNEBIOT

Creditloss Share based Right-of-use Lease

allowance payment assets liabilities
kA
FEFRAE AERNNR GHRAREE  HESR &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T ThL T T T

Deferred tax arising from: ~~ EEHERE

At 31 March 2023 R-B-=%=8=1-A (7,290) 41,003 (25) (16,128) (2,866) (2,262) 8,501 (8,501) 12432
(Credited)/charged to (it AB&)/REBENR

profit or loss (824) (4,851) (11) (1,987) 3N 2,39% (1,907) 1,907 (4,908)
Exchange adjustments EiAE 248 1,420 1 766 9 (132) (251) 251 (438)
At 31 March 2024 R=B-ME=R=1-A (7,866) 34,732 (35) (17,349) (2,3%) = 6,343 6,343) 7,086
(Crecited)charged to (GTABR)/HEENR

profit or loss (892) (3,664) (11) (2,250) = = (3,035) 3,035 (6,817)
Exchange adjustments EjiAg 146 (586) 1 321 4 - 200 200 (76)
At31 March 2025 = ST ER: 61D 04 (Y Ik - B BI® 19
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30 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

298

(c)

(continued)
(ii) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of

financial position

A TTHIR)

30 FEMBRARAZMER (0

(b) BREBEEBEEERER: (&)

Net deferred tax liability recognised 4R & BFF5 AR 3% AR #E =2

in the consolidated statement of
financial position

Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note
2(t), the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets
in respect of cumulative tax losses and deductible
temporary difference amounting to HK$611,605,000 (2024:
HK$394,406,879) by 31 March 2025, as it was not probable
that future taxable profits against which the losses can be
utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction of
the Group.

The unutilised tax losses in the PRC established entities
will expire in five years after the tax losses generated under
current tax legislation. The tax losses in those Hong Kong
incorporated companies can be utilised to offset any future
taxable profits under current tax legislation.
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(c)

(i) REVBRRRZHIR

31 March 31 March
2025 2024
—E-EHF
=BR=t+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
THExT FHETT

193 7,086
193 7,086
KRERIELY BEE

BT FE200) FT 8k & 5 R -
EEVYERBEE_T_HAF=A
=+t —H®RFHRIBEEERAIH
BLE B Z= %8611,605,00078 70 (=
=T — PN 4F : 394,406,879 JT) fE
RELEHBEE  NHREASE
EH AR EEREELEERAA
K 58 85 18 ) 7K 2R FE SR Bt s ) AT A
MEN o

FERZNERN RS BRER
BRRRITHETEENHRARS
BRAOAFAER - BBEMKIL
MR B IAE R A A A EIR
TIROE TRV R AR IR ER B F)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B& ZA5ERAIN - AT R)

31 PROVISIONS 31 &fs
The amount represents provision for future dismantlement costs A AR RE B R RIFBRAC AN B o
of oil and gas properties. Movements of provision during the WEEBEESHEHIIAT -

reporting period are set out as follows:

Assets
retirement
obligations

BERBRRK
HK$'000
TAT

At 1 April 2023 R-EBE-=FNMA—H 77,621
Additions NE 2,585
Reassessment EHih 1,100
Accretion expense FEIE A 3,295
Exchange adjustments b 5 S8 (2,650)
At 31 March 2024 R-ZB-_MNE=A=+—H 81,951
Additions NE 4,457
Reassessment EXr (747)
Accretion expense BIEF X 3,567
Exchange adjustments PE 5 38 & (1,499)
At 31 March 2025 R-ZB-HF=A=+—H 87,729
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32 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(a) Movements in components of equity

32 B - HMREKR
(a) BEEZHLEE
ARBFEEEENE BB R
HRERFEYHRBINRNGAER
PR - ARARFHNEFRZ
& Bl 4 a5 B8 D RO B B R 1B D)
LI

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Company’s
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity. Details of the changes in the
Company'’s individual components of equity between the
beginning and the end of the year are set out below:

Share
capital
(&S
HK$'000
TR
(note 32(c))
(FIE32(c))

Share
premium
AR E
HK$'000
FHT
(note 32(d)(i))
(Bt == 32(d)i))

Other Accumulated Total

Treasury

losses
RitEE
HK$'000
FBT

shares
ExRH
HK$'000

TET

reserve
Hitf#
HK$'000
FHT
(note 32(d)(v))
(B3 32(d)v))

equity
BEAHE
HK$'000
THT

300

Balance at 1 April 2023

Changes in equity
for the year ended
31 March 2024:

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Equity-settled share-based
transaction

Issuance of shares

Purchase of own shares

Balance at 31 March 2024

Changes in equity
for the year ended
31 March 2025:

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Equity-settled share-based

transaction

Balance at 31 March 2025

R-B=-=%
MA—Bz&&

BE-2-m&
=A=t+-BLEFE
THEBE:

FERARREHE

AR 45 B X0 DA B £
REARNR S
IR
BEA A RN

R-®-mE
ZA=t-B2&H

BE-ZT-nfF
ZA=t-BLFE
ZREGBE:

FERERGERE

CARRHE 45 S X0 DARR £
REWNR S

R-T-HF
ZA=t+-Rz&H

75,193 (1,635) 4,209,913 149,734 (1,684,352) 2,848,953
= = = = (63,234) (63,234)

= 412 = 35,772 = 36,184

128 (128) - - - -
(1,308) - (93,482) - - (94,790)
74,013 (1,251) 4,116,431 185,506 (1,637,586) 2,737,113
- - - - (293,442) (293,442)

- 252 - 11,015 - 11,267
74,013 (999) 4,116,431 196,521 (1,931,028) 2,454,938
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B& ZA5ERAIN - AT R)

32 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 32 BX - HBRER(®
(continued)
(b) Dividends (b) KE
No dividends were paid, declared or proposed during the BEZE-_RAFRZT_NF=
years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024. A=+—BLEFE BERN -

Bk EZERE ©
(c) Share capital (c) BRZE

Ordinary shares Preferred shares Total
EER BEKR A5t

Number Nominal Number Nominal Number Nominal

of shares value  of shares value  of shares value
BRE E{E R # HfE B # HE

‘000 HK$'000 ‘000 HK$'000 ‘000 HK$'000
FET i3 FET T FHET

Shares of HK$0.01 each SREE0.01B T 2K
Authorised: EE
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 R=E-=£mA—A -

and 31 March 2025 —EZME=RA=+—-HK

—E-RF=A=1+—H 11,000,000 110,000 5,000,000 50,000 16,000,000 160,000

Issued, paid or payable: E#T BHREN:

At 1 April 2023 R-_ZE_=FmMA—H 7,519,302 75,193 - - 7,519,302 75,193
Insurance of shares (note 1) AT An (BsE1) 12,804 128 - - 12,804 128
Purchase of own shares (note 2) fEE B & RkH (HE2) (130,818) (1,308) - - (130,818) (1,308)
At 31 March 2024 R=ZZE-mF=A=+—H 7,401,288 74,013 - - 7,401,288 74,013
Insurance of shares (note 1) BATR (M5 1) - - - - - -

Purchase of own shares (note 2) e E & RH (HE2) - = - = = =

At 31 March 2025 RZZ-_HF=A=+—8H 7,401,288 74,013 - - 7,401,288 74,013

Notes: PR EE -

(1) No ordinary shares for the implementation of the Share Award (1) Et?;:? F=ZA=+—HILF
Scheme (see note 28) were issued during the year ended 31 March EAARYERTTBER (BZE
2025 (year ended 31 March 2024: 12,804,000). —Z g ¢ H =t+t—RHALFE:

12,804,000 %) * LA & i A% 10 22 B 51
| (R KizE28) -

(2) During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company did not (2) BE-ZT-_hG&=-A=+—HIF
repurchased its own shares on the Stock Exchange (year ended 31 B ARARTEREIMEREA
March 2024: the Company repurchased its own shares in a total cash SRM(BE_T-_WF=A=+—
consideration of HK$94,790,000). HEFE: ARRANRcBRE

94,790,000 o B E B F k1)) ©
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32 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

302

(continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference
between the nominal value and the subscription price
of ordinary shares and preferred shares issued by the
Company.

Specific reserve

According to relevant PRC rules and regulations,
Hongbo Mining is required to transfer an amount to
specific reserve for the safety production fund based
on the production volume of crude oil and natural
gas. The amount of safety production fund utilised
would be transferred from the specific reserve back
to accumulated losses.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations as well as the
effective portion of any foreign exchange differences
arising from hedges of the net investment in these
foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out in
note 2(w).

Other reserve

The other reserve comprises the equity component
of convertible bond and convertible note, reserves
arising from the Reverse Takeover Transaction and
reserves arising from equity settle share-based
transaction.
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(d) fEEMEEREL

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)
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32 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(continued)

(e)

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of
risk and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly review and manage
their capital structure to maintain a balance between
the higher shareholder returns that might be possible
with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

The Group monitor their capital structure on the basis of
gearing ratio (ratio of the sum of convertible bond and bank
and other borrowings to the total assets).

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group's
strategy, which was unchanged from the year ended
31 March 2024, was to maintain adequate funding from
bank according to the operating needs and the capital
commitments, and to maintain the gearing ratio at a range
considered reasonable by management.

32 B&x - @MREKR (&)

(e) BEFXEHE

AEEEREANERHAOZR
BAEBERENFELE KM
3738 B B K 7 AR R 2 B AR A
RIEEEBUARERAERANR
B UAEHEREBERRRGRE
¥R A EL A ) 5540 B U7 7 R &R

AEEESREHRINERRLE
AR AEESBIREHR (A8
BERKFNEER) EREE AR
RATEBNED RREZ BRI
T YRKERAZBEHE
RRBETHE -

AEEEREERBLLE (XS
AR E 75 MR 1T S EL At £ SR
MEREEENLLY) EEEER
RS -

BHE_Z-_AF=-A=+—H1F
FE AEENRBEFE_ZT
ZHWE=A=+—HLFERE
T DABRBEKEFERER
ARERBITREREES Wi
REEBBUEXEREERERE
AIEMEENA -
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32 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

32 B&x - @MREKR (&)

304

(continued)
(e) Capital management (continued)
The Group's gearing ratio at 31 March 2025 and 2024 was

(e) BEXEHE (&)

AEBR-_ZE-_RAFR_-_ZT [

as follows: FoA=T—HWEEABLE
UM
31 March
=RA=+—H
2025 2024
—E-AHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT T T
Interest-bearing debts: FTEER
— Bank and other borrowings ~ — 817 R HAb & 27 333,106 261,100
Total assets BEE 2,317,839 2,623,137
Gearing ratio EESELE 14.4% 10.0%
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject PN/NE e S S G NE =S /N 2 3

to externally imposed capital requirements.
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate, currency, oil price and

equity price risks arises in the normal course of the Group's

business.

The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk

management policies and practices used by the Group to

manage these risks are described below.

(a)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
cash at bank and trade and other receivables. Management
has a credit policy in place and the exposures to these
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis, including
reconsidering the appropriateness of the methods adopted
and using up-to-date inputs (e.g. debtors’ creditworthiness)
at each reporting date.

The Group's credit risk arising from cash at bank is limited
because the counterparties are state-owned/controlled or
listed bank or well-known financial institutions which the
directors assessed the credit risk to be insignificant.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

Trade receivables

The Group measure loss allowance for trade receivables at
amount equal to lifetime ECLs. The ECLs were calculated
based on historical actual credit loss experiences. The
rates were considered the differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historical data
has been collected, current conditions and the Group’s
view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the
receivables.

33 eRMEARTEREMIAZAR

BE
AEEEXEBETEEREEEREE R
FES  AME B - HERREER
[2\Bg o

AEEAHEEZERR  ARAEE
B F e P E R A £ B R B B IR R
KRR FERWA T

(a) FEREE
EERBREXZIEFHTERES
HEEMBEAEE BB LN
Bk AEBZEERKREZR
B RTIR & & JE YR 3k & E b fE
WRIE - EEEEH EEERREK
WHEETAR  ZESEERR
BIEESERSE BEHE B MR
BRBEEEEMAEE  WFEA
=T EE (Fl a0 & A RS A AR
L) e

AEBELERITHENEER
AR REAXZHF I RE
B/BRER g ETRTHAE
TREEBEAESTREEEAR
HH o

AEES EREREAKEBAERE
B L ) (R AT HEAR o

FE W BR K
AEEZREAEREBAFEDRRA
HEEBEN SR ERIER
MEEEE BHEEBEER
BENBEREEERLRTE -
BHEEBERXRERMAEEN
FEE Sb S5 B R & A IR O - B AT
OB AR N R B BT R R TR R
RIENFAEHFHANLBERR=
BZERNESR -
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 33 &REAREEREMIAZAR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS EE®
(continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued) (a) EEREE (&)
Trade receivables (continued) PEURBR X (42)
The following table provides information about the TERREER-_ZE_AFR=-F
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as at “HNFE=ZR=T—HEHEEKE
31 March 2025 and 2024: ERBREREFRNEREES
BHER
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEHEREE BEREE EiEERE
% HK$'000 HK$’000
31 March 2025 —E-RF=A=t—H % TRT TR
within 1 month past due EH—1{E A AR 1.94% 16,831 (327)
1 to 6 months past due B B — 2= 75 {E A 2.61% 19,383 (505)
7 to 12 months past due mEH+E+ A 5.00% 28,246 (1,413)
over 1 year past due wHE—F LA E 14.01% 41,080 (5,756)
Total #Et 105,540 (8,001)
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHiE IR = HBERTEE e R
% HK$'000 HK$'000
31 March 2024 % FHIT THTT
within 1 month past due EH—{E A AR 0.98% 27,571 (269)
1 to 6 months past due B E—Z= 5 (E A 1.00% 52,756 (526)
7 to 12 months past due mEtEE+ @A 5.00% 1,162 (58)
over 1 year past due B —F LA E 24.52% 17,086 (4,190)
Total HET 98,575 (5,043)
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

Other receivables

The Group on-going evaluate credit risk for other
receivables by taking into account their past history of
making payments when due and current ability to pay.
Expected credit loss for other receivables amounting to Nil
(year ended 31 March 2024: Nil) was recognised for the
year ended 31 March 2025.

Liquidity risk

The Company and its individual operating entities are
responsible for their own cash management, including the
short-term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of
loans to cover expected cash demands, subject to approval
by the parent company’'s board when the borrowings
exceed certain predetermined levels of authority. The policy
of Group is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements
and its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and readily realisable
marketable securities and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

33 eRMEARTEREMIAZAR

BE®
(a) EEREE (&)
H fth lE W FR 1B

(b)

AEEFEBERDKF BT
RERERERERZAFREN 8
FEEMERRENEERR -
BHE-Z-_hF=A=+—HI1
FERABEMERFENTELRE
EEBEAT (BRE-_S-_WE=A
=T—BLEFE:T) -

B E 2 E
ARAREREEERARAER
FNBELER BRERASANRN
MR E R EEE RN R AY
RedK EREFTBEB—EH
BERBKFHEARSHARE
ZEIHE-AEENBERRETE
HERERPESFRLEET
EERENBRL BREERR
RNREHEEBEEINERNBE
EFLETECRBERGER
By EEE B MR KR A R
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 33 &REAREEREMIAZAR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS EE®
(continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) FEELEE (E)
The following tables show the remaining contractual TRETAEETESRAR
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group's RI|BEHROB T SLNRBER
non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on WHEREHNRBERERE (B
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest BEREHOFE (mBEFE - Al
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, AERBERARNRITHER)GFER
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period) FIEART ) R B Al g B 7Y
and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay: =F A :
Year ended 31 March 2025 Year ended 31 March 2024
HECECRE-B=T-ALEE HEZS-ME=A=T-AILFE
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
ANRERRERY
More than ~ More than Morg than ~ More than
Within ~ 1yearbut 2 years but Carrying Within -~ Tyearbut 2 years but Carrying
Tyearor  lessthan  lessthan  More than amount at Tyearor  lessthan  lessthan  More than amount at
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total 31 March SQEREN] 2 years 5 years 5 years Total 31 March
R-5R BE-FE BEREE ZAZT-R S B BERER
EEX THERE TEBRF HEILE CHENA R 7 BERE
HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000 JEESTCSVORNGIEXiN) HK$ 000 ( HK$ 000
TEn Tin Tin Tin Ti#n Ti#n T Tin T Tk
Bank and other borrowings TR E M3 341597 - - - 341597 333106 266869 - = - 266869 261,100
Trade and other payables ~ EREHR
HthEE 390,555 - - - 390555 390555 423388 - - - 43388 423388
Lease liabliies HEBRE 9,363 8218 1134 - 18,715 18,29 12431 7699 6,561 - B 25,220
4,515 8218 1,134 - 50867 743121 702,688 7699 6,561 - 7048 709708
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 33
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(c) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Group's interest rate
risk arises primarily from interest-bearing borrowings. The
Group regularly review and monitor the mix of fixed and
variable rate borrowing in order to manage its interest rate
risks.

(i) Interest rate risk profile
The following table, as reported to the management
of the Group, details the interest rate risk profile of
the Group's interest-bearing borrowings at the end of
respective reporting period.

Fixed rate borrowings: EEMER

Bank and other borrowings HRAT R E Ath & K
Lease liabilities HEBE
Variable rate borrowings: FEEM:

Bank and other borrowings RITREMEK
Net exposure [2\ B2 5B

CRHEREERSMTIAZAN

B{E®
(c) FIZE[EpEE

MEERS BB TANDR
BEIRKRSREFEM IS
REFHMEBORER - KAEBEH
MEEBREBRBABMER A
SEEHEZMEEERRFER
fERAEABEEENEE R -

(i) FIREERARR
IR AN EEEE RS
FOMRALAKENEME
& e BR e 7 & @R
AR ©

Notional amount
HE
31 March 2025 ReARVY/ElfelaWwA0rz!

—E-RHEF —ET-OF
ZA=+—H |y
HK$°000 HK$'000
FER FAT

333,106 261,100
18,296 25,220

B 351,402 BCRRN230.0208
351,402 286,320

EERBRERDT / F£H2025 309



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR

W, \

=

P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1:||||

(B =B

33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

310

(continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (continued)

(ii)

Sensitivity analysis

The directors of the Company considered that
the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk was not
significant, no sensitivity analysis has been presented
accordingly.

(d) Currency risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through

overseas investment which give rise to other receivables

and cash balances that are denominated in a foreign

currency, i.e. a currency other than the functional currency

of the operations to which the transactions relate. The

currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily Hong Kong
Dollar, United States Dollar, Euro Dollar and RMB. The
Group manages this risk as follows:

(i)

(ii)

Recognised assets and liabilities

In respect of other receivables and payables
denominated in foreign currencies, the Group ensures
that the net exposure is kept to an acceptable
level, by buying or selling foreign currencies at
spot rates where necessary to address the short-
term imbalances. The Group's borrowings are
denominated in United States dollars and the Group's
functional currency is Hong Kong dollars. Given this,
management did not expect any significant currency
risk associated with the Group’s borrowings.

Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure at
the end of the reporting period to currency risk arising
from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in
a currency other than the functional currency of the
entity to which they relate. For presentation purposes,
the amounts of the exposure are shown in Hong
Kong dollars, translated using the spot rate at the
year end. Differences resulting from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations into the
presentation currency are excluded.

PRODUCTIVE TECHNOLOGIES COMPANY LIMITED / Annual Report 2025

A TTHIR)

33 eRMEARTEREMIAZAR

®{E®E
(c) FIEmB (%)

(i) SREDH
AATEERAREEEY
ZFIREBLTEA - EE
I & 2 5 ) R @ < 8RVE
DT ©

(d) m%ﬂ/ﬁ’?

AFELMI\@?(EHE‘@ %ﬁ%ﬁﬁ’]”
EN g B AN EE) sHENE
i FE YRR TE [ 3R @ A5 SR Y B AMR
BoEEZER E’Jiﬂﬁﬁixﬁﬁé
TLETL BT RARE - REE
AT HFEEE R

(i) EERIAEEREE
Th DA SN EE BB A L i B UK 3K
BEREMFEMNE  ~&EH
R E R E BN RN
RERNPEXEEIING -
BREABRFEEZTRAIES
K o REE G RAETTET
B AEENNEEEAE
T BERY  EREEREG
3 4% 4 fa] BN 55 [ {5 5K AE
WEANEERR

(i) ERER
TRAMRNEERRE R
RIABAERBNINEEE I
SN ERIIENDHEREE
HEBEMEENEERRE
e RIERY] B BUE
ABILES RERKAHE
KE - KBINEBIHBR
RBER2INEBMELN
ZRE 5 -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B HRARNE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

(B =B

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(d) Currency risk (continued)

(ii) Exposure to currency risk (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other payables

Net exposure arising from
recognised assets and
liabilities

(e) Equity price risk

The Group was exposed to equity price changes arising
from listed securities classified as financial assets at FVPL.
Decisions to buy or sell trading securities were based on
daily monitoring of the performance of individual securities
compared to that of the Index and other industry indicators,

ReRReEEN
RRERE
R R R
Hit YA
BB R
Hity TR

ERREER
BEELH
mEFE

as well as the Group's liquidity needs.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not hold any shares as

listed securities (31 March 2024: Nil).

BAE TTHIR)

33 eRMEARTEREMIAZAR

BE @
(d) E#¥EE(E)

(i) E¥ERE(GE)

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SRR (LBTFHIR)
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
—B-RF=A=1-H “E-ME=A=1-H
United Hong United Hong
States Kong States Kong
dollar RMB EUR dollar dollar RMB EUR dollar
Ey AR® B BT e AR BT BT
LE VR VROV O HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TERT TR TER THEL FET THAL THEL
203,309 24,025 2 1,082 233,279 99,156 2 2,581
205,739 - - - 199,182 - - -
3,900 - 10,168 - 681 - - -
- - (3,364) - - - - -
412,948 24,025 6,806 1,082 433,142 99,156 2 2,581
(e) KREEKELE

AEBRAIXSBERBEBERR
/D\ftfﬂéﬁl]ﬁ%ﬁ’]%mﬁléﬁzjzm

BRMEEZREEREH AR
E)\ia BEEZFDKREBELL
BEHEREMITRERNORIR MY
ERIEFHRBETHHFEE -
NEREAESERBESTE -
EHBEIRTE o

R-ZZE_AF=A=t—HB &
SEYEFEEAESLTES

B (ZE_mF=A=1+—8:
&) o
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Br ZA5ERAIN - ALY R)

33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

(f)  Fair value measurement of financial instruments
The fair value of the Group’s financial instruments
measured at the end of the reporting period on a recurring
basis, is categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The
level into which a fair value measurement is classified
is determined with reference to the observability and
significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique as
follows:

— Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date.

—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level
1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data
are not available.

— Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.
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33 eRMEARTEREMIAZAR

BE@

(f)

ETRTAZAAEETE
AEEERTAZAREBEER
BEHRABRESAE  REB
MBmMELERE 1R EEF
EMRENARBERBEIER
=A&RR - AR EBEFEZRR
DRNDSELETERBOEA
BENIBEREREENET
AEEIIMT

— B-REE-EERFE-&
BMABBEAENRAAEE
R EAMHREESARE
KBRS ARERERE -

— FE_AMGHE:ERE A%
ABEBAENRAREEF B
ABRNEABIR - EREE
MRS —RMER  BHR
FEREATAIERENE A
B TMABRBABEBRE
M BB AR -

— F=ZRMHE:EREATH
BRBARBAENARE
{8 -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE TR I A
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (K %A sEEE4h -

33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(f)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

(continued)

Recurring fair value measurements EEAABEE

B
—ESHE

Assets:
— Fund investment

Recurring fair value measurements BB A ABEE
Assets: BE:
— Fund investment —HEeRA

Fair value at
31 March

HK$'000
TER

169,780

Fair value at
31 March
2024

T-F

AN

HK$'000
TAL

102,764

BAE TTHIR)

33 eRMEARTEREMIAZAR

BE @

(ff LETRAZAAEETE(E)

Fair value measurements as at
31 March 2025 categorised into

AREEFE
R-ZB-EE=RA=+-HREAR
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
£-% EZR E=®
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR
- - 169,780

Fair value measurements as at
31 March 2024 categorised into

ARBEFE
RZZ-ZWE=RA=1+—REEA
Level 1 Level 2
E—8 E-R
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT

Level 3
E=
HK$'000
THT

102,764
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

314

(continued)

(f)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

(continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, there were no

transfer between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfer into or

out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers

between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the

reporting period in which they occur.

Information about level 3 fair value measurement

Fund investment

The fair value of Fund investment was estimated with
reference to the fair value of each invested company
in portfolio determined by the general partner. Factors
considered when determining fair value for the non-
public portfolio companies included option pricing
models, industry valuation methods, discounted
cash flow, valuation comparisons to comparable
public companies or other industry benchmarks.
Investments in public portfolio companies were
valued at a discount from quoted market prices where
formal restrictions were placed on the disposition
of such securities. If actively traded on a national
exchange, the fair value was determined to be the
last quoted sales price as at the report date less any
discount applicable to the securities.
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EMTAZAEEE (F)

BE_T-_AF=-A=t—HL
FE FREF_RZEALE
Bt TEEAS=-RIBE=
MEL - AEEZBRANELE
BRI REMRERRIAEEE
Rz & o

BHE=RAREENRZER

HEE2RE

EeREZAREBENZ2E
EBABABEZIREMAS
ABRRRERBZAREE
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RAEIZ AR BEMEERER
BRAEEEREN  1TEM
BH%E BRARSRE A
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REHMITEEE - EHIR
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

33 eRMEARTEREMIAZAR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS RE®

(continued)

(f)  Fair value measurement of financial instruments () £HTAZAALBHEE(E)
(continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurement
(continued)

The movements during the period in the balance of Level 3
fair value measurements is as follows:

EeRE:

Fund investment:

At the beginning of the reporting period %R & £84]]

Purchases EE

Net gain/(losses) recognised AR B R TR
in profit or loss during the period Uzt (E518) F58

At the end of the reporting period R RS HIR

Total gain/(losses) for the period RBEARBTECEE
included in profit or loss BrAB&EEAZHRA
for assets held at the end of Wi (B518) B

the reporting period

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at
other than fair value

The directors of the Company considered that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

FRE=RAnEEFREZER
(&)
BMAB=MAnBEFAEZHE
T

Year ended 31 March
BE=HA=+t—HLFE
2025 2024
—ET_MEF
HK$'000
THTT

—E-RE
HK$'000
FET

102,764 99,940
44,336 6,808
22,680 (3,984)

169,780 102,764
22,680 (3,984)

URARBEEANIRZEREE
KEBZAAEE

ARREEZRBREAVBHRERA
REHEHRAARZIEBREERS
BREZREmEEE AR EEMS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Br ZA5ERAIN - ALY R)

34 COMMITMENTS 34 KiE
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 March not provided for in R=A=+—HARRHBEHRE N E
the financial statements were as follows: HR RGN EARENT

At 31 March At 31 March

2025
R-ZE-HF
=B=+—H
HK$'000
FExT
Contracted, but not provided for ERTAVE m AR TR
— property, plant and equipment — M BEREE 18,982 39,283
35 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 35 EXRABARXSH
TRANSACTIONS
(a) Key management personnel remuneration (a) FEEEEST Z%H
Remuneration for key management personnel, including FEEEEE T 2H M (BERH
amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed HEEENARAREE L2
in note 11 and certain of the highest paid employees as BENE TR EE ZHH) 0
disclosed in note 12, is as follows: I

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEFE

2025 2024
—%= —qu — 7 — P—q E'E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Short-term employee benefits EHE Bt A 23,386 36,309
Equity settled share-based VAR 25 45 E DARR (9
compensation 7 EL T A = 191 20,427
Post-employment benefits BB 1218 A 243 282
23,820 57,018
Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note [B I AA] 8485 (2T
9(b)). 9(b)) °
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35 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 35 EXHBAEZES &)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(b) Financing arrangements (b) EEZH

Amounts owed to the

Company by related parties Related interest income

BT B A D FIFIE BEANE WA
As at 31 March Year ended 31 March
R=A=+-—A8 BE=-ZA=+—HLFE
2025 2024 2025 2024
TECHSF il — T F 5 ecpuies
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T FET T
Loans to an associate M) — [ Bk & A A
REER 10,294 11,813 873 943
Loans from an associate 2K B — & B & A &)
B E - (714) - 47)
(c) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to (c) HEEXZHEZ LTHERZ
connected transactions R
None of the above related party transactions falls under the LB AR ZETER LR
definition of connected transaction or continuing connected AIE14AZEFT AT BEER H K
transaction defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. FERER S -
36 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 36 KRAR
So far as was known to the directors, as at 31 March 2025, there TF%%WF%E i ﬁ¢ B ==
had been no litigation, arbitration or claim of material importance B ARRKESHBARMELRE
in which the Company or its respective subsidiaries were ANFEA - 14@%%&?1”5 INMEE AR T
engaged or pending or which as threatened against the Company HEHLSARRAKESHB AR EEEE
or its respective subsidiaries. ZERFA PEHERE -
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37 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries

Current assets

Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables

Time deposits with maturities over
three months but within one year

Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities
Other payables and accruals

Net current assets

NET ASSETS

37 AFIBAZHBERAE

At 31 March At 31 March
2025 2024
R-E-RHF
=A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT TET
FRBEE
REB AR ZIKE 900,335 1,009,062
S 900,335 1,009,062
REBEE
TBFRIA -~ 5] R EALE U
FIE 1,387,865 1,562,057
BHEA=BMANE—F
LA & & HATE 3R 77,784 78,264
HeRReEEY 101,135 125,498
o 1,566,784 1,765,819
REBEE
ot B A5 50IB I T RIR 12,181 37,768
L 12181 37,768
neEER® 1,554,603 1,728,051
BEFE 2,454,938 2,737,113
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B& ZA5ERAIN - AT R)

37 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 37 AFIBEZMBRRAE (2
FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

At 31 March At 31 March

2025 2024
RIZ-HF Stk
=A=+—H —A=+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAETT

CAPITAL AND RESERVES EAREK#1E
Share capital &N 32(c) 74,013 74,013
Treasury shares EFRH (999) (1,347)
Reserves & 2,381,924 2,664,447
TOTAL EQUITY ERAE 2,454,938 2,737,113
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on R-_E-_FESNA-_t+HtHKsEE==2H
27 June 2025. R o

Liu Erzhuang

#=st Directors
Tan Jue =
e L
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38

39

320

Y ek

(B =B

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING
PARTY

At 31 March 2025, the directors consider the immediate parent
of the Group to be Titan Gas, incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands, which is 100% held by Titan Gas Technology Holdings
Limited. Titan Gas Technology Holdings Limited is owned as to
35.21% by Standard Gas Capital Limited, 49.14% by IDG-Accel
China Capital Il L.P. and IDG-Accel China Capital Il Investors L.P.,
8.05% by Mr. Wang Jingbo and 6.87% by Kingsbury International
Holdings Co., Ltd., and 0.73% by Zhang Weiwei.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA
has issued a number of new or amended standards, which are
not yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2025 and which
have not been adopted in these financial statements. These
developments include the following which may be relevant to
the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign
exchange rates — Lack of exchangeabi//ty

BREGFENFE 2R (BATAR) - EXEHHTE —

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these developments is expected to be in the period
of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of
them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
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39

A TTHIR)

HERRRERYS

RZE-_RAF=A=+—H EFRAE
AEBEREBRARARRERBREZEH
& &k i} BX 32 2 Titan Gas © M Titan Gas
Technology Holdings Limited#£5 100%
# 2% ° Titan Gas Technology Holdings
Limited F§ Standard Gas Capital Limited
¥ 5 35.21% # % * IDG-Accel China
Capital Il L.P. 52 IDG-Accel China Capital
Il Investors L.P.#EH549.14% #E @ « £
BRI S R 8.05% HE e K A &t E
BRIZARIRI BIR A RIHER 6.87% Kk
Zhang Weiwei 5 0.73% # zx ©

REE_S"_AF=A=+—H
LEEERHERRENZE
BT - ¥ 4E R R 52 2 1) RE 4 R AY RS

ar
HEERFUHBHRERTNEBR/L  BE
SHMAGERMRNEBE_T_HF=

A=t —HALEFERRERKHRRZ
FUMBRERMAZZENF SERT &
I - ZERREE T AEERNKEA
BE

Hi

\m:l

Effective for accounting

periods beginning on or
after

RUT RS Z2EFRBN
BHBEN

1 January 2025
—E-hRFE—H—H

AEEREFHERPZEEREAR
FERPENTZE - BAAKEERHE
i MR FENS R M BERREE
ERFENAELETK-
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